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CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT
FEHRS

Dear Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors (“Board”) of KPa-BM Holdings
Limited (the “Company”), | am pleased to present the annual report
of the Company together with its subsidiaries (the “Group”) for the
year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Year” or “FY2024").

Construction activities in the private sector had been affected by the
sluggish real estate market and the uncertain economics outlook in
general, and we noted less projects being launched and customers
becoming more conscious with project pricing. Faced with worsening
operating conditions, the Group is blessed to have accumulated a
relatively diverse customer base and work portfolio and is therefore
less susceptible to downturn in the private property projects.
Meanwhile, public sector and government initiated development
projects are expected to remain as driving force for the construction
industry with various infrastructure, civil and community development
projects associated with the Lantau Tomorrow, Northern Metropolis,
Kai Tak Sports City and Kowloon East CBD development blueprint.
The Group has current and proven track records in Highways
Department projects, power generation facility projects, public
recreational facility projects, etc. and is an advantageous position to
take on business opportunities from a wide range of sources. At the
same time, the Group is wary of the tight labour supply and
fluctuations in material and transportation costs and will remain
cautious and refrain from engaging in excessive price competition.
Overall, the Group maintains a cautiously optimistic outlook for its
business in the medium to long term.

I would like to take this opportunity to express my respect and
appreciation to my fellow Board members, management team, staff
members for their hard work and dedication. | would also like to
thank our suppliers, subcontractors, other business partners and,
most importantly, our shareholders and customers for their
continuous support.

The Board is pleased to share the Group’s performance with our
shareholders and recommended the payment of a final dividend of
HK4.0 cents per share. Furthermore, having regards to the reserves
of the Company accumulated in the past few years and funding
outlooks of the Group, the Board also recommended a special
dividend of HK$4.0 cents per share.

On behalf of the Board,

Yip Pak Hung
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 June 2024
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

The Board is pleased to present the annual results of the Group for
the year ended 31 March 2024 (the “Year” or “FY2024"), together
with the comparative figures for the corresponding year ended 31
March 2023 (the “Previous Year” or “FY2023").

BUSINESS ACTIVITIES

The Group is principally engaged in (i) provision of structural
engineering works with a focus on design and build projects in Hong
Kong; (ii) supply of building material products together with
installation services of such products in Hong Kong; and (iii) trading
of building material products predominately in Hong Kong. There has
been no significant change in the business operations of the Group.
During the Year, the Group recognised revenue from rendering
structural engineering works and supply and installation of building
material products as well as trading of building material products.

BUSINESS REVIEW

During the Year, the Group recorded a revenue of approximately
HK$666.0 million, representing an increase of approximately
HK$97.5 million or 17.2% from the Previous Year. The increase in
revenue was mainly due to the progress of certain key projects are
favorable. The following table sets forth the major projects
undertaken by the Group during the Year.
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172% - Wt mMEERARNAETEEIER
EEBEMY - TRIFIWAEERAFE#E
fTZEKIAR -

Revenue
recognised
Major projects undertaken by during Status as at Expected
the Group during the Year the Year 31 March 2024 completion date
R-ZB_DO%F
REFE =A=+-—H
AEERAFEEARNETEERE BRMkE  HORR % T A
HK$ million
BEET
Design, Supply and Fixing of Roof Cladding Works for 285.8 Ongoing Expected completion
Certain Sports Facilities in Kowloon City in Q4 2024
R NEME TRAERENETREE TIRNRE EITH AR T _lmF
Y ERNG FEMFERT
Main Plaza Canopy & Western Bridge Canopy for 62.7 Ongoing Expected completion
Certain Sports Facilities in Kowloon City in Q4 2024
R NEHE TRAERENHEESRERARBRE HEITH BN _ZT_MmF
FMNFERT
Glass Box and Footbridge Upgrading Works Contract 49.5 Ongoing Expected completion
for a Commercial Building in Central in Q3 2024
RPIR—EEENRERRITABARIEESLH T BHR =T _Mm4F
FE=FERT
Design, Supply & Installation of External Facade for 31.5 Ongoing Expected completion
District Cooling System in Kowloon City in Q2 2024
RN RIS AR AIMERNRET - HERLE T EHIR — T U4
FE_FERT
Tower Facade for Proposed Office Redevelopment for a 28.9 Ongoing Expected completion
Commercial Building in Central in Q4 2024
RPIRABERERE N A ZTERE B HRBIME HEITH BN _ZT_MmM4F
FEMFERT

BEr#ERERLZ2A
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
TEEBS®WRE DM (E)

FUTURE PROSPECTS

The Group’s outstanding contracts on hand as at 31 March 2024
amounted to approximately HK$899 million, including the following
projects with estimated outstanding contract sum of over HK$50
million each as at 31 March 2024:

AREE

R-ZE_WFE=RA=+—H0 '  ~EENFH
ATERAENHNRBOBEBT  BFE IR
—E_ME=A=t+—HEBMHFKREES
HEBBS0E BB TMIAR ¢

Projects with outstanding contract sum of Status as at Expected
over HK$50 million as at 31 March 2024 31 March 2024 completion date
R-ZB_DF

R-B-ZOmFE=A=+—H =A=+-AH
REEESHEERS0EEEBINWER IR % T A
Design, Supply and Installation of Structural Steel Works for Certain Ongoing Q4 2024

Infrastructures in Kowloon City
IR NBRIE THEZNMAE TRORT  HERTE #E1TH —E_MEENEE
Main Plaza Canopy & Western Bridge Canopy for Certain Sports Facilities ~ Ongoing Q4 2024

in Kowloon City
URNERE TRERENHEESRERABRE EITH “TONFENEFE
Tower Facade for Proposed Office Redevelopment for a Commercial Ongoing Q4 2024

Building in Central
IR IR E EAE RN A ZTEEIE B O RBIME HITH —EoNFENEE
Design, Supply and Installation of Structural Steel Works for Footbridge Ongoing Q12025

in Kowloon City
LR ILBEIT ARTBEV I 518 TIRAVRRET - HHERZHE #ETH —EhFEFE
Noise Barrier Project in Fanling North Development Area Ongoing Q4 2025
I EitERENRESREER EITH —E_RFENEFE
Noise Barrier Project in Anderson Road Ongoing Q12027
R EER BN S FEIEA #EiT —EAFEFE
Construction activities in the private sector had been affected by the FEHMBEHNEEETHTEMET BRI LE
sluggish real estate market and the uncertain economics outlook in  EEZERIS T HMANTE B TEEZMHE
general, and we noted less projects being launched and customers HIRIEBERD  MEFPUBEETENES

becoming more conscious with project pricing. Faced with worsening
operating conditions, the Group is blessed to have accumulated a
relatively diverse customer base and work portfolio and is therefore
less susceptible to downturn in the private property projects.
Meanwhile, public sector and government initiated development
projects are expected to remain as driving force for the construction
industry with various infrastructure, civil and community development
projects associated with the Lantau Tomorrow, Northern Metropolis,
Kai Tak Sports City and Kowloon East CBD development blueprint.
The Group has current and proven track records in Highways
Department projects, power generation facility projects, public
recreational facility projects, etc. and is in an advantageous position
to take on business opportunities from a wide range of sources. At
the same time, the Group is wary of the tight labour supply and
fluctuations in material and transportation costs and will remain
cautious and refrain from engaging in excessive price competition.
Overall, the Group maintains a cautiously optimistic outlook for its
business in the medium to long term
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
EEE®W R (R)

FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS MERE
Percentage
Year ended 31 March change
BE=A=+—HLEE BALLEE
2024 2023 Increase
—E-NE —E=F 30
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET
Revenue & 666,037 568,490 17.2%
Cost of revenue W as B 7R 550,806 467,723 17.8%
Gross profit ER 115,231 100,767 14.4%
Profit before income tax K BT 15 %5 A 7 55,750 45,301 23.1%
Net profit 4 | 46,378 37,147 24.8%
Profit before income tax (excluded K B 15 B B s
non-recurring income) (H0BRFEE B MW A) 55,750 43,161 29.2%
Net profit (excluded non-recurring 4B ] (3B JER & 1 A)
income) 46,378 35,007 32.5%
Earnings per share (HK cents) FREAF CEM) 8.33 6.28 32.6%
Percentage
As at 31 March change
MR=ZA=+—H BoLLEH
Increase/
2024 2023 (Decrease)
—E-mE —E-=F #mnS0ED)
HK$000 HK$'000
TExT FET
Current assets MEVEE 506,687 477,427 6.1%
Current liabilities mENEE 230,087 230,716 (0.3%)
Total assets BEE 526,633 497,976 5.8%
Total equity B 292,354 263,792 10.8%
Year ended 31 March
BE=A=+—HLEE
2024 2023
—E_NE —EF-=
Key Performance Indices FTEXREER
Gross profit margin ESV B 17.3% 17.7%
Net profit margin 4 ) & 7.0% 6.5%
Return on equity 25 (0] 3 =X 15.9% 14.1%
Return on total assets 484 fE B 3 R 8.8% 7.5%
As at 31 March
R=A=+—H
2024 2023
—E_NE —ET-=
Current ratio (times) MEN X (1F) 2.2 2.1
Gearing ratio (%) EXREELE%) 6.4 20.8
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
TEEBS®WRE DM (E)

FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group recorded revenue of approximately HK$666.0 million for
the Year, representing an increase of approximately HK$97.5 million
or 17.2% as compared to that of the Previous Year. Such increase
was mainly attributable to the progress of certain key projects are
favorable.

Cost of Revenue and Gross Profit

The Group’s cost of revenue mainly comprised material and
processing charges and subcontracting charges. The Group's cost of
revenue for the Year amounted to approximately HK$550.8 million,
representing an increase of approximately 17.8% as compared to
approximately HK$467.7 million for the Previous Year which was
inline with the revenue growth.

The Group recorded gross profit of approximately HK$115.2 million
for the Year, representing an increase of approximately 14.4% as
compared to that of approximately HK$100.8 million for the Previous
Year, and the gross profit margin slightly decreased to approximately
17.3% for the Year as compared to 17.7% for the Previous Year. The
stable gross profit margin was a result of effective cost control during
the Year, the increase in labour cost, plant costs and material prices
during the Year is not significant.

Other Income

The Group recorded other income of approximately HK$7.2 million
for the Year, which mainly comprised bank interest income of
approximately HK$4.0 million and a gain on exchange difference of
approximately HK$1.9 million, whereas other income for the Previous
Year mainly comprised government grants of approximately HK$2.1
million, bank interest income of approximately HK$0.7 million and a
write back of trade payables of approximately HK$0.5 million.

Administrative and Other Operating Expenses

The Group’s administrative and other operating expenses for the
Year were approximately HK$50.1 million, representing an decrease
of approximately HK$2.5 million from approximately HK$52.6 million
for the Previous Year. Such decrease was mainly due to there was an
exchange gain in the Year compared to there was an exchange loss
of HK$8.5 million in Previous Year while offset by an increase in
Directors discretionary bonus of approximately HK$3.4 million as an
incentive of improved revenue and profit of the Group.

Finance Costs

For the Year, the Group’s finance costs were approximately HK$3.5
million, representing an increase of approximately HK$1.4 million or
64.1%, as compared to approximately HK$2.1 million for the
Previous Year, which was mainly due to increase in interest rate of
bank borrowings.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Income Tax Expense

The Group incurred income tax expense of approximately HK$9.4
million and HK$8.2 million for the Year and the Previous Year,
respectively, representing effective tax rate of approximately 16.8%
and 18.0%, respectively. The lower effective tax rate for the Year
was because the bank interest income for the Year were not taxable.

Profit for the Year

As a result of the increase in gross profit and the bank interest
income and offsetting the effect of increase in the provision of loss
allowance, the Group's profit for the Year increased from
approximately HK$37.1 million for the Previous Year to approximately
HK$46.4 million for the Year, representing an increase of
approximately HK$9.3 million or 24.8%.

Dividend

On 24 June 2024, the Board recommended a final dividend of HK4.0
cents (FY2023: HK3.0 cents) per share and a special dividend of
HK4.0 cents (FY2023: nil) per share, totalling HK$22.3 million and
HK$22.3 million respectively (FY2023: HK$16.7 million and nil) which
are subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting of the Company. The special dividend is
recommended having considered the accumulated reserves, liquidity
condition, expected cash flows and working capital needs of the
Group.

LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL RESOURCES AND
CAPITAL STRUCTURE

EEETWR 2N (&)
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As at 31 March

R=A=+—H
2024 2023
“EEF —E-=fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHER FAT
Current assets mEBEE 506,687 477,427
Current liabilities mEAaE 230,087 230,716
Current ratio (times) B R (1F) 2.2 2.1
The Group generally meets its working capital requirements by cash A&E - REBLEELENRERERRE
flows generated from its operations and short term borrowings. HifEFMEHEAEEE ST K RAFE - K
During the Year, the Group generated net cash inflow from operating SEZEEHFAEENRSRAFEBOA

activities of approximately HK$109.5 million, together with the
availability of banking facilities, the Group has been financially sound
in its daily operations throughout the Year.

During the Year, the Group financed its operations by its internal
resources and banking facilities. As at 31 March 2024, the Group
had net current assets of approximately HK$276.6 million (31 March
2023: HK$246.7 million). The Group’'s current ratio as at 31 March
2024 was approximately 2.2 times (31 March 2023: 2.1 times).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)
TEEBS®WRE DM (E)

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a total cash and bank balances
and fixed term deposit of approximately HK$170.2 million and nil
respectively (31 March 2023: HK$114.8 million and HK$10.1 million),
mainly denominated in HK$.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had a total available banking
facilities of approximately HK$256.0 million, of which HK$246.7
million was unutilised and available for use.

There has been no change in capital structure of the Company during
the Year. As at 31 March 2024, the equity attributable to owners of
the Company amounted to approximately HK$292.4 million (31
March 2023: HK$263.8 million).

Gearing Ratio

The gearing ratio is calculated as total debts to equity. Total debts
include lease liabilities and bank borrowings of the Group. Equity
represents the total equity of the Group.

The Group is able to generate net cash from operating activities of
approximately HK$116.2 million for the Year. The gearing ratio of
the Group as at 31 March 2024 was 6.4% (31 March 2023:
approximately 20.8%). The decrease in gearing ratio was because the
Group has improved liquidity and repaid certain bank borrowings
near the year end.

Foreign Currency Exposure and Treasury Policy

Operations of the Group are mainly conducted in HK$, United States
dollars (“US$"), British Pound (“GBP"), Euro (“EUR”) and Renminbi
("RMB"). It is the Group’s treasury police to manage its foreign
currency exposure whenever its financial impact is material to the
Group and will closely monitor its foreign exchange position. During
the Year, the Group did not engage in any hedging activities.

The Group has adopted a prudent financial management approach
towards its treasury policies and thus maintained a healthy liquidity
position throughout the Year. The Group strives to reduce exposure
to credit risk by performing ongoing credit assessments and
evaluations of the financial status of its customers. To manage
liquidity risk, the Board closely monitors the Group’s liquidity position
to ensure that the liquidity structure of the Group’s assets, liabilities
and other commitments can meet its funding requirements from time
to time.

Pledge of Assets

As at 31 March 2024, the Group have bank borrowings of
approximately HK$9.3 million (31 March 2023: HK$45.9 million) and
banking facilities are unsecured and guaranteed by the Company as
at 31 March 2024 (31 March 2023: unsecured and guaranteed by
the Company).

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any pledged deposit
(31 March 2023: nil).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS (CONTINUED)

Significant Investments

Other than the investment in its subsidiaries, the Group did not hold
any significant investments during the Year.

Material Acquisitions and Disposals

The Group did not acquire nor dispose of any subsidiaries or fixed
assets during the Year.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31 March 2024, the Group did not have any significant
contingent liabilities.

Employees and Remuneration Policies

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had 217 staff (31 March 2023:
198). The total employee benefit expenses for the Year (including
Directors’ emoluments, salaries to staff and other staff benefits
included provident fund contributions, medical insurance coverage
and other staff benefits) were approximately HK$80.1 million
(FY2023: HK$73.1 million). The Group determines the salaries of its
employees mainly based on each employee’s qualifications, relevant
experience, position and seniority. The Group conducts annual review
on salary increment, discretionary bonuses and promotions based on
the performance of each employee. During the Year, the Group has
not experienced any significant problems with its employees due to
labour disputes nor has it experienced any difficulty in the
recruitment and retention of experienced staff. The Group maintains
a good relationship with its employees.

EVENT AFTER THE YEAR

No event has occurred after 31 March 2024 and up to the date of
this report which would have a material effect on the Group.
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BIOGRAPHY OF D
EERENEEERER
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. YIP Pak Hung (E#%f), aged 65, was appointed as a Director
on 15 May 2015 and then was appointed as an executive Director,
chairman of the Board and the compliance officer of the Company
on 26 June 2015. Mr. Yip is primarily responsible for the overall
management and corporate policy making of the Group's business
operations. He is also a director of all subsidiaries of the Company,

except FENEERFTE ZH(RINERAH].

Mr. Yip obtained a bachelor degree of arts from the faculty of
science and mathematics of University of Windsor in Canada in June
1983. He joined the Group and was appointed as a director of KPa
Engineering on 16 January 1993. Prior to joining the Group, Mr. Yip
has accumulated approximately 8 years of sales experience in
different industries from 1984 to 1992. Mr. Yip has more than 20
years of experience in the structural engineering and construction
industry. He has held a leadership role in the overall management
and administration of the Group’s business operation since he joined
the Group.

Mr. WAI Yat Kin (£ HER), aged 64, was appointed as a Director on
15 May 2015 and then was appointed as an executive Director and
the chief executive officer of the Company on 26 June 2015. Mr. Wai
is the co-founder of the Group and is primarily responsible for the
overall strategic planning, management and administration of the
Group's business operations. He is also a director of all subsidiaries
of the Company, except JENEEZFTE ZORINER R F].

Mr. Wai completed his secondary education in Hong Kong in 1978.
He has more than 25 years of experience in the structural engineering
and construction industry. Prior to founding the Group, Mr. Wai was
employed by Tak Cheong (Yau Kee) Engineering Limited as a sales
manager for the department of waterproofing product and skylight
and metal work product during November 1988 to January 1992.
Mr. Wai has handled and overseen numerous construction projects
undertaken by the Group and he has extensive knowledge in business
development of building material products.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Ms. LAI Pik Chi, Peggy (RE¥), aged 59, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 22 September 2015 and is
responsible for providing independent judgment on the Group's
strategy, performance, resources and standard of conduct. She is the
chairman of the audit committee and a member of both the
remuneration committee and the nomination committee of the
Company. Ms. Lai obtained a master degree of business
administration from the University of Manchester in the United
Kingdom in June 2010. She is a fellow member of the Association of
Chartered Certified Accountants and an associate member of the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants.

Ms. Lai has over 30 years of auditing, accounting, financial
management experience. She is currently an independent
non-executive director of China Come Ride New Energy Group
Limited (stock code: 8039) and Elegance Optical International
Holdings Limited (stock code: 907) respectively. She was the company
secretary of OCI International Holdings Limited (stock code: 329)
from July 2017 to May 2021; a non-executive director of Larry
Jewellery International Company Limited (Stock code: 8351, prior to
delisting from the GEM Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”)) from February 2020 to November
2021; an independent non-executive director of CT Environmental
Group Limited (stock code: 1363, prior to delisting from the Main
Board of the Stock Exchange) from August 2020 to August 2021;
and an executive director of Zhejiang United Investment Holdings
Group Limited (stock code: 8366) from July 2021 to March 2024
(where she also served as an independent non-executive director
from November 2019 to July 2021).

Mr. LAM Chi Wai, Peter (#h7&1&), aged 64, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 22 September 2015 and is
responsible for providing independent judgment on the Group’s
strategy, performance, resources and standard of conduct. He is the
chairman of the remuneration committee and a member of both the
audit committee and the nomination committee of the Company.
Mr. Lam obtained a diploma in business administration, a bachelor
degree of business administration from Hong Kong Shue Yan
University (formerly known as Hong Kong Shue Yan College) in July
1986 and in October 2010 respectively.

Mr. Lam has over 20 years of experience in sales and marketing in
the timepiece industry. From 1986 to 1995, he worked in the sales
and/or marketing department for various watch trading companies.
Mr. Lam was engaged in a watch-selling business from 1995 to
2014.

Dr. YEUNG Kit Ming (% #£8), aged 66, was appointed as an
independent non-executive Director on 22 September 2015 and is
responsible for providing independent judgment on the Group’s
strategy, performance, resources and standard of conduct. He is the
chairman of the nomination committee and a member of both the
audit committee and the remuneration committee of the Company.
Dr. Yeung obtained his bachelor degree of science from the
University of Hong Kong in November 1981 and a doctoral degree in
philosophy from University of California, San Diego in the US in June
1987. From August 1990 to September 2004, Dr. Yeung worked at
the Chinese University of Hong Kong as a lecturer and later became a
teaching fellow.
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BIOGRAPHY OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT (CONTINUED)
ESRGREEERE (&)

SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. LIU Yuen Wai (B3 #), aged 51, is the general manager of the
Group and is primarily responsible for overseeing the management
and operation of the Group’s business segment in relation to trading
of building material products. Mr. Liu is also a director of BuildMax
(HK), BuildMax (SZ) and FE B ERAE H(RINER QAL

Mr. Liu obtained a diploma in civil engineering technology from
Humber College in Canada in June 1994. He has over 20 years of
experience in the building material products industry. Prior to joining
the Group, he worked as a project engineer and a project manager in
an engineering company.

Mr. CHAN Chi Ming (PR BH), aged 53, is a commercial director of
the Group and is primarily responsible for the overall management of
site works, quality control and work safety supervision in relation to
the design and build projects of the Group. Mr. Chan is also a
director of BuildMax (HK) and is primarily responsible for the
supervision of the operation of the Group’s business segment in
relation to trading of building material products.

Mr. Chan completed his secondary education in Hong Kong in 1988.
He has over 20 years of experience in the structural engineering and
building material products industry. Mr. Chan was first employed by
the Group as a draftsman in August 1992 and was subsequently
promoted to the position as an assistant project manager and project
manager in July 1997 and May 2004 respectively.

COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. CHAN Sun Kwong (FR/E %), aged 57, is the company secretary
of the Company. He is primarily responsible for the company
secretarial matters of the Group. Mr. Chan has over 30 years of
experience in accounting, auditing, banking and company secretarial
fields.

Mr. Chan obtained a diploma of business administration from the
Hong Kong Shue Yan College (now known as Hong Kong Shue Yan
University) in July 1990. He is a fellow member of the Hong Kong
Chartered Governance Institute, the Chartered Governance Institute
in United Kingdom, the Institute of Chartered Accountants in
England and Wales, the Association of Chartered Certified
Accountants in the United Kingdom and the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Chan is also an accredited mediator
of The Hong Kong Mediation Centre.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

The Board is pleased to present the corporate governance report of
the Company for the Year. The Directors and the management of
the Group recognise the importance of sound corporate governance
to the long term and continuing success of the Group. Therefore,
the Board is committed to upholding good corporate standards and
procedures for the best interest of the Company’s shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH THE CORPORATE
GOVERNANCE CODE

The Company is committed to maintaining a high standard of
corporate governance practices. It met all the code provisions of the
Corporate Governance Code (the “CG Code”) set out in Appendix 14
of the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”)
during the Year. The Company will continue to review its corporate
governance practices in order to enhance its corporate governance
standard, to comply with the increasingly tightened regulatory
requirements and to meet the rising expectations of shareholders
and investors. In accordance to the requirements of the Listing Rules,
the Company has established an audit committee, a remuneration
committee and a nomination committee with specific written terms
of reference.

Chairman and Chief Executive

Mr. Yip Pak Hung is the chairman of the Board and an executive
Director and is primarily responsible for formulating the corporate
strategy and managing overall business operations. Mr. Wai Yat
Kin, is the chief executive officer of the Company and an executive
Director. He is responsible for formulating the corporate strategies,
implementing the corporate strategies and overseeing the daily
management.

CG Code provision C.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should not be performed by the same person.
Decisions of the Company are made either collectively or individually
by the executive Directors and are discussed with the management.
The Board believes that this arrangement enables the Company
to make decisions, operate and implement actions promptly, and
thus achieve the Company’s objectives efficiently and effectively in
response to the fast changing environment. The Board also believes
that the Company has a strong corporate governance structure in
place to ensure effective oversight of management.
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
tXREBHE (F)

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The key responsibilities of the Board include formulation of the
Group’s overall strategies, the setting of management targets and
supervision of management performance. The management is
delegated with the authority and responsibility by the Board for the
management and administration of the Group. In addition, the Board
has also delegated various responsibilities to the board committees
of the Company (the “Board Committees”). Further details of the
Board Committees are set out further below in this report. The duties
of the Board in respect of corporate governance are as follows:

1. to develop and review the policies and practices on corporate
governance of the Group and make recommendations;

2. to review and monitor the training and continuous professional
development of Directors and senior management;

3. to review and monitor the Group’s policies and practices on
compliance with legal and regulatory requirements;

4. to develop, review and monitor the code of conduct and
compliance manual (if any) applicable to Directors and
employees; and

5. to review the Company’s compliance with the CG Code
and disclosure in the corporate governance report of the
Company.

COMPOSITION OF THE BOARD

During the Year and up to the date of this report, the number of
independent non-executive Directors was in compliance with the
requirement under Rules 3.10 and 3.10A of the Listing Rules. The
composition of the Board and the attendance record of each Director
at board meetings and general meetings held during the Year are set
out as follow:
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Executive Directors HITES

Mr. Yip Pak Hung (Chairman) %TEWE%E(}_W} 3/3 11
Mr. Wai Yat Kin (Chief Executive Officer) & BERS A& (7TE4EEL) 3/3 171

Independent Non-executive Directors B FHTES
Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy REZZT 3/3 1/1
Mr. Lam Chi Wai, Peter MEBLEE 3/3 11
Dr. Yeung Kit Ming TSR+ 3/3 1/1
Each of the executive Directors had entered into a service contract %%ﬂﬁ%%ﬂ/\zﬁ’& Sk Hlﬁk %) - A
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months’ notice in writing by either party.
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Each of the independent non-executive Directors had entered into
an appointment letter with the Company which may be terminated
by either party giving not less than one month’s notice in writing.
All Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and re-election
at the Company’s annual general meetings in accordance with
the Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company.
Biographic details of the Directors are presented in the “Biography
of Directors and Senior Management” section of this annual report.
The composition of the Board represents diversified background and
industry expertise to oversee and operate the Company efficiently
and safeguard the interests of various stakeholders of the Company.

Executive Directors are responsible for running the Group and
executing the strategies adopted by the Board. They ensure that
proper internal control system is in place and the Group’s business
conforms with applicable laws and regulations. Ms. Lai Pik Chi
Peggy, one of the independent non-executive Directors possesses
the appropriate professional qualifications, accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under 3.10(2) of the
Listing Rules. All independent non-executive Directors bring their
wealth of experience to the Board and serve the important function
of advising the management on strategy development to ensure that
the Board maintains high standards in financial and other mandatory
reporting as well as providing adequate checks for safeguarding the
interests of the shareholders and the Company as a whole.

All independent non-executive Directors confirmed their
independence to the Group during the Year and the Company
consider them to be independent by reference to Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules.

The Board is aware that all the independent non-executive Directors
have served on the Board for eight years. Despite the Board
considers the service duration did not impair the independence
of all the independent non-executive Directors, the Company is
already in process of identifying candidate as additional independent
non-executive Director in order to uphold a sufficient element of
independence.

During the Year, all Directors complied with the continuing
professional development requirement by the below means:

Training course
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Directors organised by the Company 2= RATEBNEIRE
Mr. Yip Pak Hung Attended Bt E B e
Mr. Wai Yat Kin Attended BERBLLE B HE
Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy Attended RESHL EHE
Mr. Lam Chi Wai, Peter Attended MEREE B E
Dr. Yeung Kit Ming Attended T RAE + EHE
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT (CONTINUED)
tXREBHE (F)

Board Diversity Policy

The Company has a policy on diversity of Directors to ensure that
the Board has the appropriate mix of expertise and experience, and
collectively possesses the necessary core competence for informed
decision-making and effective functioning. In determining the
Board’'s composition and selection of candidates to the Board, the
nomination committee will consider one or more of the following
attributes to achieve a sufficient balance of knowledge and
perspectives in discharging the Board’s duties:

- management skills and experience;

- industry specific knowledge and experience relevant to the
Group;

- financial management skills and experience;
- academic and professional qualifications; and
- governance and compliance expertise.

The Company does not discriminate on the basis of gender, age,
cultural and other personal backgrounds in assessing the suitability of
candidates for appointment to the Board. The nomination committee
shall take the opportunity to enhance diversity at the Board over
time in the selection of candidates amongst those who are equally
competent and possess the desired attributes.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has established three Board Committees with written
terms of reference for each committee for purpose of overseeing the
performance of specific functions; such terms of reference are available
for inspection on the Company’s website at www.kpa-bm.com.hk.

The composition of each committee and the attendance of members
at committee meetings held during the Year are as follow:
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Audit Nomination Remuneration
Composition of Board Committee Committee Committee
committees EEZERAK EREE® REEET FMZEES
Independent JHHTES

Non-executive Directors

Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy RETLT 2/2 (Q) 1/1 2/2
Mr. Lam Chi Wai, Peter MEREE 2/2 1/1 2/2 (Q)
Dr. Yeung Kit Ming TSR+ 2/2 1/1 (C) 2/2

C - denotes chairman of the respective committee
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Audit Committee

The audit committee is chaired by Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy who has
the appropriate professional qualifications or accounting or related
financial management expertise as required under Rule 3.10(2) of
the Listing Rules. The duties of the audit committee include oversight
of the engagement of auditor, reviewing the annual report and the
interim report and providing advice and comments to the Board.
In this regard, members of the audit committee will liaise with the
Board, the senior management and auditor. The audit committee will
also consider any significant or usual items that are, or may need to
be, reflected in such reports and give consideration to any matters
that have been raised by the accounting staff, compliance adviser or
auditor. Members of the committee are also responsible for reviewing
the Group’s financial reporting process and internal control system.

During the Year, the audit committee has reviewed, assessed
and commented on the Group’s financial reports and results
announcements. It has also reviewed the risk management and
internal control system.

Remuneration Committee

The primary duties of the remuneration committee are to make
recommendation to the Board on the remuneration packages of
Directors and senior management, including benefits in kind, pension
rights and compensation payments, and to ensure that no Director is
involved in deciding his/her own remuneration.

The remuneration committee has reviewed the salary adjustment of
and payment of discretionary bonus to the Group’s staff in general,
assessed the performance and remuneration of Directors and made
recommendations to the Board thereon.

Nomination Committee

The nomination committee is mainly responsible for making
recommendations to the Board on composition of the Board and
appointment of Directors and succession planning for the Directors.

The nomination committee has reviewed the composition of
the Board and the retirement and re-election of Directors at the
forthcoming annual general meeting and is satisfied that the Board
represents diversified background and industry expertise to oversee
and operate the Company efficiently and safeguard the interests of
various stakeholders of the Company.

The nomination committee will monitor the implementation of the
policy on Board diversity annually to ensure its effectiveness.

The nomination committee will also review gender composition of
the Company’s senior management and general staff, by reference
to industrial and demographic statistics etc., on an annual basis and
determine the appropriate procedures to take to enhance gender
diversity in the workforce as required.
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The gender composition of the Group’s workforce as at 31 March
2024 is as follows.

R-ZE_WNE=A=+—H ~EENEE
R DT »

Number of staff Proportion

AH ]

Male B 171 78.8%
Female 4 46 21.2%

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the fees in respect of the audit
and non-audit services provided to the Group by the Company’s
auditor, BDO Limited, is set out as follows:

B BET B &

REBEE-_ZT_MNME=A=+—HItEE &
AN EMEE Y EESSTMESHT
AR A A AIAE B IR H A TZ R IERZ RS
MEBRHFINT

HK$'000
Fee Amount ERSHE FExT
Audit service E R 750
Non-audit services FETIZARTS -
Total S 750

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge the responsibility for the preparation of
financial statements which give a true and fair view of the affairs
of the Group. The responsibility of the Company’s auditor on the
financial statements of the Group is set out in the independent
auditor’s report on pages 37 to 42 of this annual report.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company, Mr. Chan Sun Kwong, is an
external service provider. The Company’s primary contact with the
company secretary is our chairman, Mr. Yip Pak Hung. Please refer to
his biographical details as set out on page 14 of this annual report.

During the Year, Mr. Chan has undertaken not less than 15 hours
of relevant professional training in accordance with Rule 3.29 of the
Listing Rules.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Comp any has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers set out in Appendix 10 of
the Listing Rules as the code of conduct for dealing in securities of the
Company by the Directors (the “Required Standard of Dealings”).

Having made specific enquiries of all the Directors, each of them has
confirmed that they have compiled with the Required Standard of
Dealings throughout the Year and to the date of this report.
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INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board is responsible for evaluating and determining the nature
and extent of risks associated with the Group’s operation.

The Company has developed system of internal control and risk
management for reviewing and maintaining an adequate internal
control system to safeguard the interests of the shareholders and the
assets of the Company. The Company has not established a separate
internal audit department; instead, an external consultant was
engaged to review the Group’s internal control and risk management
system and support the Board in assessing the effectiveness of such
system annually.

Based on the review conducted, the Company considered that its risk
management and internal control function has remained effective
and adequate during the Year.

INVESTORS’ RELATIONS

The Company encourages two way communications with its
investors. Extensive information about the Company’s activities is
provided in the annual report and the interim report which are sent
to shareholders. Enquiries from individuals on matters relating to
their shareholdings and the business of the company are welcomed
and are dealt with in an informative and timely manner. In order
to promote effective communication, the Company maintains its
website on which financial and other information relating to the
Group and its business are disclosed.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS TO NOMINATE A
DIRECTOR

If a shareholder of the Company (the “Shareholder”) wishes to
propose a person for election as a new Director of the Company,
the Shareholder must deposit a written notice (the “Notice”) to the
principal place of business of the Company in Hong Kong at 27/F,
The Octagon, 6 Sha Tsui Road, Tsuen Wan, New Territories, Hong
Kong for the attention of the company secretary of the Company
(the “Company Secretary”).

The Notice must state clearly the name, the contact information of
the Shareholder and his/her/their shareholding, the full name of the
person proposed for election as a Director, including the person’s
biographical details as required by Rule 13.51(2) of the Listing Rules,
and be signed by the Shareholder concerned (other than the person
to be proposed). The Notice must also be accompanied by a letter
of consent signed by the person proposed to be elected on his/her
willingness to be elected as a Director.

The period for lodgment of the Notice will commence no earlier
than the day after the dispatch of the notice by the Company of the
general meeting appointed for election of Directors and end no later
than seven (7) days prior to the date of such general meeting.
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The Notice will be verified with the Company’s branch share registrar
and upon their confirmation that the request is proper and in order,
the Company Secretary will ask the nomination committee of the
Company and the Board to consider to include the resolution in the
agenda for the general meeting proposing such person to be elected
as a Director.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS ON CONVENING AN
EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL MEETING

Pursuant to Article 64 of the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company, any one or more shareholders holding
at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at
general meetings of the Company shall at all times have the right, by
written requisition to the Board or the Company Secretary, to require
an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the
transaction of any business specified in such requisition; and such
meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such
requisition. If within twenty-one days of such deposit the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting the requested shareholder(s)
(“Requested Shareholders”) himself (themselves) may do so in
the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the
Requested Shareholders as a result of the failure of the Board shall
be reimbursed to the Requested Shareholders by the Company.

ENQUIRES TO THE BOARD

Shareholders may at any time make a request for the Company’s
information to the extent such information is publicly available
to the Company Secretary who is responsible for forwarding
communications relating to matters within the Board and
communication relating to ordinary business matters, such as
suggestions, inquiries and complaints, to the Directors.

PUTTING FORWARD PROPOSALS AT A GENERAL
MEETING

Shareholders are welcomed to put forward proposals relating to
the operations and management of the Group to be discussed
at shareholders’ meeting. Proposal shall be sent to the Company
Secretary or the share registrar of the Company by written
requisition. Shareholders who wish to put forward a proposal
should convene an extraordinary general meeting by following
the procedures set out in “Shareholders’ Rights on Convening an
Extraordinary General Meeting” above.

SIGNIFICANT CHANGES IN CONSTITUTIONAL
DOCUMENTS

During the Year, there has been no change to the constitution
documents of the Company.
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The Directors hereby present their report together with the audited
consolidated financial statements for the Year.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. The
activities of its principal subsidiaries are set out in note 29 to the
consolidated financial statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Further discussion and analysis of these activities, including a business
review of the Group for the Year and an indication of likely future
developments in the Group’s business, can be found in the section
headed “Management Discussion and Analysis” as set out on pages
5 to 11 of this annual report. These discussions form part of this
directors’ report.

PRINCIPAL RISKS AND UNCERTAINTIES

A number of factors may affect the results and business operations
of the Group. Major risks are summarised below.

The Group may fail to maintain its reputation and
brand name and this can adversely affect the
Group’s business, financial performance and results
of operations

Reputation and brand name that the Group has built up over the
years play a significant role in attracting customers and securing
projects. The Group needs to provide quality and timely service to
customers on an ongoing basis in order to maintain or promote its
reputation and brand name. The brand name and reputation of the
Group could be adversely affected if its customers no longer perceive
products and services of the Group to be of a high quality or reliable
or cost-effective. This will in turn negatively affect the Group’s
business, financial performance and results of operations.

Any claims or legal proceedings to which the Group
may become a party may have a material and
adverse impact on the Group’s business operations

The Group may be subject to claims for personal injury and property
damage arising in connection with the Group’s projects. The Group
may also become involved in proceedings relating to, among other
things, warranty, indemnification or liability claims, contractual
disputes with its customers or subcontractors, labour disputes,
workers’ compensation, and safety, environmental or other legal
requirements. Legal proceedings can be time-consuming, expensive,
and may divert management’s attention away from the operations of
business. Any claims or legal proceedings to which the Group may
become a party in the future may have a material and adverse impact
on the Group’s business operations.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT (CONTINUED)
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The Group’s business performance depends on the
availability of design and build projects, involving
structural engineering works, in Hong Kong

The performance of the Group’s business is generally affected by the
number and availability of design and build projects, involving
structural engineering works, in Hong Kong. The performance of the
construction industry is cyclical and could be significantly affected by
various factors, including but not limited to the fluctuations in
economic conditions, the general conditions of property markets in
Hong Kong, and other factors. For instance, an economic downturn
in Hong Kong, where the Group operates, could materially and
adversely affect the Group’s business, financial performance and
results of operations. There is no assurance that the number of
design and build projects in Hong Kong will not decrease in the
future.

ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES, PERFORMANCE
AND COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS AND
REGULATIONS

The Group is committed to maintaining sustainable working practices
and pays close attention to ensure all resources are efficiently
utilised. The Group’s in-house rules contain measures and work
procedures governing environmental protection compliance that are
required to be followed by the Group’s employees. Such measures
and procedures include air pollution control, noise control and waste
disposal.

The Group and its activities are subject to requirements under various
laws. The laws and regulations which have a significant impact on
the Group include, among others, the Factories and Industrial
Undertakings Ordinance (Chapter 59 of the Laws of Hong Kong),
Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter 509 of the Laws
of Hong Kong), Employees’ Compensation Ordinance (Chapter 282
of the Laws of Hong Kong), Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), Occupiers Liability Ordinance (Chapter 314
of the Laws of Hong Kong), Immigration Ordinance (Chapter 115 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), Minimum Wage Ordinance (Chapter 608 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes
Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Air Pollution
Control Ordinance (Chapter 311 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Noise
Control Ordinance (Chapter 400 of the Laws of Hong Kong), Public
Health and Municipal Services Ordinance (Chapter 132 of the Laws
of Hong Kong) and Waste Disposal Ordinance (Chapter 354 of the
Laws of Hong Kong). The Group has put in place in-house rules
containing measures and work procedures to ensure that the Group's
operation is in compliance with applicable laws and regulations.
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KEY RELATIONSHIPS WITH EMPLOYEES,
CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

The Directors recognise that employees, customers and business
partners are the keys to the sustainable development of the Group.
The Group is committed to building a close and caring relationship
with its employees and business partners, and improve the quality of
services and products to the customers. Employees are regarded as
the most important and valuable assets of the Group. The Group
ensures all staff is reasonably remunerated and regular training
courses are provided for its workers operation of different types of
machinery, as well as work safety. The Group strives to motivate its
employees with a clear career path and opportunities for
advancement and improvement of their skills. The Group also stays
connected with its customers and suppliers and has ongoing
communication with the customers and suppliers through various
channels such as telephone, electronic mails and physical meetings to
obtain their feedback and suggestions.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The Group’s results for the Year are set out in the Consolidated
Statement of Comprehensive Income on page 43 of this annual
report.

DIVIDEND POLICY AND DIVIDENDS

The Directors acknowledge the importance of stakeholders’
engagement and would contemplate at least two times a year (prior
to the announcement of annual and interim results) on the
distribution of a dividend. While the Directors endeavour to share the
Group's results with shareholders by way of a dividend, the portion
and actual amount of distribution out of profits will be determined
by the Directors having regard to a variety of factors, including but
not limited to the Group’s actual and expecting operating results and
conditions, gearing level, general financial condition, availability of
cash, future plans and funding needs for expansion.

No interim dividend was paid during the Year.

The Board has proposed to declare a final dividend of HK4.0 cents
(FY2023: HK3.0 cents) per share and a special dividend of HK4.0
cents (FY2023: Nil) per share, both of which, subject to the approval
of shareholders at the forthcoming annual general meeting of the
Company, will be payable to the shareholders of the Company whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company on 30
August 2024. The final dividend and the special dividend will amount
to HK$22.3 million (FY2023: HK$16.7 million) and HK$22.3 million
(FY2023: Nil) respectively and are expected to be paid on or around
20 September 2024. No interim dividend was recommended for the
Year (FY2023: Nil). The recommendation of dividends depend on the
accumulated reserves, liquidity condition, expected cashflows and
working capital needs of the Group.

As at the date of this annual report, the Board is not aware of any
shareholders who have waived or agreed to waive any dividends.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the past five financial years is set out on pages 123 to 124
of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements of the property, plant and equipment of the
Group during the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated
financial statements.

INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Details of the investment property are set out in note 15 to the
consolidated financial statements.

SUBSIDIARIES

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries at 31 March 2024 are set out
in note 29 to the consolidated financial statements.

EMOLUMENT POLICY FOR DIRECTORS

The Remuneration Committee is set up for reviewing the Group’s
emolument policy and structure for all remuneration of the Directors
and senior management of the Group. The remunerations of the
Directors are determined with reference to the economic situation,
the market condition, the responsibilities and duties assumed by each
Director as well as their individual performance.

Executive Directors are rewarded with discretionary bonus, which is
determined having taken into consideration the financial results of
the Group and subject to review by the Remuneration Committee.
Remuneration of independent non-executive Directors is not linked
to performance of the Group in order to preserve independence.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the Year are set out
in the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 45 of this
annual report.

Movements in the reserves of the Company during the Year are set
out in note 26 to the consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 March 2024, the reserves of the Company available for
distribution was approximately HK$68.4 million (2023: HK$40.6
million) inclusive of share premium and retained profits.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of the movements in the share capital of the Company during
the Year are set out in note 25 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF LISTED
SECURITIES

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the listed shares of the Company during the Year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis to
existing shareholders.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The Company’s share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
was conditionally approved by the Company pursuant to the written
resolutions of the then sole shareholder of the Company dated 22
September 2015. The following is a summary of the principal terms
of the Share Option Scheme:

(1) Purpose of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme enables the Company to grant
options (the “Options”) to any full-time or part-time
employee of the Company or any member of the Group,
including any executive Directors and independent non-
executive Directors, advisors, consultants of the Company or
any of its subsidiaries (the “Eligible Persons”) as incentives
or rewards for their contributions to the Group.

(2) Who may join

The Board may, at its discretion, invite any Eligible Persons to
take up Options at a price calculated in accordance with
sub-paragraph (3) below. Upon acceptance of the Option, the
Eligible Person shall pay HK$1.00 to the Company by way of
consideration for the grant. The Option will be offered for
acceptance for a period of not less than 5 trading days from
the date on which the Option is granted.

The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any
option shall be determined by the Board (or as the case may
be, the independent non-executive Directors) from time to
time on the basis of his contribution or potential contribution
to the development and growth of the Group.

(3) Price of shares of the Company (the “Share(s)”)

The subscription price of a Share in respect of any particular
option granted under the Share Option Scheme shall be a
price solely determined by the Board and notified to a
participant and shall be at least the higher of: (i) the closing
price of the Shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
guotations sheet on the date of grant of the option; (ii) the
average of the closing prices of the Shares as stated in the
Stock Exchange’s daily quotations sheets for the five business
days immediately preceding the date of grant of the option;
and (iii) the nominal value of a Share on the date of grant of
the option.
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Grant of options and acceptance of offers

An offer for the grant of options must be accepted within
seven days inclusive of the day on which such offer was made.
The amount payable by the grantee of an option to the
Company on acceptance of the offer for the grant of an
option is HK$1.00.

Maximum number of Shares

The total number of Shares which may be allotted and issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Share
Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the
Group (excluding, for this purpose, options which have lapsed
in accordance with the terms of the Share Option Scheme or
any other share option schemes of the Group) must not in
aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of Shares in issue
as at the Listing Date. The Company may refresh this limit at
any time, subject to the shareholders’ approval and the issue
of a circular and in accordance with the Listing Rules provided
that the total number of Shares which may be allotted and
issued upon exercise of all outstanding options to be granted
under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option
schemes of the Group must not exceed 10% of the Shares in
issue as at the date of approval of the refreshed limit and for
such purpose, options (including those outstanding, cancelled,
lapsed or exercised in accordance with the Share Option
Scheme and any other share option schemes of the Group)
previously granted under the Share Option Scheme and any
other share option schemes of the Group will not be counted.
The above is subject to the condition that the maximum
number of Shares which may be issued upon exercise of all
outstanding options granted and yet to be exercised under the
Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of
the Group shall not exceed 30% of the Share Capital of the
Company in issue from time to time.
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Maximum entitlement of each Eligible Person

The total number of Shares issued and to be issued upon
exercise of options granted to any grantee (including both
exercised and outstanding options) under the Share Option
Scheme, in any 12-month period up to the date of grant shall
not exceed 1% of the Shares in issue. Any further grant of
options in excess of such limit must be separately approved by
shareholders in general meeting with such grantee and his
close associates (or his associates if the grantee is a connected
person) abstaining from voting. In such event, the Company
must send a circular to the shareholders containing the
identity of the grantee, the number and terms of the options
to be granted (and options previously granted to such
grantee), and all other information required under the Listing
Rules. The number and terms (including the subscription price)
of the options to be granted must be fixed before the approval
of the shareholders of the Company and the date of the Board
meeting proposing such further grant should be taken as the
date of grant for the purpose of calculating the subscription
price.

Time of exercise of option

An option may be exercised in accordance with the terms of
the Share Option Scheme at any time during a period as the
Board may determine which shall not exceed ten years from
the date of grant subject to the provisions of early termination
thereof.

Period of the Share Option Scheme

The Share Option Scheme will remain in force for a period of
10 years commencing on the date on which the Share Option
Scheme is adopted.

No share option has been granted, exercised, cancelled or
lapsed under the Share Option Scheme since its adoption.

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the Year and up to the date of this report are:

Executive Directors

Mr. Yip Pak Hung (Chairman)
Mr. Wai Yat Kin (Chief Executive Officer)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy
Mr. Lam Chi Wai, Peter
Dr. Yeung Kit Ming
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The Directors’ biographical details are set out in the section headed
“Biography of Directors and Senior Management” in this annual
report.

Information regarding Directors’ emoluments is set out in note 11 to
the consolidated financial statements. An annual confirmation of
independence pursuant to the requirements under Rule 3.13 of the
Listing Rules has been received from each of the independent
non-executive Directors.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACT

All executive Directors have entered into service agreements with the
Company which may be terminated earlier by no less than three
months written notice served by either party on the other. Each of
the independent non-executive Directors has entered into a service
agreement with the Company which may be terminated earlier by no
less than one month written notice served by either party on the
other. All Directors are subject to retirement from office and
re-election at the AGM of the Company in accordance with the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company.

No Director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming AGM has a
service contract which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation, other than statutory
compensation.

In accordance with Article 112 of the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company, any director appointed by the Board
either to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the first
general meeting of the Company after his appointment and be
subject to re-election at such meeting and any Director appointed by
the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only
until the next following annual general meeting of the Company and
shall then be eligible for re-election.

Pursuant to Article 108 of the Memorandum and Articles of
Association of the Company, at each annual general meeting
one-third of the Directors for the time being (or, if their number is
not a multiple of three (3), the number nearest to but not less than
one-third) shall retire from office by rotation provided that every
Director shall be subject to retirement at an annual general meeting
at least once every three years.

Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy, an independent non-executive Director, and
Mr. Yip Pak Hung, an executive Director, will retire from office at the
Company’s forthcoming annual general meeting (“AGM") according
to the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association and, being
eligible, have offered themselves for re-election at the AGM.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S INTERESTS
AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES,
UNDERLYING SHARES AND DEBENTURES OF
THE COMPANY OR ANY ASSOCIATED
CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2024, the interests of the Directors in the share
capital of the Company which were required to be notified to the
Company and the Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV
of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter 571 of the Laws of
Hong Kong) (the “SFO") (including interests which they were taken
or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or were
required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or were required, pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the
“Model Code"”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, to be
notified to the Company and the Exchange were as follows:

Long Positions in Shares of the Company

(@)  Interest in the shares of the Company
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EEEHSE (R)

EERFTETHRAERAQAN
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R-E-_WF=ZA=+—8 EFRNALA
AP EERE (BB EFESTE)BH
MEEGEA ([RERBEFF ) EXVEET
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BIZE 35216 7BRE A% G il 2 B Aot 2 4 ek
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MEARRAR ML ZERZOT :

RERTRDZHRE
@ RAEARGRGZEZ
Percentage of

Number of the issued share
issued ordinary capital of the

Director Capacity/Nature of Interest shares Company
HARAT
2817 ERITREZ
2= B EEME ZERHA Aotk
Mr. Wai Yat Kin Corporate interest 325,930,000 58.52%
BEHBEE AR
Beneficial owner 40,310,000 7.24%
EmEAA
Interests held jointly 36,520,000 6.56%
HERHE 2 ER
Mr. Yip Pak Hung Corporate interest 325,930,000 58.52%
B L A NAElER
Beneficial owner 36,520,000 6.56%
ExAA
Interests held jointly 40,310,000 7.24%
HERFA 2 #=
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(b) Interest in the shares of as associated corporation

(b) REEZEER G2 ER

Name of associated corporations: M EEEE
Success Wing Investments Limited BREAREBRAT
Number of Percentage of
Director Capacity/Nature of Interest shares Shareholding
=3 B RmEME gvig 2 4=] BERBES
Mr. Wai Yat Kin Beneficial owner 14,332 43.97%
EHEEA EmEEAA
Interests held jointly 14,332 43.97%
HEHE 2 ER
Mr. Yip Pak Hung Beneficial owner 14,332 43.97%
Bt EnlAA
Interests held jointly 14,332 43.97%
HEAFKE 2R
SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’ INTERESTS AND EERRRADARG RAEBK
SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES AND DzEERRXE

UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2024, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO
shows that, other than the interests disclosed above in respect of a
Director, the following shareholders had notified the Company of
relevant interests in the issued share capital of the Company:

R-ZE_WHF=R=+—H ' BREARARE
EBHEMAERIEIBHRFECIERRE
EMAR BALMBREEEEST 2R
S LU NIRREMEARBRARA D EIT
PRz ERERE R

Long positions e
Ordinary shares of the Company KR 5] ZiE R
Percentage of
the issued share
Number of issued capital of the
Name of shareholder Capacity/Nature of interest ordinary shares Company
i SR RTE
BB BIRAZ
BREHE Ha B REEME EREREAR ATk
Success Wing Investments Limited Beneficial owner 325,930,000 58.52%
KAEREBRAR EnlEAA
Ms. Lam Suk Lan Bonnie Interest of spouse 402,760,000 72.32%
MORES 22+ B R
Ms. Wu Janet Interest of spouse 402,760,000 72.32%
tHEZ X+ fo B s

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2024, no other persons had
any interests or short positions in the shares or underlying shares of
the Company as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under Section 336 of the SFO, or otherwise notified to the
Company.
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MAJOR CUSTOMERS

During the Year, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for
approximately 84.3% (2023: 84.4%) of the total revenue of the
Group and the largest customer of the Group accounted for
approximately 56.6% (2023: 51.1%) of the total revenue.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates, or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors own 5% or
more of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group’s five largest customers.

MAJOR SUPPLIERS

During the Year, the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 51.5% (2023: 40.4%) of the total purchases of the
Group and the largest supplier of the Group accounted for
approximately 14.4% (2023: 11.3%) of the total purchases.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates, or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors own 5% or
more of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group's five largest suppliers.

MAJOR SUBCONTRACTORS

During the Year, the Group’s five largest subcontractors accounted
for approximately 73.3% (2023: 67.2%) of the total subcontracting
charges of the Group and the largest subcontractor of the Group
accounted for approximately 48.0% (2023: 32.4%) of the total
subcontracting charges.

None of the Directors or any of their close associates, or any
shareholder (which to the knowledge of the Directors own 5% or
more of the Company’s issued share capital) had any beneficial
interest in the Group's five largest subcontractors.

DIRECTORS’/CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDERS'
INTEREST IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS
AND CONTRACTS

Save for the related party transactions disclosed in note 32 to the
consolidated financial statements, no transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to which the Company or any of its
subsidiaries, or holding company was a party and in which a Director
or controlling Shareholder, or an entity connected with a Director or
controlling Shareholder, had a material interests, whether directly or
indirectly, subsisted during or at the end of the Year.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

The Company has maintained appropriate directors and officers
liability insurance and such permitted indemnity provision for the
benefit of the Directors is currently in force and was in force
throughout the Year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No management contracts concerning the whole or any substantial
part of the business of the Company were entered into or existed
during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits by means
of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the Company granted
to any Director or their respective associates, or were any such rights
exercised by them; or was the Company, its holding company, or any
of its subsidiaries or fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to
enable the Directors to acquire such rights in any other body
corporate.

Directors of Subsidiaries

Up to the date of this report, the subsidiaries of the Company (the
“Subsidiaries”) and the particulars of the Subsidiaries are listed out
as follows:

EEFREERX
N

)
RAERFREENEETRSRABERE
B BREZEWHBEEFREKRXBAD

0
PR

EHEREEFERN

EEAN

WAREE - WEET L KFHED RARR 2 E
HERMABOEBHERAL -

ESREROIEEENER

RAFEEMERHE SETAEEIHRES
BB AR EMEN  AJREEEARR
ik EEEMESNE  TEITEARE
Ao mMARE  EERA R SEEMAHER
A3k R (R B B8 A AL SR R SR 2 BE - DAfE
EERGEMEMEIABERBNEREERN -

MEBLARNES

REAGEOS ARAKBAR (HED
1) RHEA AN EEDT

Place/Country Place of
Name of subsidiary of incorporation operations Principal activities List of directors
WELRER SMRLEH AR S TEEK EE4E
Light Dimension Limited British Virgin Islands Hong Kong Investment holding Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("Light Dimension”) (the "BVI") Mr. Wai Yat Kin
HHEBRAF (K& RERLEE EE RE i)t
([RBELBEE]) EHBAAE
AcouSystem Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Trademark Holding Mr. Yip Pak Hung
(“AcouSystem”) Mr. Wai Yat Kin
30 B RERR 32l
ERREL
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Place/Country Place of
Name of subsidiary of incorporation operations Principal activities List of directors
WELTEE ERRINY/ BR  AEN%  IEEH ¥52E
BuildMax Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Supply and installation of building ~ Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("BuildMax (HK)") material products and trading of  Mr. Wai Yat Kin
building material products Mr. Liu Yuen Wai
Mr. Chan Chi Ming
REARRE 0 BB HERZEKEVER BEmmrs
((RE(&8)]) REERVMEmM EHREA
BERERE
BRERLE
KPa Contracting Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Provision of structural engineering ~ Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("KPa Contracting”) works Mr. Wai Yat Kin
ENAEBERRA BB B REEABIRIERY Rinmts
([EnHEE]) ERRELE
KPa Engineering Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Provision of structural engineering ~ Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("KPa Engineering”) works Mr. Wai Yat Kin
EAIRERRA B G RELEBTEIERS EmigrsE
([EHIR]) ERREL
KPa Engineering (HK) Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Provision of structural engineering ~ Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("KPa (HK)") works Mr. Wai Yat Kin
ENIR(EE)RERAF e EB RELBIRIERSE Emmrs
([EH(EB)]) ERREAE
Sun Pool Engineering Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Property investment and investment  Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("Sun Pool”) holding Mr. Wai Yat Kin
RATRBERRAA (TR Bk B FHERERRERR Emkrs
ERBALE
ENEERAE SR The People's republic of PRC Provision of fabrication drawing Mr. Liu Yuen Wai
BB A ("KPa (S2)") China (the "PRC")
EHEERTES (RI) hEARLAE e RERIEEE BEELE
BRAR (TEH CRIND) (THE )
Hillford Trading Limited Hong Kong Hong Kong Investment holding Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("Hillford") Mr. Wai Yat Kin
Mr. Liu Yuen Wai
Mr. Chan Chi Ming
EEESHERAR(EE]) Bk B RERR Emkks
ERRALE
BEEEE
BREREE
FERRRINVERAR PRC PRC Processing, fabrication, Mr. Yip Pak Hung
("BuildMax (52)") manufacturing and trading of Mr. Wai Yat Kin
building material products Mr. Liu Yuen Wai
FER R (RI) AR A i HE I8 BEREE ERigrsE
(T8 (R 1) BMEmR FRREL
BEGLE
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RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

The significant related party transactions entered into by the Group
during the Year set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements include transactions that constitute connected
transactions and continuing connected transactions for which the
disclosure requirements under Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules have
been complied with.

NON-COMPETITION UNDERTAKING

Each of the controlling shareholders, namely Success Wing
Investments Limited, Mr. Wai Yat Kin and Mr. Yip Pak Hung
(collectively the “Controlling Shareholders”) has made an annual
declaration to the Company that during the Year, they have complied
with the terms of non-competition undertakings (“Non-Competition
Undertakings”) dated 22 September 2015 given in favour of the
Company.

The independent non-executive Directors have also reviewed the
status of compliance with the Non-Competition Undertakings by
each of the Controlling Shareholders and have confirmed that, as far
as the independent non-executive Directors can ascertain, there is no
breach of any of the undertakings in the Non-Competition
Undertakings.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available and within the
knowledge of the Directors of the Company, at least 25% of the
Company’s issued share capital was held by the public as at the date
of this annual report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the Year have
been audited by BDO Limited, who will retire, being eligible, offer
themselves for reappointment at the forthcoming annual general
meeting of the Company. A resolution will be proposed at the
forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint
BDO Limited as auditor of the Company.

By order of the Board

KPa-BM Holdings Limited

Yip Pak Hung

Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 24 June 2024
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

Tel : +852 2218 8288
Fax: +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

IBDO

EEE - +852 2218 8288
{8HE : +852 2815 2239
www.bdo.com.hk

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF KPa-BM HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of KPa-BM
Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (together
the "Group”) set out on pages 43 to 122, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2024,
and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, the
consolidated statement of changes in equity and the consolidated
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the
consolidated financial statements, including material accounting
policy information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA"”) and have been
properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing ("HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the “Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements” section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's “Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants” (the “"Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

BDO Limited
BRI EREEHAERAARAR

B M % SAD A

25t Floor Wing On Centre
111 Connaught Road Central

Hong Kong
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BDO Limited, a Hong Kong limited company, is a member of BDO International Limited, a UK company limited by guarantee,

and forms part of the international BDO network of independent member firms.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BYZAMBRE (F)

KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, we do
not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Recognition of contract revenue, contract assets
and contract liabilities for construction contracts

Refer to notes 2(i)(i), 4(i), 6 and 18 to the consolidated
financial statements

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the Group recognised
revenue from rendering of structural engineering works and
supply and installation of building material products amounted to
HK$643,479,000 in aggregate and as at 31 March 2024, the Group
recorded contract assets and contract liabilities of HK$45,398,000
and HK$76,384,000 respectively. Contract revenue is recognised
over time by measuring the progress towards complete satisfaction
of the performance obligation on the basis of the contract costs
incurred to date as a proportion to the total estimated contract
costs, whereas the measurement of contract assets and contract
liabilities is also mainly dependent on estimation of contract costs.
As disclosed in note 4(i) to the consolidated financial statements, the
estimation of contract costs for an individual contract, which mainly
comprise subcontracting charges, materials and processing charges
and direct labour, is based on quotations provided by subcontractors
and suppliers/vendors as well as from the experience of the directors,
which is revised regularly as the contract progresses. Apart from
the above, variable considerations in construction contracts are
recognised as contract revenue to the extent that the modification
has been approved by the parties to the contracts and it is highly
probable that a significant reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur.

We identified recognition of contract revenue, contract assets and
contract liabilities for construction contracts as a key audit matter
because the estimation of contract costs and recognition of variable
considerations require the use of significant management judgments
and involves estimation uncertainty.
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Our audit procedures in relation to the recognition of contract
revenue, contract assets and contract liabilities included:

o Understanding the procedures and relevant controls of the
Group in preparing and updating budget for construction works
and recording contract costs.

o Agreeing budgeted costs, on a sample basis, to respective
construction budgets.

o Evaluating reasonableness of contract budgets through
discussion with management about preparation of those
budgets.

o Testing contract costs incurred to date and estimated total
costs, on a sample basis, to underlying supporting evidence.

. Testing material contract modifications, on a sample basis, to
underlying supporting evidence.

o Assessing reliability of contract budgets by comparing actual
contract costs against budgeted costs of completed projects.

o Checking calculations of progress towards complete satisfaction
of individual contracts and the amounts of contract revenue
and gross profit recognised.

OTHER INFORMATION IN THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors are responsible for the other information. The other
information comprises the information included in the Company’s
annual report, but does not include the consolidated financial
statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report
that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BYZAMBRE (F)

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated
financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards issued by the HKICPA and
the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance,
and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary
to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that
are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are
responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a going
concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern
and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the directors
either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or have
no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are also responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process. The Audit Committee assists the directors in
discharging their responsibilities in this regard.

AUDITOR'S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE
AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This report is made solely
to you, as a body, in accordance with the terms of our engagement,
and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.
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As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of
not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or
the override of internal control.

o obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an
opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal control.

o evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.

o conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s
report. However, future events or conditions may cause the
Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

o evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures, and
whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves
fair presentation.

o obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision
and performance of the group audit. We remain solely
responsible for our audit opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT (CONTINUED)
BYZAMBRE (F)

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal
control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters
that may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and
where applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards
applied.

From the matters communicated with the directors, we determine
those matters that were of most significance in the audit of the
consolidated financial statements of the current period and are
therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

BDO Limited

Certified Public Accountants
Leung Tze Wai

Practising Certificate no. P06158

Hong Kong, 24 June 2024
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
ll‘/T % E LI& %

For the year ended 31 March 2024

BE_Z_MFE=A=t+—HILFE

2024 2023
—ENF —EC-=4F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M =E FET TEIT
Revenue W 2% 6 666,037 568,490
Cost of revenue PPN (550,806) (467,723)
Gross profit ER 115,231 100,767
Other income H bl A 7 7,187 3,701
Fair value loss on investment property KEYEZANTFEER 15 (294) (138)
Provision of loss allowance on trade 5 RGBT
receivables &5 18 5 19(a) (8,794) (577)
Provision of loss allowance on retention JEUWR BB AT IR 1B B 1l
receivables 19(b) (2,352) (791)
Reversal/(Provision) of loss allowance on BHBERE,(5T1R)
contract assets 18 B 18(b) 896 (920)
Marketing and distribution expenses MHSHENMD RS (2,515) (1,996)
Administrative and other operating THREMEERE
expenses (50,132) (52,626)
Finance costs 8 7% X A< 8 (3,477) (2,119)
Profit before income tax R A 18 B4 A R 9 55,750 45,301
Income tax expense Frig i 10 (9.372) (8,154)
Profit for the year FRERN 46,378 37,147
Other comprehensive income FRHEME2EKE
for the year
Item that may be reclassified BAEGEEN 7HEA
subsequently to profit or loss B rE e
Exchange differences arising from BREBIINEBEEDN
translation of foreign operations PE N =% (1,108) (1,176)
Other comprehensive income FREM2EKE
for the year (1,108) (1,176)
Total comprehensive income FRE2EKEHLEE
for the year 45,270 35,971
HK cents HK cents
Bl B
Earnings per share BREF
Basic and diluted earnings per share BRERKEERF 13 8.33 6.28

BEr#ERERLZ2A
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e B RN R

As at 31 March 2024
RZZE-ME=A=+—H

2024 2023
—E_NEF —E-=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
M aE FET FABT
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Non-current assets IRBEE
Property, plant and equipment M - W KRR 14 14,871 13,588
Investment property wEWE 15 3,913 4,434
Goodwill Bk 16 601 601
Deposits Ze 19 156 1,787
Deferred tax assets RERIBE E 24 405 139
19,946 20,549
Current assets REBEE
Inventories FE 17 14,926 17,705
Contract assets BHREE 18(b) 45,398 113,403
Trade and other receivables, deposits and & 5 & E {th fE U 5118 -
prepayments e RIENRIE 19 275,793 220,664
Tax recoverable AT Y Bl B T8 339 712
Fixed term deposit EHFR 20 S 10,125
Cash and bank balances " & KIRTTH & 20 170,231 114,818
506,687 477,427
Current liabilities qufJﬁF
Contract liabilities EHaE 18(c) 76,384 55,513
Trade and other payables féf%&ﬁi\ﬁﬂr&“ﬁ K18 21 135,871 122,239
Lease liabilities HEBE 22(a) 5,306 5,489
Tax payable JERT IR 3,250 1,608
Bank borrowings |ITHERK 23 9,276 45,867
230,087 230,716
Net current assets RBEEFE 276,600 246,711
Total assets less current liabilities EELERRBERS 296,546 267,260
Non-current liabilities ERBEAE
Lease liabilities HEaE 22(a) 4,176 3,410
Deferred tax liabilities EEFIBAE 24 16 58
4,192 3,468
Net assets EEFE 292,354 263,792
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BERR#E
Share capital R& < 25 5,569 5,569
Reserves ik 1 26 286,785 258,223
Total equity MR 292,354 263,792
On behalf of the directors RERES
Yip Pak Hung Wai Yat Kin
=S EZAE
Director Director
EZE EZE

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Annual Report 2024



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

n\l-ﬁ
For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-_Z-_MF=RA=+—HILFE

g

"}(%E,%Eb%:z

Share Share  Merger Exchange Statutory Retained
capital  premium*  reserve*  reserve*  reserve* profits* Total
RA  ROBE SHEE ERfRE ARG KRR @it
HK$'000  HKS$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000
TAR TER TET TAR ThR TET TER
(note 25)  (note 26)  (note 26)  (note 26)  (note 26)  (note 26)
(Wit25)  (Wit2e) (WE2e)  (Witze)  (Wit2e)  (Wi26)
At 1 April 2022 R-ZB--£NmA-H 6,000 33,942 7,437 933 - 199,053 247,365
Profit for the year EREN = = = = - 347 304
Other comprehensive income A2 EYE
- Exchange differences arising from  — BB ERELH
translation of foreign operations ERzE = = - (1,176) = = (1,176)
Total comprehensive income FRPERRESE
for the year - - - (1,176) = 37,147 35,971
Final dividend in respect of 2022 —EC_FRHRBRE
(note 12(b) (Bi12b) - = = = = (9,0000  (9,000)
Cancellation of share repurchased HHEEEDRR
(note 25) (Hit25) (431)  (10,113) - - - - (10,544)
At 31 March 2023 and R-B-=£=A=+-8K
1 April 2023 —E-=%MA-A 5,569 23,829 14317 (243) - 227,200 263,792
Profit for the year FREN - - - - - 46378 46,378
Other comprehensive income E2Eks
- Exchange differences arising from  —AE B ERELH
translation of foreign operations ERZEE - - - (1,108) - - (1,108)
Total comprehensive income FRPERRESE
for the year - - - (1,108) - 46,378 45,270
Final dividend in respect of 2023 “ECCEMRERE
(note 12(b)) (Wit12() - - - - - (16,708)  (16,708)
Appropriations to statutory reserve  EHEETF R E - - - - 1,469 (1,469) -
At 31 March 2024 RZB-ME=A=+-H 5,569 23,829 74317 (1,351) 1,469 255,401 292,354

* The total of these equity accounts at the end of the reporting period
represents “Reserves” in the consolidated statement of financial position
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

n‘/-ﬁ IE ﬁ I E '131%

For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-T-_MF=R=1T—BIFE

2024 2023
—E-MF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$’000
FTHET FHET
Operating activities REED
Profit before income tax & BT 15 B4 A i A 55,750 45,301
Adjustments for: HTINZBEELFE
Depreciation on property, plant and M BRERERED
equipment e 9,290 8,764
Write-back of trade and retention B S EWEIE R
payables FEYRE & D (182) (457)
Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEWE WEL&E
equipment 2 Wa (43) -
Fair value loss on investment property KEME 2 A TFEBE 294 138
Provision of allowance for inventories GFEFHREE 7 95
Write-off of property, plant and ME - R K R 8
equipment - 2
Interest income F B WA (4,010) (718)
Finance costs B 75 R AR 3,477 2,119
Impairment loss on trade receivables B 5 WA 2 BEEE 8,794 577
Impairment loss on retention receivables FEBIRE & 2 REBE 2,352 791
(Reversal of impairment loss)/Impairment & #1& & ~ (¥ @R &
loss on contract assets E18) R (E kB (896) 920
Operating profit before working capital EEECEHAMNLCERT
changes 74,833 57,532
Decrease/(Increase) in inventories FEEmEL,/(GEm) 2,003 (624)
Decrease/(Increase) in contract assets EHEER LD /(i'jlﬂ) 68,901 (23,590)
Increase in trade and other receivables, B o REMBEYIE R
deposits and prepayments N TEA FR I8 18 7JEI (64,948) (64,839)
Increase in contract liabilities EHEEEM 20,871 27,677
Increase in trade and other payables B 5 & E b &S ZIEIE N 14,499 12,852
Net cash generated from operations RETBHMEBESTE 116,159 9,008
Interest paid on bank borrowings BEIRITERFE (3,021) (1,776)
Interest received 2 A& 4,010 718
Income tax paid, net ERNIEHERE (7,666) (3,298)
Net cash generated from operating RETHRBREER
activities 109,482 4,652
Investing activities RETE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment BEE# % - BE K &E (2,632) (982)
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant HEWE - BELEXEZ
and equipment Fr 18 3018 55 =
Placement of fixed term deposit FERESRFER - (10,125)
Withdrawal of fixed term deposit REUEHFR 10,125 =
Net cash generated from/(used in) RETEBHRE(R)
investing activities RE T 7,548 (11,107)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (CONTINUED)

RERERER(E)
For the year ended 31 March 2024
HE-Z-_MF=A=+—HItFE

2024 2023
—E-NF —ET-=F
Notes HK$'000 HK$'000
B 5 FET FHET
Financing activities RESES
Dividends paid EfRE 12(b) (16,708) (9,000)
Proceeds from new bank borrowings ¥IRITRE B PTISKIE 31 84,297 116,135
Repayments of bank borrowings BBIETTIER 31 (120,888) (72,807)
Payment of principal element of lease XNBEERBEzARES
liabilities 31 (7,485) (7,661)
Payment of interest element of lease XNEERBEZMERD
liabilities 31 (447) (343)
Payment for repurchase of shares A<t BE Bl % 19 25 = (10,544)
Net cash (used in)/generated from BEEZER(A), B
financing activities RE&FHE (61,231) 15,780
Net increase in cash and ReRRSEEYN
cash equivalents & 55,799 9,325
Cash and cash equivalents at the FVzReRREEEY
beginning of year 114,818 105,400
Effect of exchange rate changes on |:7‘F 2HHRe LA S
cash and cash equivalents EEVHTE (386) 93
Cash and cash equivalents FRZEEREESEEY
at the end of year 170,231 114,818
B hEREIR-ZA —TE_EERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

n\l-ﬁ

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

R R B

GENERAL INFORMATION

KPa-BM Holdings Limited (the “Company”) was incorporated
as an exempted company in the Cayman Islands with limited
liability on 15 May 2015. The shares of the Company were listed
on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”). The address of its registered office is
Windward 3, Regatta Office Park, P.O. Box 1350, Grand Cayman
KY1-1108, Cayman Islands. Its principal place of business is
located at 27/F, The Octagon, 6 Sha Tsui Road, Tsuen Wan, New
Territories, Hong Kong.

The Group, comprising the Company and its subsidiaries, is
principally engaged in (i) provision of structural engineering
works; (i) supply and installation of building material products;
and (iii) trading of building material products.

The Company’s parent is Success Wing Investments Limited
("Success Wing”), a company incorporated in the British Virgin
Islands (“BVI"”). In the opinion of the directors, Success Wing is
also the ultimate parent of the Company.

The consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31

March 2024 were approved and authorised for issue by the
directors on 24 June 2024.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The accounting policies adopted in the preparation of these
consolidated financial statements are summarised below. These
policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented
unless otherwise stated.

(a) Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards (“HKASs")
and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred to as
“HKFRSs") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified
Public Accountants (“"HKICPA"”) and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance
which concern the preparation of financial statements.
In addition, the consolidated financial statements include
applicable disclosures required by the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under the historical cost basis except for investment
property, which are measured at fair value. The
measurement basis are fully described in the accounting
policies below.

Amounts are rounded to the nearest thousands, unless
otherwise stated.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in

Hong Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is same as the functional
currency of the Company and its major subsidiaries.

Accounting estimates and assumptions are used in the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements.
Although these estimates and assumptions are based on
management’s best knowledge and judgment of current
events and actions, actual results may ultimately be
different from those estimates and assumptions. The areas
involving higher degree of judgment or complexity, or areas
where assumptions and estimates are material to these
consolidated financial statements are disclosed in note 4.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME(E)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(b)

(c)

(d)

(e)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements comprise the
financial statements of the Company and its subsidiaries.
Inter-company transactions and balances between group
companies together with unrealised profits are eliminated
in full in preparing the consolidated financial statements.
Unrealised losses are also eliminated unless the transaction
provides evidence of impairment on the asset transferred,
in which case the loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Goodwill arising on business combination is measured
according to the policy as disclosed in note 2(d).

Subsidiaries

A subsidiary is an investee over which the Company is able
to exercise control. The Company controls an investee if all
three of the following elements are present: power over
the investee; exposure, or rights, to variable returns from
the investee; and the ability to use its power to affect those
variable returns. Control is reassessed whenever facts and
circumstances indicate that there may be a change in any
of these elements of control.

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on acquisition is initially recognised in
the consolidated statement of financial position as an
asset at cost and subsequently measured at cost less any
accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is reviewed for
impairment at the end of each reporting period or more
frequently if events or changes in circumstances indicate
that the carrying value of goodwill may be impaired (note
2(p)).

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less
accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

The cost of property, plant and equipment includes its

purchase price and the costs directly attributable to the
acquisition of the items.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(e) Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

(f)

Property, plant and equipment are depreciated so as to

write off their cost net of expected residual value over their

estimated useful lives on a straight-line basis as follows:

Right-of-use for other Over the lease term
properties leased for
own use

Motor vehicles Over the shorter of remaining
lease term or estimated
useful life

Over the shorter of 5 years or
the remaining lease terms

Leasehold improvements

Plant and machineries 10 years
Furniture and fixtures 5 years
Office equipment 5 years
Computer equipment 3 years

The useful lives, residual value and depreciation method are
reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each
reporting period.

The gain or loss on disposal of an item of property, plant
and equipment is the difference between the net sale
proceeds and its carrying amount, and is recognised in
profit or loss on disposal.

Investment property

Investment property is interest in land and buildings
(including the leasehold interest under an operating lease
for a property which would otherwise meet the definition
of an investment property) held either to earn rentals or
for capital appreciation or for both, but not held for sale
in the ordinary course of business, use in the production
or supply of goods or services or for administrative
purposes. Investment property is measured at cost on initial
recognition and subsequently at fair value with any change
therein recognised in profit or loss.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FERBHRRWE (&)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Leasing

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a
contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,
a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use
of identified asset for a period of time in exchange for
consideration.

(i) The Group as a lessee

All leases are capitalised in the consolidated statement
of financial position as right-of-use assets and lease
liabilities except for short-term leases and/or low-value
leases. The Group has elected not to recognise
right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for low-value
assets and leases for which at the commencement
date have a lease term of 12 months or less and do
not contain purchase option. The lease payments
associated with those leases have been expensed on
straight-line basis over the lease term.

Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at cost and would
comprise:

(i) the amount of the initial measurement of the lease
liability (see below for the accounting policy for lease
liability); (ii) any lease payments made at or before
the commencement date, less any lease incentives
received; (iii) any initial direct costs incurred by the
lessee; and (iv) an estimate of costs to be incurred by
the lessee in dismantling and removing the underlying
asset to the condition required by the terms and
conditions of the lease, unless those costs are incurred
to produce inventories.

The Group leases properties under tenancy agreements
and acquire motor vehicle under hire purchase
arrangement. These leases are measured according to
the following policies and presented in property, plant
and equipment under the category of “right-of-use
assets” as “other properties leased for own use”
and “motor vehicles”. Right-of-use assets of these
leases are measured at cost. Right-of-use assets are
depreciated over the shorter of the assets’ useful
life and lease term on a straight-line basis, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses,
and adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liability.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(g) Leasing (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)
Lease liabilities

The lease liability is recognised at the present value
of the lease payments that are not paid at the date
of commencement of the lease. The lease payments
are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the
lease, if that rate can be readily determined. If that
rate cannot be readily determined, the Group uses the
lessee’s incremental borrowing rate.

Subsequent to the commencement date, the Group
measures the lease liability by: (i) increasing the
carrying amount to reflect interest on the lease
liability; (ii) reducing the carrying amount to reflect
the lease payments made; and (iii) remeasuring the
carrying amount to reflect any reassessment or lease
modifications, e.g., a change in future lease payments
arising from change in an index or rate, a change in
the lease term, a change in the in substance fixed
lease payments or a change in assessment to purchase
the underlying asset.

The Group presents lease liabilities separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

The Group as a lessor

The Group has leased out its investment property to
a number of tenants. Rental income from operating
leases is recognised in profit or loss on a straight-line
basis over the term of the relevant lease. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an
operating lease are added to the carrying amount of
the leased asset and recognised as an expense on the
straight-line basis over the lease term.

(h) Financial instruments

(i)

Financial assets

A financial asset (unless it is a trade receivable
without a significant financing component) is initially
measured at fair value plus, for an item not at fair
value through profit or loss, transaction costs that are
directly attributable to its acquisition or issue. A trade
receivable without a significant financing component
is initially measured at the transaction price.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME(E)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i)

(if)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Financial assets (Continued)

Amortised cost

Debt instruments, including trade and other receivables
and deposits, fixed term deposit and cash and bank
balances that are held for collection of contractual
cash flows where those cash flows represent solely
payments of principal and interest are subsequently
measured at amortised cost using the effective interest
method. Interest income, foreign exchange gains and
losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss.
Any gain or loss on derecognition is recognised in
profit or loss.

Trade receivable is recognised when the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration from
the customer. A right to receive consideration is
unconditional if only the passage of time is required
before payment of that consideration is due. If
revenue has been recognised before the Group has
an unconditional right to receive consideration, the
amount is presented as a contract asset (see note 2(j)).

Impairment loss on financial assets and
contract assets

The Group recognises loss allowances for expected
credit losses (“ECLs") on trade receivables, contract
asset, retention receivables (retention monies released
by customers), other receivables and deposits, other
financial assets measured at amortised cost.

The ECLs are measured on either of the following
bases: (1) 12-month ECLs: these are the ECLs that
result from possible default events within the 12
months after the end of the reporting period: and
(2) lifetime ECLs: these are ECLs that result from all
possible default events over the expected life of a
financial instrument. The maximum period considered
when estimating ECLs is the maximum contractual
period over which the Group is exposed to credit risk.

ECLs are a probability-weighted estimate of credit
losses. Credit losses are measured as the difference
between all contractual cash flows that are due to the
Group in accordance with the contract and all the cash
flows that the Group expects to receive. The shortfall
is then discounted at an approximation to the assets’
original effective interest rate.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
me Mm% R RHE(R)

2. ERETHERE @

(h) €T A @)
(i) THREERSHEEHRE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Impairment loss on financial assets and

contract assets (Continued)

The Group measures loss allowances for trade
receivables, contract assets and retention receivables
(retention monies released by customers) using
simplified approach and has calculated ECLs based on
lifetime ECLs with collective and individual assessment.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the
debtors and the economic environment.

For other debt financial assets, the Group applies
general approach to measure ECLs based on 12-month
ECLs. However, when there has been a significant
increase in credit risk since origination, the allowance
will be based on the lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the credit risk of a
financial asset has increased significantly since initial
recognition and when estimating ECLs, the Group
considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or
effort. This includes both quantitative and qualitative
information analysis, based on the Group’s historical
experience and informed credit assessment and
including forward-looking information. The Group
assesses whether the credit risk on an exposure has
increased significantly on an individual or collective
basis. For the purposes of a collective evaluation of
impairment, financial instruments are grouped on the
basis of shared credit risk characteristics, such as past
due status and credit risk ratings. The Group presumes
that the credit risk on a financial asset has increased
significantly if it is more than 30 days past due, unless
the Group has reasonable and supportable information
that demonstrate otherwise.

The Group presumes that default does not occur
later than when a financial asset, except for trade
receivables, is 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion is
more appropriate.

Having regard to the industry practice as well as the
financial background of certain customers, the Group
has rebutted the presumptions that trade receivables
are in default when they are more than 90 days past
due having regard to the business cycle of the industry
in which the customers are engaged.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME(E)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(if)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Impairment loss on financial assets and
contract assets (Continued)

The Group recognises an impairment gain or loss
in profit or loss for financial instruments carried at
amortised cost by adjusting their carrying amount
through the use of a loss allowance account. The gross
carrying amount of a financial asset is written off
(either partially or in full) to the extent that there is no
realistic prospect of recovery. This is generally the case
when the Group determines that the debtor does not
have assets or sources of income that could generate
sufficient cash flows to repay the amounts subject to
the write-off. Subsequent recoveries of an asset that
was previously written off are recognised as a reversal
of impairment in profit or loss in the period in which
the recovery occurs.

Financial liabilities

The Group classifies its financial liabilities at amortised
cost. Financial liabilities measured at amortised
cost including trade and other payables and bank
borrowings, are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method. The related
interest expense is recognised in profit or loss.

Gains or losses are recognised in profit or loss when
the liabilities are derecognised as well as through the
amortisation process.

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recorded at the proceeds received, net of direct issue
costs.

Financial guarantee contracts

A financial guarantee contract is a contract that
requires the issuer to make specified payments to
reimburse the holder for a loss it incurs because a
specified debtor fails to make payment when due in
accordance with the original or modified terms of
a debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract
issued by the Group and not designated as at fair
value through profit or loss is recognised initially at
its fair value less transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issue of the financial guarantee
contract. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group
measures the financial guarantee contact at the higher
of: (i) the amount of the loss allowance, being the
ECLs provision measured in accordance with principles
of the accounting policy set out in note 2(h)(ii); and (ii)
the amount initially recognised less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortisation recognised in accordance with
the principles of HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts
with Customers (“HKFRS 15").

Annual Report 2024

2. EREFTHERE @
(h) €@ T A ®)

(1)

(i)

(iv)

(v)

THEER SV EERE
Ei 1S (1)

7R €5 [ Bt 4 8 AR AR 51 BR Y
SRMIABBNABIERG
GREEEAEmMANBERER
HMERRREE ERERER
EAAWEIFRIE  AEEAE
W (BHrR2H) 2 RMEE
HMEEEE - 2B REE LR
EAEBEBETEHALES
EFWARBRAESERHE
SREREBERENESE -
BEfE W B LTS B ER
WE B MR NER AR
ERD o

THEE

AEBEZBHEKAGTERLS
BMEE - REEXAFEZS
BEE(ERES REMEN
REBANBITEE) @ BER
BERARBERMBOLRE
B HENERNBREPER -

ERERIEFERE - A RAER
HBREP  WaEHBEERER
RRER o

BRATA

ARABITZRATARER
AINRR B & 1T AR R W
Z PTG -

HBEREHN

MIBEREHDTIREEITAR
FEAXNIEESBEABER
BEARBEEEHARERERE
5 T HERET SIS AT IR E
HBNRmMERZBRZAH -
HASEETAWIFEERRK
NFEFABROMBERE
W N T ERETHEE
RENERELENRHKUAT
AHER - M iERK  AKH
AT EREREEFEMBE
RE K (VR M sE2(h) () AT
(2 BR R ENTERE
ERERBcBERESR
K ER S FR (ER)
RIBFBY B MELERNF 155
EPE#M Kz ([BBUBERE
g&U%E%J)%E'JﬁE%E’\J%%
8 ©



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(h) Financial instruments (Continued)

(vi) Derecognition

The Group derecognises a financial asset when the
contractual rights to the future cash flows in relation
to the financial asset expire or when the financial
asset has been transferred and the transfer meets the
criteria for derecognition in accordance with HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9").

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the
obligation specified in the relevant contract is
discharged, cancelled or expires.

(i) Recognition of revenue and other income

(i)

Revenue from rendering structuring
engineering works and supply and installation
of building material products

The Group has determined that there are significant
integration of different elements underlying a structural
engineering contract and supply and installation
contract and thus such contracts are considered
to contain only a single performance obligation. In
addition, the Group's performance creates or enhances
an asset that the customer controls as the asset is
created or enhanced. Accordingly, the revenue from
these contracts are recognised over time.

When the outcome of a performance obligation in
the structural engineering contract and supply and
installation contract can be reasonably measured,
contract revenue and the associated contract costs
are recognised over time based on the progress of
the respective contract at the end of the reporting
period. The progress toward complete satisfaction of
the performance obligation of a structural engineering
contract and supply and installation contract is
determined using input method which is measured
by reference to the contract costs incurred to date
as a proportion of the total estimated contract costs.
Contract costs and contract progress are highly
correlated for structural engineering contract and
supply and installation contract.

When the outcome of a performance obligation in
the structural engineering contract and supply and
installation contract cannot be reasonably measured,
revenue is recognised only to the extent of contract
costs incurred that are expected to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME(E)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i) Recognition of revenue and other income
(Continued)

(i)

(if)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Revenue from rendering structuring
engineering works and supply and installation
of building material products (Continued)

Contract modification (i.e. variation order) are
recognised when they are approved by customer.
Generally modification to a structural engineering
contract and supply and installation contract is
not accounted for as a separate contract. Contract
modification is accounted for as if it were a part of
the existing contract and, therefore, form part of a
single performance obligation that is partially satisfied
at the date of the contract modification. The effect
that the contract modification has on the contract
sum and on the Group’s measures of progress towards
complete satisfaction of the performance obligation,
is recognised as an adjustment to revenue (either as
an increase in or a reduction of revenue) at the date
of the contract modification (i.e. the adjustment to
revenue is made on a cumulative catch-up basis). For
approved modifications where a change in price has
not been agreed and other claims, they are accounted
for following the requirements in relation to variable
consideration that the amount of consideration is
estimated to which the Group will be entitled in
exchange for transferring the goods or services to the
customer. The variable consideration is constrained
until it is highly probable that a significant revenue
reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur.

If at any time the costs to complete the contract
are estimated to exceed the remaining amount of
the consideration under the contract, a provision is
recognised in accordance with the accounting policy
for onerous contracts.

Trading of building material products

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised at a point
in time when the goods are delivered to and accepted
by customers, taking into account any sales returns,
discounts and rebates allowed by the Group. There
is generally only one performance obligation. No
element of financing is deemed to exist as the sales
are made with credit terms of 30 days or below, which
is consistent with the market practice.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(i) Recognition of revenue and other income
(Continued)

(iii) Principal versus agent

When another party is involved in providing goods or
services to a customer, the Group determines whether
the nature of its promise is a performance obligation
to provide the specified goods or services itself (i.e.
the Group is a principal) or to arrange for those goods
or services to be provided by the other party (i.e. the
Group is an agent).

The Group is a principal if it controls the specified
goods or service before that goods or service is
transferred to a customer. The Group is an agent if its
performance obligation is to arrange for the provision
of the specified goods or service by another party. In
this case, the Group does not control the specified
goods or service provided by another party before that
goods or service is transferred to the customer. When
the Group acts as a principal, it recognises revenue on
gross basis in exchange for transferring the specified
goods or services to a customer. When the Group acts
as an agent, it recognises revenue on a net basis as
fee or commission to which it expects to be entitled
in exchange for arranging for the specified goods or
services to be provided by the other party.

(iv) Other income

Interest income is recognised as it accrues using
the effective interest method. Interest income on
credit-impaired financial assets is calculated based
on the amortised cost (i.e. gross carrying amount
less loss allowance) of the financial assets. For non
credit-impaired financial assets, interest income is
calculated based on the gross carrying amount.

Rental income under operating leases is recognised on
a straight-line basis over the term of the relevant lease.

(j) Contract balances

Contract assets and liabilities

A contract asset represents the Group’'s right to
consideration in exchange for services that the Group has
transferred to a customer that is not yet unconditional. In
contrast, a receivable represents the Group’s unconditional
right to consideration, i.e. only the passage of time is
required before payment of that consideration is due.

A contract liability represents the Group’s obligation to
transfer services to a customer for which the Group has
received consideration (or an amount of consideration is
due) from the customer.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME(E)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

()]

(k)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Contract balances (Continued)

Contract assets and liabilities (Continued)

Contract assets are recognised when the Group completes
the structural engineering and supply and installation
works under such services contracts which are yet to be
certified by architects, surveyors or other representatives
appointed by customers. Any amount previously recognised
as a contract asset is transferred to trade receivables at the
point at which it has unconditional right to invoice to the
customer. If the considerations received (including advances
received from customers) exceeds the revenue recognised
to date then the Group recognises a contract liability for
the difference.

Retention monies retained by customers to secure for the
due performance of the contracts are contract assets in
nature. When the conditions attached to retention monies
are fulfilled (i.e. at expiry of the defect liability period),
the retention monies are released by customers and such
retention monies have become trade receivables in nature.

Contract assets are assessed for ECLs in accordance with
the policy set out in note 2(h)(ii). Loss allowance for
contract assets is measured at an amount equal to lifetime
ECLs. ECLs on contract assets are estimated collectively
using a provision matrix based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific
to the customers and an assessment of both the current
and forecast general economic conditions at the end of the
reporting period.

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand, demand
deposits and short-term, highly liquid investments with
original maturities of three months or less that are readily
convertible into known amount of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.

For the purpose of presentation in the consolidated
statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include
bank overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form
an integral part of the Group’s cash management.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e KR RME (&)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

0

Income taxes

Income taxes comprise current tax and deferred tax. Income
taxes are recognised in profit or loss.

Current tax is based on the profit or loss from ordinary
activities adjusted for items that are non-assessable or
disallowable for income tax purposes and is calculated
using tax rates that have been enacted or substantively
enacted at the end of the reporting period. The amount of
current tax payable or receivable is the best estimate of the
tax amount expected to be paid or received that reflects
any uncertainty related to income tax.

Deferred tax is recognised in respect of temporary
differences. Except for goodwill and recognised assets
and liabilities that affect neither accounting nor taxable
profits, deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable
temporary differences. Deferred tax assets are recognised
to the extent that it is probable that taxable profits will be
available against which deductible temporary differences
can be utilised. Deferred tax is measured at the tax rates
appropriate to the expected manner in which the carrying
amount of the asset or liability is realised or settled and
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the end
of the reporting period, and reflects any uncertainty related
to income taxes.

An exception to the general requirement on determining
the appropriate tax rate used in measuring deferred tax
amount is when an investment property is carried at fair
value under HKAS 40 Investment Property. Unless the
presumption is rebutted, the deferred tax amounts on
these investment property are measured using the tax rates
that would apply on sale of these investment property at
their carrying amounts at the end of the reporting period.
The presumption is rebutted when the investment property
is depreciable and is held within a business model whose
objective is to consume substantially all the economic
benefits embodied in the property over time, rather than
through sale.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences arising from investments in subsidiaries, except
where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME(E)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(m) Inventories

(n)

(o)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Inventories are initially recognised at cost, and subsequently
at the lower of cost and net realisable value. Cost comprises
all costs of purchase, costs of conversion and other costs
incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. Cost is calculated using the weighted
average method. Net realisable value represents the
estimated selling price in the ordinary course of business
less all estimated costs of completion and the estimated
costs necessary to make the sale.

Foreign currency

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using the exchange rates prevailing at
the dates of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at year-end exchange rates of
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the profit and loss.

For the purpose of preparing the consolidated financial
statements, income and expense items of foreign
operations are translated into the presentation currency of
the Company (i.e. HK$) at the average exchange rates for
the period, unless exchange rates fluctuate significantly
during the period, in which case, the rates approximating
to those ruling when the transactions took place are used.
All assets and liabilities of foreign operations are translated
at the rate ruling at the end of the reporting period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity as
exchange reserve.

Employee benefits

(i) Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are employee benefits
(other than termination benefits) that are expected
to be settled wholly before twelve months after the
end of the annual reporting period in which the
employees render the related service. Short-term
employee benefits are recognised in the period when
the employees render the related service.

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised
when they accrue to employees. A provision is made
for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result
of services rendered by employees up to the end of
the reporting period.

Non-accumulating compensated absences such as sick

leave and maternity leave are not recognised until the
time of leave.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
me Mm% R RHE(R)

2. ERETHERE @

(o) EERF @)
(i) EEEEFEKZE

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o) Employee benefits (Continued)

(i) Defined contribution retirement plans

Retirement benefits to employees are provided through
defined contribution plans. The Group operates a
defined contribution retirement benefit scheme (the
“MPF Scheme"”) under the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance, for all its employees who are
eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme. The MPF
Scheme is administered by independent trustees. Under
the MPF scheme, the employer and its employees are
each required to make contributions to the plan at
5% of the employees’ relevant income, subject to a
cap of monthly relevant income of HK$30,000. The
Group has no further payment obligations once the
contributions have been paid. Contributions to the
MPF Scheme are recognised as an expense in profit or
loss when the services are rendered by the employees.

The employees of the subsidiaries of the Company
which operate in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC") are required to participate in a central pension
scheme (the “Central Pension Scheme”) operated
by the local municipal government. The subsidiaries
are required to make contributions calculated as a
prescribed percentage of the employees’ relevant
wages or income, subject to certain ceilings imposed.
The applicable percentages for the Central Pension
Scheme for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 31
March 2023 are as below:
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2024 2023

—EMF —E=F

Percentage Percentage

Aotk =4

Pension insurance RIRR B 15.00%-16.00%  15.00%-16.00%
Medical insurance B RE 1.50%-5.00% 0.45%-6.20%
Maternity insurance EEHRR 0.50% 0.45%
Unemployment insurance KERR 0.80% 0.70%
Work-related injury insurance TERR 0.14%-1.14% 0.28%-0.49%
Housing provident fund FEAES 5.00%-12.00% 5.00%-12.00%

The Group’s contributions to both the MPF Scheme
and the Central Pension Scheme vest fully and
immediately with the employees. Accordingly, there
are no forfeited contributions under the MPF Scheme
or the Central Pension Scheme which may be used by
the Group to reduce its existing level of contributions
or contributions payable in future years as at and
during each of the years ended 31 March 2024 and
2023.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME(E)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(o)

(p)

(a)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Employee benefits (Continued)

(iii) Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised on the earlier of
when the Group can no longer withdraw the offer
of those benefits and when the Group recognises
restructuring costs involving the payment of
termination benefits.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Goodwill, property, plant and equipment and investments
in subsidiaries are subject to impairment testing.

Goodwill is tested for impairment at least annually,
irrespective of whether there is any indication that they
are impaired. All other assets are tested for impairment
whenever there are indications that the assets’ carrying
amount may not be recoverable.

For the purposes of assessing impairment, where an
asset does not generate cash inflows largely independent
of those from other assets, the recoverable amount is
determined for the smallest group of assets that generate
cash inflows independently (i.e. a cash-generating unit). As
a result, some assets are tested individually for impairment
and some are tested at cash-generating unit level.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for liabilities of uncertain timing
or amount when the Group has a legal or constructive
obligation arising as a result of a past event, which will
probably result in an outflow of economic benefits that can
be reasonably estimated.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic
benefits will be required, or the amount cannot be
estimated reliably, the obligation is disclosed as a
contingent liability, unless the probability of outflow of
economic benefits is remote. Possible obligations, the
existence of which will only be confirmed by the occurrence
or non-occurrence of one or more future events, are also
disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the probability of
outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
me Mm% R RHE(R)

2. ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

(s) Related parties

(a)

A person or a close member of that person’s family is
related to the Group if that person:

(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;

(i) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of key management personnel of the
Group or the Company’s parent.

An entity is related to the Group if any of the
following conditions apply:

(i) The entity and the Group are members of the
same group (which means that each parent,
subsidiary and fellow subsidiary is related to the
others).

(i)  One entity is an associate or joint venture of the
other entity (or an associate or joint venture of a
member of a group of which the other entity is a

member).

Both entities are joint ventures of the same third
party.

One entity is a joint venture of a third entity and
the other entity is an associate of the third entity.

The entity is a post-employment benefit plan for
the benefit of the employees of the Group or an
entity related to the Group.

(vi)

The entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a
person identified in (a).

(vii) A person identified in (a)(i) has significant
influence over the entity or is a member of key
management personnel of the entity (or of a
parent of the entity).

(viii) The entity, or any member of a group of which
it is a part, provides key management personnel
services to the Group or the Group’s parent.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME(E)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRSs 3. AT B LIETEBYMIE

2 % g

(a) Adoption of new and amendments to (a) MR —_ZE=-_=5mWAH—H

HKFRSs - effective on 1 April 2023 LR HE] RSB BB
% & 2 Al

The HKICPA has issued a number of new and amendments
to HKFRS that are relevant to and effective for the current
accounting period of the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 1 and Disclosure of Accounting
HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Policies

Amendments to HKAS 8 Definition of Accounting
Estimates

Deferred Tax related to
Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single
Transaction

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts

Amendments to HKAS 12

Except as disclosed below, the adoption of these new and
revised HKFRSs did not have any material impact on the
Group’s accounting policies or financial results and financial
position.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKFRS Practice
Statement 2 — Disclosure of Accounting Policies

Amendments to HKAS 1 require entities to disclose
their material accounting policy information rather than
their significant accounting policies. Accounting policy
information is material if, when considered together
with other information included in an entity’s financial
statements, it can reasonably be expected to influence
decisions that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS Practice Statement 2 Making
Materiality Judgements provide non-mandatory guidance
on how to apply the concept of materiality to accounting
policy disclosures.

These amendments have no effect on the measurement
or presentation of any items in the consolidated financial
statements of the Group but affect the disclosure of
accounting policies of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRSs

(Continued)

(a) Adoption of new and amendments to

HKFRSs - effective on 1 April 2023 (Continued)

HKFRS 17 — Insurance Contracts (“"HKFRS 17”)

HKFRS 17 defines an insurance contract as a contract under
which the Group accepts significant insurance risk from
another party (the policyholder) by agreeing to compensate
the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event (the
insured event) adversely affects the policyholder.

In October 2020, the HKICPA issued Amendments to HKFRS
17 to address concerns and implementation challenges
that were identified after HKFRS 17 was published. The
amendments defer the date of initial application of HKFRS
17 (incorporating the amendments) to annual reporting
periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023. At the same
time, the HKICPA issued Amendments to HKFRS 4 Extension
of the Temporary Exemption (“HKFRS 4") from HKFRS 9
Financial Instruments (“HKFRS 9”) that extends the fixed
expiry date of the temporary exemption from applying
HKFRS 9 in HKFRS 4 to annual reporting periods beginning
on or after 1 January 2023.

In February 2022, the HKICPA issued Amendment to
HKFRS 17 Initial Application of HKFRS 17 and HKFRS 9
— Comparative Information to address implementation
challenges that were identified after HKFRS 17 was
published. The amendment addresses challenges in the
presentation of comparative information.

Certain contracts entered into by the Group, including
guarantee contracts in respect of the surety bond (note 30)
and assurance-type warranty to customers issued by the
Group, meet the definition of insurance contracts under
HKFRS 17. However, these contracts are specifically scoped
out from HKFRS 17 and the Group continues to account
for these contracts under relevant accounting standards.
Therefore, the application of HKFRS 17 in the current
year had no material impact on the consolidated financial
statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

FERBHRRWE (&)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRSs

(Continued)

(b) New guidance on accountipg implications

of the abolition of the MP

mechanism

In June 2022, the Hong Kong SAR Government gazetted
the Employment and Retirement Schemes Legislation
(Offsetting Arrangement) (Amendment) Ordinance 2022
(the “Amendment Ordinance”), which will come into
effect from 1 May 2025 (the “Transaction Date”). Once
the Amendment Ordinance takes effect, an employer can
no longer use any of the accrued benefits derived from
its mandatory contributions to mandatory provident fund
("MPF") scheme to reduce the long service payment (“LSP")
in respect of an employee’s service from the Transition Date
(the abolition of the “offsetting mechanism’). In addition,
the LSP in respect of the service before the Transition Date
will be calculated based on the employee’s monthly salary
immediately before the Transition Date and the number of

SP offsetting

years of employee’s service up to that date.

Due to the complexities of the accounting for the offsetting
of employer’s MPF contributions and its LSP obligation and
hence the impact arising from the Abolition, in July 2023,
the HKICPA published “Accounting implications of the
abolition of the MPF-LSP offsetting mechanism in Hong
Kong” that provides accounting guidance relating to the
offsetting mechanism and the abolition of the mechanism.

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the
application of the guidance had no material effect on the

consolidated financial statements of the Group.

(c) Amendment to HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective

The following amendment to HKFRSs, potentially relevant
to the Group’s financial statements, have been issued, but
are not yet effective and have not been early adopted by

the Group:

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 1

HK Interpretation 5 (Revised)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and
HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKFRS 16

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current’

Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants'

Presentation of Financial
Statements — Classification by
the Borrower of a Term Loan
that Contains a Repayment on
Demand Clause’

Supplier Finance Arrangements'

Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback’

Annual Report 2024

(c)

MEE MBI ERYH

&2 8 @)

B
=
=4
7l
I_H,
=
513
it
k>
B

K
e
e
~
B
=

T2 o

F R
B I

e ]
1R 2 E4T

B s
F1R 25T

EERBESH
(e ET)

B @R
ETRREA
1 75 8 25 2 B
7% (53]

=BT W
82 165
Z{E8

hu
sy
m

!

=
25
Bl

18
ity
&
A

=

|l
KD b
B

- A 1] 3
i 4 -y S T e

ot
=
3
RS
S
I
A /1

B
3
%
R EH-;
it

ot
(7
=3 N

dm
i3
=

EESH

Nk

i
]
=

XA mi
i g3
ZEOE - AT
3 3 0 M o R R 2 N S

i
Sz
;

i

8

B
DD
5 ||

%H?E»mggt'j_l;\nu

ttH_’:Fm}

~
=
2

16 R
]

o

[l

[E—
~— /I

>

oE
%

g

X 35 25 kb 7

Mt 53 et
H S O

s
- W

i ok

SFE 5 T I
HESH

B

=
il
ik
4'7
o
mE
Ju
o

e
I 4| 1]
o S m

Gl
S

X
W
pall}
—]
o
oF
Piuni]
&
%
it
b=p|
Dff
i
>m
S
=
—

it i
>
g
o 3
SEVL'

i &

I
=5

=
S
5t A

B ZEH - & @

il

5

?

VTR
T

I
=5

Som
=
L

S W IR Y
&

o |

\
/

W DAL S

B i g
X 8 B

£

\
3

s
g

ERELNEE

! R-ZF_MFE—-A—H®k2ERA
B 6 5 B R AR R



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRSs

(Continued)

(c) Amendment to HKFRSs that have been

issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS 7 Supplier
Finance Arrangements

The amendments add a disclosure objective to HKAS 7 Cash
flow statements stating that an entity is required to disclose
information about its supplier finance arrangements that
enables users of financial statements to assess the effects of
those arrangements on the entity’s liabilities and cash flows.
In addition, HKFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures
was amended to add supplier finance arrangements as an
example within the requirements to disclose information
about an entity’s exposure to concentration of liquidity risk.

The term ‘supplier finance arrangements’ is not defined.
Instead, the amendments describe the characteristics of
an arrangement for which an entity would be required to
provide the information. To meet the disclosure objective,
an entity will be required to disclose in aggregate for its
supplier finance arrangements:

—  The terms and conditions of the arrangements;

— The carrying amount and associated line items
presented in the entity’s statement of financial
position, of the liabilities that are part of the
arrangements, and the non-cash changes in the
carrying amounts of these financial liabilities;

— The carrying amount, and associated line items for
which the suppliers have already received payment
from the finance providers;

- Ranges of payment due dates for both those
financial liabilities that are part of a supplier finance
arrangement and comparable trade payables that
are not part of a supplier finance arrangement; and
liquidity risk information

The amendments, which contain specific transition
reliefs for the first annual reporting period in which an
entity applies the amendments, are applicable for annual
reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2024.
Earlier application is permitted but the Group has not done
s0.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME(E)

3. ADOPTION OF NEW OR REVISED HKFRSs

(Continued)

(c) Amendment to HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective (Continued)

The application of the amendments is not expected to
have impact on the financial position or performance of
the Group but may affect the disclosures of liabilities, cash
flows and the Group’s exposure to liquidity risk related
to the supplier finance arrangements entered into by the
Group when it is effective. The impacts of application, if
any, will be disclosed in the Group’s future consolidated
financial statements.

Except as mentioned above, the directors of the Company
anticipate that all of other relevant pronouncements
will be adopted in the Group’s accounting policy for
the first period beginning after the effective date of the
pronouncement. The directors are currently assessing the
possible effect of these new or revised standards on the
Group’s results and financial position in the first year of
application. The new or revised HKFRSs that have been
issued but are not yet effective are unlikely to have material
impact on the Group’s results and financial position upon
application.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, the
directors of the Company are required to make judgments,
estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to be
relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an
ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised
in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision
affects only that period, or in the period of the revision and
future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The estimates and assumptions that have a significant risk of
resulting in a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of
assets and liabilities within the next financial year are as follows:

(i)

Construction contracts

Contract revenue in respect of structuring engineering
works and supply and installation of building material
products is recognised over time by measuring the
progress towards complete satisfaction of the performance
obligation on the basis of the contract costs incurred to
date as a proportion to total estimated contract costs,
which is the input method under HKFRS 15. Contract assets
and contract liabilities are determined based on contract
costs incurred, progress billings, any foreseeable losses and
recognised profit which is also dependent on estimation of
contract costs.

The recognition of contract revenue and contract assets/
contract liabilities requires higher degree of management
judgment and involves estimation uncertainty. Estimated
contract costs of individual contract, which mainly comprise
subcontracting charges, cost of materials and processing
charges and costs of direct labour, are supported by
contract budget which was prepared by the directors of
the Company on the basis of estimated subcontracting
charges, cost of materials and processing charges, and
costs of direct labour based on quotations provided by
subcontractors and suppliers/vendors as well as from the
experience of the directors. In order to ensure that the
total estimated contract costs are accurate and up-to-date
such that contract revenue can be estimated reliably,
management reviews the contract budget, costs incurred to
date and costs to completion regularly, in particular in the
case of costs over-runs, and revises the estimated contract
costs where necessary. For the purpose of updating the
contract budget, the management may request for updated
quotations from counterparties.

Recognition of variations and claims also requires estimation
and judgment by the management, particularly in assessing
whether it is highly probable that a significant reversal in
the amount of revenue recognised will not occur. In this
assessment, management takes into account the up-to-date
exchange with customers and past experience with similar
contracts.

Notwithstanding that the management regularly reviews
and revises contract budgets when those construction
contracts progressed, the actual contract costs and gross
profit margin achieved may be higher or lower than the
estimates and that will affect the revenue and gross profit
recognised in the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME(E)

4. CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

(iif)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Construction contracts (Continued)

Further details of the Group’s contract revenue, contract
assets and contract liabilities are set out in notes 6 and 18
respectively.

Impairment of financial assets and contract assets

The measurement of impairment losses under HKFRS 9
across certain categories of financial assets (i.e. trade
receivables), contract assets and retention receivables
require significant judgment and estimation, in particular,
the estimation of the amount and timing of future cash
flows when determining impairment losses and the
assessment of a significant increase in credit risk. These
estimates are driven by a number of factors, changes in
which can result in different levels of allowances.

At the end of the reporting period, the Group assesses
whether there has been a significant increase in credit
risk for exposures since initial recognition by comparing
the risk of default occurring over the expected life. The
Group considers reasonable and supportable information
that is relevant and available without undue cost or effort
for this purpose. This includes quantitative and qualitative
information and analysis, based on the Group’s historical
experience and existing marketing conditions as well as
forward-looking information.

As at 31 March 2024, the accumulated loss allowance of
contract assets, trade receivables and retention receivables
was HK$1,623,000 (2023: HK$2,519,000), HK$10,435,000
(2023: HK$1,641,000) and HK$5,215,000 (2023:
HK$2,863,000) respectively.

Fair value of investment property

The fair values of the Group’s investment property were
determined by management with reference to valuation
carried out by independent professional valuers. Such
valuations were based on certain assumptions which are
subject to uncertainty and might differ from the actual
results. In making the estimates, management considers
information from current prices in an active market for
similar properties and uses assumptions that are mainly
based on market conditions existing at the valuation date.

Please refer to note 15 for more detailed information

in relation to the fair value measurement of investment
property.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION

(a) Operating segment information

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular internal financial
information reported to the executive directors for their
decisions about resources allocation to the Group’s business
components and for their review of the performance of
those components.

The Group determines its operating segments based on the
reports reviewed by the chief operating decision-maker,
i.e. executive directors of the Company who make strategic
decisions.

The Group has three reportable segments. The segments
are managed separately as each business offers different
products and services and requires different business
strategies. The following summary describes the operations
in each of the Group’s reportable segments:

Structural Engineering - This segment mainly engages
Works in provision of structural
engineering works for the
public and private sectors in
Hong Kong and the Group
mainly acts as a subcontractor.

Supply and Installation — This segment engages in supply
of Building Material of building material products
Products with installation services

provided in Hong Kong.

Trading of Building — This segment mainly engages
Material Products in sales of building material
products to third-party
customers in Hong Kong, the
PRC (other than Hong Kong)
and overseas.

Revenue and costs/expenses are allocated to the operating
segments with reference to sales generated by those
segments and the costs/expenses incurred by those
segments. Corporate income and expenses are not allocated
to the operating segments as they are not included in the
measure of the segments’ profit or loss that is used by the
chief operating decision-marker for assessment of segment
performance.

Segment assets include all assets with the exception of
tax assets and corporate assets, including cash and bank
balances, investment property and other assets that are
not directly attributable to the business activities of the
operating segments as these assets are managed on a
group basis.

BEr#ERERLZ2A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (F)

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued) 5.

(a) Operating segment information (Continued)

Information of the operating segments of the Group
reported to the chief operating decision-maker for
the purposes of resources allocation and performance
assessment does not include liabilities. Accordingly, no
information of segment liabilities is presented.

Segment results, segment assets and other
segment information

Information regarding the Group’s reportable segments
including the reportable segment revenue, segment profit,
segment assets, reconciliations to revenue, profit before
income tax and total assets and other segment information
are as follows:

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

7 EE R )

(a) K& D EEF (@)

AEBRAEIELERRERERD
ERKRBFHEREEDIER
TABEREaE - Attt YE2HD
MEBEZER -

DEPFEAE T ESEEREM
PEEH
ERAASBAZROI2ER B
BAEHmo MW= - 2BEF - 5
HEE - W BRAFGEHRN R
BMEEHERUREMSBER N
T

Supply and
Installation  Trading of
Structural  of Building Building
Engineering Material Material
Works Products Products Total
EEIR H#HERZ# BEEM
T EMER Em et
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THR TR THR
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-_F-#F
ZA=t-HIFE
Segment revenue U E
Sales to external customers HINBEPZHE 616,541 26,938 22,558 666,037
Intersegment sales HEEHEE - 291 522 813
616,541 27,229 23,080 666,850
Elimination of intersegment sales 7 HEHE 2 M (813)
666,037
Segment profit 7 87,718 7,608 7,483 102,809
Corporate and unallocated income PERARDBERA 7,187
Fair value loss on investment property &% 7 A TEEE (294)
Corporate and unallocated expenses ¥R ADEH X
- Marketing and distribution - MBHEER
expenses k=1 b3 (665)
— Administrative and - TREEMEE
other operating expenses* S * (49,810)
~ Finance costs — MR (3,477)
Profit before income tax BR T 15350 A1 A 55,750

Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

RERBEXRME (&)

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (cContinued) 5. 2&E R @)

(a) Operating segment information (Continued)

Segment results, segment assets and other
segment information (Continued)

Supply and
Installation  Trading of
Structural  of Building Building
Engineering Material Material
Works Products Products Tota
HEIRE HELRZE BERM
Tk BMESR Em BEt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET FET FET
Year ended 31 March 2023 BFEF-—FE-=f
ZA=1+—-HIEFE
Segment revenue 7z
Sales to external customers HINBEEZHE 521,065 42,587 4,838 568,490
Intersegment sales DEEHEE - 122 1,539 1,661
521,065 42,709 6,377 570,151
Elimination of intersegment sales DEEEE 2 W (1,661)
568,490
Segment profit 728 F 80,161 14,114 2,253 96,528
Corporate and unallocated income % B ARHEUWA 3,701
Fair value loss on investment BREMEZNTEBRE
property (138)
Corporate and unallocated expenses 7% & k7 BB %
- Marketing and distribution - MGEHEENM
expenses DA X (325)
— Administrative and - THREMEE
other operating expenses* i (52,346)
— Finance costs — BAFS R AN (2,119)
Profit before income tax % B8 5 AR A 45,301

* Administrative and other operating expenses mainly comprise
employee costs, depreciation of right-of-use assets and property,
plant and equipment and legal and professional fees.

B h iR

* TBRREMEERAXTIERERES
KA EREEEARDE BE
RREBOITENEEREXER

!

FER A2 H /4 E 3RS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
me R RME (R)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |
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5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 5. 2MER @0
(a) Operating segment information (Continued) (a) B& D PER (&)
Segment results, segment assets and other DHEE DEEEREM
segment information (Continued) D EBER ()
Supply and
Installation  Trading of
Structural of Building Building
Engineering Material Material
Works Products Products Total
EEIRE MHERRE BEEHEM
I EMEm Em @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THERT THERT THERT THERT
As at 31 March 2024 R-E—-mE
ZA=+-H
Segment assets DEHEE 339,605 4,321 5,493 349,419
Property, plant and equipment ME - BERSE 221
Investment property HEYE 3,913
Tax assets HEEE 744
Cash and bank balances Re MRITHEER 170,231
Other corporate assets HinhEEE 2,105
Total consolidated assets IREBEBE 526,633
Supply and
Installation  Trading of
Structural  of Building Building
Engineering Material Material
Works Products Products Total
HELRE HRERRE BEEEMN
Tk BMER = Bt
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FET FHET FHAT
As at 31 March 2023 R=-ZE=-=#F
=A=+—-H
Segment assets PHEE 342,856 17,867 1,655 362,378
Property, plant and equipment WE - BERRE 185
Investment property ®EYE 4,434
Tax assets REEE 851
Fixed term deposit FHEFER 10,125
Cash and bank balances e RBTES 114,818
Other corporate assets HihEEE 5,185
Total consolidated assets IR BEBE 497,976



5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e KR RME (&)

than deferred tax assets and deposits.

(a) Operating segment information (Continued) (a) B&E 5 HER (1)
Segment results, segment assets and other TEEE  HHEERAM
segment information (Continued) ZEBER ()
Supply and
Installation  Trading of
Structural  of Building Building
Engineering Material Material ~ Corporate/
Works Products Products Unallocated Total
EBIE MHERZE BEEEM ¥/
I EMER Em X2 E @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TERT TER
Year ended 31 March 2024 BE-ZE-_MWE=H
Zt-HUFE

Other information BEMEH
Interest income FEWA - - - 4,010 4,010
Interest expense A S Y - - - 3,477 3,477
Depreciation e 9,148 9 7 126 9,290
(Reversal of provision)/Provision 17 & (& [E 1),/

of allowance for inventories SHRBYE - (15) 22 - 7
Impairment loss on trade BHREKHIEBL

receivables BEEE 8,140 654 - - 8,794
Impairment loss/(reversal of FBRREEZRE

impairment loss) on retention 518,/ (B EIRE)

receivables 2,395 (43) - - 2,352
Reversal of impairment losson ~ AXEEZ HEFR

contract assets o (874) (22) s = (896)
Additions to specified RERTEIERY

non-current assets* BEt 10,831 10 8 - 10,849
Year ended 31 March 2023 BFE-ZF-=f#£=4

ET-HUFE

Other information BEMEH
Interest income MEMA = = = 718 718
Interest expense MERX = = = 2,119 2,119
Depreciation E 8,635 16 2 (AN 8,764
Provision of allowance for FEHREE

inventories - 2 93 - 95
Impairment loss on trade BHRRRIEL

receivables BEBRE 492 85 = = 577
Impairment loss on retention BRRE 2 RE

receivables &8 770 21 - - 791
Impairment loss on contract BREERE

assets B8 904 16 = = 920
Additions to specified RERTIHERE

non-current assets* EE 3,189 - - 982 4171
& Specific non-current assets represent non-current assets other 5 BEERDEERREEMNBEE

RBEIHERDEE ©

BhERERL2T

/4 E 3RS

[l
A
I\
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (F)

5. SEGMENT INFORMATION (continued)

(b) Geographical segment information

(c)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

The Company is an investment holding company and the
principal place of the Group's operations are in Hong Kong.
For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group's
revenue was derived from the activities in Hong Kong (place
by domicile).

An analysis of the Group's specified non-current assets,
excluding deferred tax assets, and deposits, by geographical

5.

7 EE R )
(b) HE D ZHPE R
KRB A—REEER AT MA

$EMEE%

53 BE T AL B o
THER-FE_=F= H

E+ BIEFE  ARENKS
KRB (REER)ED-

REBIREETRIMEETENSTE
FRBEE (MRETHEEE R

locations, determined based on physical location of the RE)RMIBUBEI DD
assets is as follows:

2024 2023
—E-NF —EZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAT
Hong Kong B 5,522 9,526
The PRC A 13,863 9,097
19,385 18,623

Information about major customers (c) ERETEEZEFRFZ2EHR

Revenue from major customers, each of them accounted for

BERNEBWEI0%IALNEE

10% or more of the Group's revenue, are set out below: EPMENT

2024 2023
—E-mEF —F-=

HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Customer A ZEA 376,726 290,331
Customer B ZFEB 103,332 102,233
Revenue from both Customer A and Customer B for the HE ST _NWERKR_-_ZET-_=%=AH1

years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 were generated
for the Structural Engineering Works and Supply and
Installation of Building Material Products segments.

Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

REVENUE

The Group is principally engaged in (i) provision of structural
engineering works; (i) supply and installation of building
material products; and (iii) trading of building material products.

GERBHRRME (F)

6. W=

AEEE 2R BREEBITRITE (i)
HEELZERMER ' Ri)EEREM
Em - WHENRELFEERH LB

Revenue derived from these principal activities comprises the AR &I -
following:
2024 2023
ZEZMF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Revenue from contracts with customers HFFE &KW
Revenue recognised over time: BE B A RR 2 W &
— Structural engineering works — EBIRI%E 616,541 521,065
- Supply and installation of — HERTEEME R
building material products 26,938 42,587
Revenue recognised at a point in time: RSB 2 W
- Trading of building material products — BEEEMESR 22,558 4,838
666,037 568,490

Revenue expected to be recognised in the future arising from
the provision of construction works, which represents the
aggregate amount of the consideration the Group is entitled
allocated to the remaining performance obligations under the
Group's contracts of construction works existed at the end of
the reporting period, is summarised as follows:

B R ARRERNERERETREES
Mles - IASEAESHNKERED
ETFTASEERSPRFENRZETRE
BRRBHBHERET - ST

2024 2023
—E-NEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FHET
Amounts expected to be recognised BHRERANGENEE
as revenue
— Within one year - —FR 820,461 1,081,517
— After one year — —F% 78,064 62,509
Total @t 898,525 1,144,026

The Group will recognise the expected revenue arising from its
existing contracts of construction work in future as the project
work is progressed, which is expected to occur over the next 1
to 34 months (2023: 1 to 27 months).

The Group has applied the practical expedient to its sales
contracts for trading of building material products and therefore
the above information does not include revenue that the Group
will be entitled to when it satisfies the remaining performance
obligation under the contracts for trading of building material
products that had an original expected duration of one year or
less.

AEBEKBEEEE TENER GRS
ERR—Z2=1tHEAA(ZT=_=%:
—E2E-_t+EER) ABL) EAKRAR
BRETREANNTAER S -

AEBEEHESEMERNHEEANE
REREE DL At AERAETE
BRAEBERTREFHERER —F
FERBEEBEZMERS KA TH R
BHR TR B RER MRS -

BEr#ERERLZ2A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mERBHERWE(F)

7. OTHER INCOME 7. Hftlg A

2024 2023
“ENEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Bank interest income RITH B U A 4,010 718
Rental income He WA 170 180
Government grants (note) RS Bh (A7) 60 2,140

Gain on disposal of property, plant and HEME  BEREKEZ WS
equipment 43 =
Gain on exchange difference PE 5 2= 1,894 -
Write-back of trade and retention payables [0 8 5 ENZENMEMNRE S 182 457

Reversal of provision for BoORHARB G

long service payment 644 =
Others HAth 184 206
7,187 3,701

Note: Kt -

For the year ended 31 March 2024, there is no government grants obtained
from the Employment Support Scheme under the Anti-epidemic Fund which
is launched by the Hong Kong SAR Government for supporting the payroll of

the Group’s employees (2023: HK$2,064,000).

The amount of HK$60,000 recognised for the year ended 31 March
2024 mainly represented the subsidy which was obtained from the PRC
government as maternity benefits to compensate the maternity leave pay of
the staff. There is no subsidy granted aims to relief the impact of outbreak of
COVID-19 for small-medium size enterprises (2023: HK$76,000). The Group
does not have other unfulfilled obligations relating to these programs.

8. FINANCE COSTS

REBEE-_E_WNF=ZA=+—HLLEE HE
BEARBERFHENEES THHNRME]
STEEBSEHE Ui AEEI N EED

He (T =4 :2,064,000/87T) °

8. BAERA

REBEE-_Z_ME=-ZA=+—HLFEERHN
60,0008 TEERETFERNAFMEEIER
TEmMREMNEREBHHEE -BERLEER
2019 M S HREBHP PO ENFHI
(ZE == : 76,000/ 7T) - N5 BB & 5L 3%
LB BEMERENDET -

2024 2023

—E-NE —E =4

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FET

Interest on bank borrowings SRITRERF A 3,021 1,776
Interest on lease liabilities (note 22(a)) HEBGERE (Wit22(a) 447 343
Others H A 9 -
3,477 2,119

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |
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PROFIT BEFORE INCOME TAX

Profit before income tax is arrived at after charging/(crediting)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e KR RME (&)

9. BRFETSH AR A
B ERAENENBR S GEA) LT

the following: BIEEER :
2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Auditor’s remuneration ZER B & 750 740
Cost of inventories recognised as expense BRAERINFERAE
— Carrying amount of inventories — EfANEEREE
consumed 189,273 178,127
— Provision of allowance for inventories — FTIRGEERG 7 95
189,280 178,222
Depreciation charge: EBANLTEEZNE :
Right-of-use assets included in property, RIATHERNYE  BE R
plant and equipment under the REBETZERREAE
following categories:
— Other properties leased for own use — HEmEEERME 7,213 6,800
- Motor vehicles — A - 215
Other property, plant and equipment Hibz  WEMEE 2,077 1,749
9,290 8,764
Employee costs (including directors’ EBEXRN(BIEESTHE)
emoluments (note 11(a))) (Kiat11(a@))
— Salaries, allowances and other benefits — 54  EMEKEMET 75,510 68,625
— Contributions to defined contribution — REHFENREIHE R
retirement plans (note) (Htat) 4,540 4,512
80,050 73,137
Exchange (gain)/loss, net PE 3 (W), B518 - JF 8 (1,894) 8,489
Short-term leases expenses EHEERX 558 807

Note:

G

For the year ended 31 March 2024, no forfeited contribution in respect of
the defined contribution retirement plans were utilised by the Group to
reduce the contribution payable to the plans (2023: nil). As at 31 March
2024, no forfeited contribution under these plans is available to reduce
future contribution (2023: nil).

BhERERL2T

BHE_Z_WNE=A=+—HUIFE X5H
15048 ) PR 7 B SR E ( OR PR T B A0 0% e i TR
PEZEFTENENER (T =5 E) -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME(E)

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE

The amount of income tax expense in the consolidated R rEWRERAZAEHRAY %
statement of comprehensive income represents: =]
2024 2023
—EQNE —F=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Current tax for the year NG BNHEA R 18
- Hong Kong Profits Tax — BBMEH 8,644 6,270
— Other regions of the PRC — PR E MR -GN
— Enterprise Income Tax (“EIT") ([ EHRI 1,488 980
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEBRBEREE (454) (48)
9,678 7,202
Deferred tax (note 24) RIERIA (Hf7724) (306) 952
9,372 8,154
Hong Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% (2023: 16.5%) on ENCTEE: fﬁﬂﬁiﬁif%ﬁfﬁﬁmﬂ
the estimated assessable profits for the year. 165% (ZE-=F : 16.5%) T &
The Group is subject to Hong Kong Profits Tax under the ZIXEE,,\&W&&W SHHE/MANETER
two-tiered profits tax rates regime. For the years ended 31 B -EHZE —HNFERZEZ=F=

March 2024 and 2023, the first HK$2 million of profits of
qualifying entities will be taxed at 8.25% whereas profits above
HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%. The profits of group
entities not qualifying for the two-tiered tax rates regime will
continue to be taxed at a flat rate of 16.5% on their estimated
assessable profits.

For the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group’s PRC
subsidiaries were eligible to be classified as small enterprise by
the local bureau and the corresponding assessable profits are
taxed at progressive rate. The first Renminbi (“"RMB") 1,000,000
assessable profit is taxed at 2.5% and 5% (2023: 2.5% and
5%) and assessable profit above RMB1,000,000 but less than
RMB3,000,000 is taxed at 5% (2023: 5%). EIT arising from
other regions of the PRC is calculated at 25% on the estimated
assessable profits.

For the year ended 31 March 2024, pursuant to the relevant tax
rules and regulations in the PRC, the Group’s subsidiaries fulfill
the requirement of small low-profit business and are entitled to
additional tax deduction at 40%.

KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e KR RME (&)

10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 10. Fr 15 B B X (a0
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to AEEMMERBAS AIEESZ2E RS
profit before income tax in the consolidated statement of RPHBRATEHRATE R EERDN T ¢
comprehensive income as follows:
2024 2023
—E-WEF —E_=F
HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FHT
Profit before income tax bR P15 25 A A 55,750 45,301
Tax calculated at rates applicable to HERREWAEEERZ
profits in the jurisdictions concerned B REFHE 2 HIA 9,729 8,142
Effect on adoption of two-tiered MM BFEHERGE 2
profits tax regime T (165) (165)
Tax effect of revenue not taxable for tax DERMBE 2 RIGE
purposes (1,450) (529)
Tax effect of expenses not deductible for tax NA] HIFi B % 2 T IS &
purposes 2,017 919
Tax effect of temporary differences not AER 2 EHMEERE Y
recognised MBee (34) 33
Tax effect on utilisation of tax loss &) A LE?EEE R IEE R 2
previously not recognised TR & - (198)
Income tax at concessionary rate BREEMRBNOFTER (271) =
Over-provision in respect of prior years BEFEBEREG (454) (48)
Income tax expense FTSHF X 9,372 8,154

B hEKREIRAIF CTE-_NEERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (F)

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS, FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’'S EMOLUMENTS

MNEBEEMME  AERSHMA

TUREREEEME

(a) Directors’ emoluments (a) EEE &
Directors’ emoluments are disclosed as follows: BEEMEeHWEOT :
Salaries,
allowances Pension
and other Discretionary scheme
Fees benefits bonus contribution Total
¢ RER BiRe
e HiER B4 FTEIMR @t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TAT THER TR TER
Year ended 31 March 2024 HZ-ZF-WNE=A
=t+-HLEE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Wai Yat Kin (“Mr. Wai") ZEHRE%&4
([&%%)) - 3,628 4,000 18 7,646
Mr. Yip Pak Hung (“Mr. Yip") L4
ES A - 3,628 4,000 18 7,646
Independent non-executive BV HHTEE
directors
Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy REZaL 240 - - - 240
Mr. Lam Chi Wai, Peter MEELLE 240 . _ _ 240
Dr. Yeung Kit Ming BERAEL 240 - - - 240
Total @zt 720 7,256 8,000 36 16,012
Year ended 31 March 2023 HE-Z-=%=8
Et-RALFE
Executive directors HITEE
Mr. Wai BRAE S 3,204 2,300 18 5,522
Mr. Yip ik - 3,204 2,300 18 5,522
Independent non-executive BV HHTEE
directors
Ms. Lai Pik Chi, Peggy REZHL 240 - - - 240
Mr. Lam Chi Wai, Peter WERLE 240 - - - 240
Dr. Yeung Kit Ming BRAEEL 240 - - - 240
Total “=t 720 6,408 4,600 36 11,764
Note: /)(/752- .

No directors waived or agreed to waive any emoluments in the current

year and in prior year.

No emolument was paid by the Group to any of the directors as an
inducement to join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation of

loss of office in the current year and in prior year.

The discretionary bonus is determined with reference to the

performance of each director of the Group.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

11. DIRECTORS’ EMOLUMENTS, FIVE
HIGHEST PAID INDIVIDUALS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT’S EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Five highest paid individuals

The five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in
the Group for the year ended 31 March 2024 included two
(2023: two) directors whose emoluments are included in
the analysis presented in note (a) above. The emoluments
payable to the remaining three (2023: three) highest paid
individuals for the years ended 31 March 2024 and 2023

RERBEXRME (&)

MNEESHES ABEEFHMA
TUREREEEM S @

(b) EEZEHFMAL

BE_T_MFE=-_A=+t—HLLHF
B AEERERSHTMHALTHE
EME (T _=F - MRB)ES
(KB &2 A £ XK )£§IJ2
SHHR) BE-F-MER—

—=F=R=1— EIJJ:EFFH‘?E

are as follows: BB (ZEZ=F  =ZR) &=
FMALTZAOMeOT -

2024 2023
—E-NF —T-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FAET
Salaries, allowances and other benefits e EUMREMBEFR 3,247 2,978
Discretionary bonus E’J TBIELL 1,291 1,384
Contribution to pension scheme RRE R 103 93
4,641 4,455

Their emoluments were within the following bands: WEMESHANF AT &EE
2024 2023
ZENEF —E=F
Number of Number of
individuals individuals
A8 AE
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7T 21,500,000/ 7T 2 2
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001 7L 2,000,000 T 1 1
No emolument was paid by the Group to any of the RAFENBAEFE  AEBRWE
non-director highest paid individuals as an inducement to RERIEE E & FHMA T AT

join or upon joining the Group, or as compensation for loss
of office in the current year and in prior year.

(c) Senior management’s emoluments

Emoluments paid or payable to members of senior
management who are not directors were within the
following bands:

A< - (ER RN AKREB S
AR B 7 SR SAF BRI E
(c) SREEEME

MEEUAIINRREEEK B X
FENOMEN FIATEHE :

2024 2023

—E_EF =4

Number of Number of

individuals individuals

AE AEL

HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001% 7L £1,500,0007% 7T 1 1
HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000 1,500,001/ 7T £2,000,0007% 7T 1 1
B hEKREIRAIF —E-_MEERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
me R RME (R)

12. DIVIDENDS 12. R E
(a) Dividends payable to owners of the (a) AEEREEFEATES
Company attributable to the year ARE
2024 2023
—EBDNF —ET=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Proposed final dividend B AHKRE 22,277 16,708
Proposed special dividend EEFNRE 22,277 =
44,554 16,708

Note:

The final dividend and special dividend in respect of the financial
year ended 31 March 2024 of HK4.0 cents (2023: HK3.0 cents) and
HK4.0 cents (2023: nil) per ordinary share respectively, amounting to
HK$22,277,000 (2023: HK$16,707,900) and HK$22,277,000 (2023:
nil) respectively have been proposed by the directors of the Company
and are subject to approval by the shareholders of the Company in the

forthcoming annual general meeting.

Those dividends declared subsequent to 31 March 2023 and 2024
have not been recognised as a liability as at 31 March 2023 and 2024

respectively.

(b) Dividends payable to owners of the (b)

Company attributable to the previous
financial year, approved and paid during the

year

EE

ARBEETEZHE-_ZT-_MNF=A
:+ A I8 B F AR B AR
DR AGREBRLOBIW(ZE==
¢ 3 o%ﬂh) R40BEMNM (ZT=Z=4:
M) DRIE 22,277,000 T (ZE ==
F 16 707,900/ 7T) 22,277,000 7T
(Z2Z=F: &)  HASKARARER
EEBRRBFEASG EHEERTAESR -

R-E-_=ZFR_ZT_MNF=ZA=+—H
BERNZEREBDAIRTZ=FR=
T-ME=ZA=+—-BREERAERE-

Final dividends in respect of previous
financial year, approved and paid
during the year of HK3.0 cents

(2023: HK1.5 cents) per ordinary share

REZDHEREMBE
MBFEEREBK
3.0 (=T ==%F:
1.57l) 2 REIBE

AEEOHERCHTBEN

BEEEGEZ2ESKRATH
BEARE

2024 2023

—EMF —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FAT

16,708 9,000

KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e KR RME (&)

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE 13.8R &R
The calculation of basic earnings per share is based on the BREREBFTIER A TNSEE -
following data:
2024 2023
—E_ME —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Earnings BR
Profit for the year attributable to owners ZAN/NSIEZ S N RS b
of the Company 46,378 37,147
2024 2023
—E-_ME —E=-=
‘000 '000
TR TR
Weighted average number of ordinary B ETEEBERNMEFLHIH
shares in issue
Weighted average number of ordinary shares &2 %17 &% 38 A% &9 hn#E 7 15 8
in issue during the year 556,930 591,386
Diluted earnings per share are same as the basic earnings HRAEENBAEETEFAAER
per share as there are no dilutive potential ordinary shares in MEEENLEE  WEREER N E
existence during the year or in prior year. FRERBZFIAER -

!

BhERERL2T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHRRME (F)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Right-of-use-assets (note)

14.9% BERKXE

EREEE )
Other
properties
leased for  Leased motor Leasehold Plantand  Furniture and Office Computer
own use vehicles improvements  machineries fitures  equipment  equipment Motor vehicles Total
HBE BE il
BRI hE D¥%E  BEREE  BAREE  BOERE ERRE bt it
HKS'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS000 HKS'000 HKS000 HKS'000
TAn TEL T Thn TR TR ThL TR TR
At1 April 2022 i Juk Sl 31 R
Cost A 33,884 2,548 3127 2,615 331 1,253 5,58 4,762 57,145
Accumulated ZithE
depreciation (21,055) (1,135 3114 (904) (3,167) (1.202) (3572) (4311) (38.480)
Net carrying amount B3 12829 1413 13 1711 0 3 2013 51 18,665
Year ended HE-B-ZFZ)
31 March 2023 St-BLEE
Eichange adjustment B3 2% (n) - - (127) - ) (74) ) 482)
Additions HE 3189 - 3 155 34 48 494 218 4m
Depreciation nE (6,800) (215) 21 (279 (127) 2) (783) (517) (8,764)
Write-off s = = = = e e 2 e Y]
Transfer 85 = (715) = = S = 5 75 =
Closing net carrying I RBEFE
amount 8,947 483 25 1460 m 5 1,648 858 13,588
At 31 March 2023 RZB-ZE=ZR
=t-
Cost A 36,802 1,074 3,146 2,574 3,405 1,298 5,915 5,308 59,522
Accumulated BitfE
depreciation (27,855) (591) (3,121) (1,114) (3,294) (1.242) (4,267) (4.450) (45,934)
Net carrying amount ~ BEFE 8,947 483 25 1,460 M 56 1,648 858 13,588
Year ended HE-Z-ME=R
31 March 2024 St-BLEE
Eichange adjustment B3 B (183) - - (18) - (1 (35) n (264)
Additions RE 8,217 - 15 1,037 36 5 979 560 10,849
Depreciation i (1213) - (14) (313) (97) 23 (804) (816) (9,290)
Transfer a5 = (483) - - - - - 483 -
Disposal HE - - - - - - - (12) (12)
Closingnet carrying ~ HRBAFE
amount 9,808 - 2 2,0% 50 3 1,788 1,066 14,871
At3IMarch204  H-F-RE
=B=t-H
Cost A 35,721 - 2,988 3474 344 1,301 6,808 5,926 59,665
Accumulated ZithE
depreciation (25,919) - (2,962) (1,378) (3,391) (1,264) (5,020) (4,860) (44,794)
Net carrying amount ~ REF(E 9,808 - 2 2,09 50 3 1,788 1,066 14,871

KPa-BM Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (continued)

15.

RERBEXRME (&)

14.9% BERRE@

Note: Btaz -
The analysis of the net book value of right-of-use assets by class of underlying FRAEEERABEERNESPNEEEED
asset is as follows: T :
2024 2023
—EC-ME —T_=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Other properties leased for own use, HEFEERZ MY
carried at depreciated cost BT ER AR 9,808 8,947
Motor vehicles, carried at depreciated cost A R ER AR - 483
9,808 9,430
INVESTMENT PROPERTY 15. R EWE
2024 2023
—F-MmF —E_=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FET FET
Fair value NEE
At the beginning of the reporting period R ERES B4 4,434 4,941
Change in fair value (note (a)) N EES (M itaE) (294) (138)
Exchange adjustment [ 5, 38 & (227) (369)
At the end of the reporting period REREHR 3,913 4,434

Notes:

(a)

(b)

The fair values of investment property as at 31 March 2024 and 2023
are level 3 recurring fair value measurement. There is no transfer into
or out of level 3 measurement during the year.

The fair value loss arising from remeasurement of the investment
property for the year ended 31 March 2024 amounting to HK$294,000
(2023: HK$138,000) represented an unrealised loss relating to those
investment property as at 31 March 2024.

The fair values of the Group’s investment property as at 31 March
2024 and 2023 were determined by the directors with reference
to the valuation carried out by RHL Appraisal Limited, which is an
independent firm of professionally qualified valuers and has appropriate
qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of similar
properties in nearby location.

BhERERL2T

Bt

(a)

BEMER _Z_MER_T_=F=A8
=+ —HNATEBEIRLEEEAFE
R -FAMEE A ANELEIRAFE

i

BE-_ZT_-_WAE=ZA=+—HLEE
BN EREMENELANATEER
/294,000 7t (—Z =& — = 4 : 138,000/
) RER-_ZE-_WNE=ZA=Z+—H8A
BIREMENRERES -

AEBNBREMER_T_NFR_T
—=HEZA=+—BZAFEIHEEZ
EBYHEGBEMARXMNTIEREBES
RRAREITHEETE ZB LB EGER
AR EEEER SR ETEM
A EEUMEEBE LR -

il

/4 E 3RS

[l
A
[l
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

o)

15.

16.

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

M mERMNE (F)

INVESTMENT PROPERTY (continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(c) Below is a summary of the valuation technique used and the key inputs
to the valuation.

Property Location  Valuation Unobservable inputs
technique
LES B RERT FOBR@AUSE
Commercial premise  The PRC Comparison Premium/Discount to the unit
method selling price per unit of market

comparables, taking into account
differences such as size, character
and location, etc.

BENE H WRE BEUMGAIELENE  ELER

BE/UR BEEAE  ERR
WEERAEER

The fair value measurement is based on the highest and best use of the
investment property, which does not differ from their actual use.

Under comparison method, fair value is estimated by comparison
based on prices realised or market prices of comparable properties.
Comparable properties of similar size, character and location are
analysed and carefully weighed against all the respective advantages
and disadvantages of each property in order to arrive at a fair
comparison of capital values.

(d)  The investment property is leased to a third party under operating lease
to earn rental income, further details of which are included in note

15. REYE @)

Hiat : (&)

(0

Range of unobservable
TUBRUAREEE

2024:-10% to 10%
(2023: -20% to 10%)

—ZE-ME:

(=

T REEMANGEERTEE2HARK
ERE

Relationship of unobservable
inputs to fair value

ARG ABBRATENEE

inputs

The higher the premium/discount,
the higher/lower the fair value

W/ SRAS  ATESS,/ HE
-10%%£10%

To=F:

-20%%10%)

RFEFEDNRREVEZERSEERER
ER® (RERMBEER)FE -

BRBLEE  RAFETDUERATELLRY
KEZBRBERIMEILBETHE - 5
BEWMEZMBESBEMRRE - DT R
FHRGEEE  ERIOBEBLZ AR
WE  UHEEREEETAFLEK -

REWERBLLEHELRBETE =77
RIVEES WA - BRE— SR BEENME

22(b). 22(b) °

GOODWILL 16. ;&
2024 2023
—E-ME =
HK$'000 HK$OOO
FET FET

At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 and RZZFEZ_ZFMA—AH-
31 March 2024 —E-=FZRA=+—HK

—E-mWF=A=+—H 601 601

The amount of goodwill at the end of the reporting period is
allocated to the cash-generating unit which is the segment of
“Structural engineering works” and is tested for impairment by
the management by estimating the recoverable amount of this
cash-generating unit based on value-in-use calculations. The
calculation comprise cash flow projections based on the financial
budgets approved by the management. The period covered
by the financial budgets is two years. Cash flows beyond the
two-year period are extrapolated using an estimated growth
rate of 2% (2023: 2%). Based on the results of the impairment
testing, management determines that there is no impairment in
respect of this cash-generating unit.

Annual Report 2024
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EHRRNBESBROEI[EET
I i
BEEEREBERBETEEAAZA
AR AU B 2 5R - EATRE R

ﬁ cZATEBRENEEBEHLNIMB

BENRSRETRR - MBEREMRE
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16.

17.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GOODWILL (continued)

Key assumptions used by the management in the value-in-use
calculations of this cash-generating unit include:

RERBEXRME (&)

16. HE @)

EREEAZRASELEMNERERER
BETHANIERRERE:

2024 2023

—E-NF —E=F

Discount rate (pre-tax) &k T2 BT IR X 9.7% 12.2%
Gross profit margin E R = 10.0%-13.0% 11.0%-13.5%

These assumptions have been determined based on past
performance and management'’s expectations in respect of
the market conditions and economy which have impact on the
business in which this cash-generating unit is engaged. Revenue
are forecasted with reference to the progress towards complete
satisfaction of the performance obligation of the awarded
projects, which is estimated with reference to the expected work
schedule requirements and duration of the projects. Gross profit
margin is forecasted based on the gross profit margin achieved
in prior year adjusted for the expected change in market
conditions and taking into account the revenue and cost budget
of individual structural engineering project. The pre-tax discount
rate used reflects the specific risks relating to the business and
industry in which this cash-generating unit is engaged.

ZEBRRERBBERBANEEE
HZRCEEBUMPMEBEMTE
ML R AR 2 TREAMEEE - Wk JH R
2EEHEERBITREBBRHNREN
EE (ZERTZ2RIAB MBI FE
RBERKEHR MG MIBR - EF =R
DRBBEFEMEINNENRLRE
MRAZ MBS ELAE  UREEE
BRI &R Ti2E B Wl s kK ATEEM
1B RO TEOR] o BT 2 BR TR BT 4T 3R R [ R
ERZRSELBUMPIREBRITE
B 45 TE R

INVENTORIES 17. 78
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Raw materials and supplies R R R 4 FE @ 6,072 5,736
Work-in-progress EEE 1,436 7,412
Finished goods SURK Gh 7,418 4,557
14,926 17,705

BhERERL2T



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME(E)

18. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES 18. 8 EE AWEE

(a) Terms and arrangements of construction (a)
services

The Group’s structural engineering contracts and supply
and installation of building material products contracts
include payment schedules which require stage payments
over the contract period once milestones are reached.
These payment schedules prevent the build-up of significant
contract assets. When the revenue recognised exceeds the
milestone payments, the Group recognises contract assets
for the difference.

Contract assets arising from these unbilled revenue
represent a right to consideration from the customers
in exchange of the services transferred to the customers
when that right is subject to conditions other than solely
the passage of time. Upon the completed services being
accepted by the customers, the amounts recognised as
contract assets on unbilled revenue are reclassified to trade
receivables.

When the milestone payments exceeds the revenue
recognised to date, the Group recognises contract liabilities
for the difference.

Details of the contract assets of the Group are set out in
notes 18(b).

BERBNRARRZ 5

AEBNEBIRESOUREER
REEMEMANBRERGOEA
2 B B AR R 0y 78 5 BN SR A0 5 SR B
Rx - R EFNREERD LEEE
REMEE -BECHERUDBEEE
RN R NREBEREEERE

REARBRRSELNANEE
LA E PR RS 7 & P YR
RABAVRER - % 4 ) 2R 2B [ 4
BN IR FAIR » B TR R
BEPEM®E  BHARMERDER
RENBEENSEEFNIEEZES
e U FRIR -

EERBNFERLESEEAH
=i AEEREEEREORE -

AEBZANEEFBHENKE
18(b) °

(b) Contract assets (b) EHNEE

2024 2023
—ESE-E —E =%
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET

Contract assets arising from: REUNTEENEGHNEE
— Structural engineering works —EEIRIE 46,591 112,664

- Supply and installation of —RENTEEMER

building material products 430 3,258
47,021 115,922
Less: Loss allowance o BT iR B (1,623) (2,519)
45,398 113,403
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18. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES

(Continued)

(b) Contract assets (Continued)

(c)

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for contract
assets at the end of the reporting period is as follows:

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
e KR RME (&)

(b) EHEE @)

RBEHPRZE
ZEHREEET

18. 6 EBE SHNEFEm

MEER D REEB

2024 2023
—E_NF —E-=F
HK$’000 HK$'000
FE T FAT
Within one year —F R 44,299 41,581
More than one year and less than two years #2838 — 4 M T B8 & 2,722 74,341
47,021 115,922

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of BB ERBZEBEESEIMT -

contract assets are as follows:

2024 2023
—E-NF —E=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
At the beginning of the reporting period A ¥R & HE AT 2,519 1,599
(Reversal)/Provision of impairment loss B E R (BE),/BiE (896) 920
At the end of the reporting period A== N 1,623 2,519

The Group recognises impairment allowance on contract
assets based on the accounting policies set out in note 2(h) 126
(ii). Further details of the Group’s credit policy and credit

REREHK

AN &= BAR BR i SE2(h)(ii) Pt 19 & &1
OB ENBERE - &
SENEERRRENEEEL

risk arising from contract assets are set out in note 35(a). WNEZEREZEZHEEHAWT
35(a) °
Contract liabilities (c) EHERE
2024 2023
—E-MEF —_E-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHT
Contract liabilities arising from: RKEULTAEzEHEE:
- Structural engineering works —EEITIREIE 57,439 49,264
- Supply and installation of —HERTEENE®D
building material products 3,104 4,940
— Trading of building material products —EEEMER 15,841 1,309
76,384 55,513
B h#ERAEIIRAAA —E-_MEERS
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
me R RME (R)

18. CONTRACT ASSETS/CONTRACT LIABILITIES 18. 8 EE EHNEBW
(Continued)

(c) Contract liabilities (Continued) (c) EHEREm
The movements in contract liabilities are as follows: EHABZEHIMT :
2024 2023
—E-NE —ET-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET
At the beginning of the reporting period R & BRI HT 55,513 27,836

Decrease in contract liabilities as a result of HRERNERW TS 2
recognising revenue during the year that aREERIBHEEA

was included in the contract liabilities at FUENEE

the beginning of the year (16,183) (22,197)
Increase in contract liabilities as a result of FRRERNBAHIZRE

billing in advance during the year < 2 & Q& EE N 37,054 49,874
At the end of the reporting period R EHR 76,384 55,513

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS 19.BEZ R HMEWIE B L

AND PREPAYMENTS RAEARE
2024 2023
—E-_NEF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Trade receivables B 5 W RIE 145,382 97,150
Less: loss allowance B R (10,435) (1,641)
Trade receivables, net (note (a)) B 5 W s F 58 (M5t a)) 134,947 95,509
Retention receivables W IREE & 103,329 104,270
Less: loss allowance B E s (5.215) (2,863)
Retention receivables, net (note (b)) FEUAR B8 & 558 (K752 b)) 98,114 101,407
Other receivables (note (c)) H b & WERIE (B 32 (c)) 35,668 9,723
Deposits (note (c)) Be (M) 1,898 2,326
Prepayments TE IR 5,322 13,486
42,888 25,535

Less: non-current portion — deposits B EREBHA D D

(note (c)) (H7E(c)) (156) (1,787)
Current portion MBI 275,793 220,664
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Notes:

(a)

Trade receivables

The Group normally allows a credit period of 30 and 60 days to its
customers for provision of construction works and trading of building
material products respectively.

The ageing analysis of the trade receivables (net of loss allowance),
based on invoice date, as at the end of the reporting period is as
follows:

RERBEXRME (&)

19.E5REMEWRRKIE - #E
& FE A FOE )

(a)

B 5 R IR
AEESRREREERTREREEENE
mAEFPREZEEH RN F30E60R -

RIBEER - B 5 RUER (R E B
B REZHHOREONAT :

2024 2023

—EB-MOF —T_=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FHET

0 - 30 days 0%30H 114,490 41,661
31 - 60 days 31%60H 12,747 35,052
61 — 90 days 61%290H 122 1,167
Over 90 days #3390 H 7,588 17,629
134,947 95,509

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

BHREFEREBEREZHOT

2024 2023

—E-MF —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHT FHET

At the beginning of the reporting period R &G H 1,641 1,064
Provision of impairment loss BB B 18 B 8,794 577
At the end of the reporting period RIS ER 10,435 1,641

The Group recognises impairment loss on trade receivables based on
the accounting policies set out in note 2(h)(ii). Further details on the
Group's credit policy and credit risk arising from trade receivables are
set out in note 35(a).

BhERERL2T

AN ER BRI MY SR 2(h) (i) BT 80 B0 & BT BUR B
RESHREFAZRERER - AEBENE
ERRREHEREFBEEENEERRE
—HH B RN K EE35()

ZE_MOFEER

Iff
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME(E)

19. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Retention receivables

The Group generally provides retention period of 1 to 2 years and
normally retention monies represent 5% to 10% of the contract
sum. Retention receivables are part of the consideration arising from
structural engineering contracts and sizable supply and installation of
building material products contracts that are retained by the customers
and are payable to the Group upon completion of the retention period
of the relevant contract or in accordance with the terms specified in
the relevant contract. Retention monies are intended to protect the
customers from the Group failing to complete its obligations under the
contracts rather than to provide financing to the customers. Retention
receivables are in nature as contract assets.

The terms and conditions in relation to the release of retention
monies vary from contract to contract, which may be subject to
practical completion of contracts, expiry of defect liability period and
rectification of defects to the satisfaction of customers (i.e. at the
expiry of the defect liability period that is at a point at which the Group
has unconditional right to invoice to the customers). Upon release
of retention monies by the customers, retention receivables will be
reclassified to “Trade receivables”. For other small-scale supply and
installation of building material products contracts, the Group normally
issues bill to the customers for payment along when the services are
rendered.

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment on retention
receivables are as follows:

19.EZREMEBWRFIE &S

R A RIE @)

Hizt : (&)

(b)

EWRE 2

AEE-REHOZ2FOREH  BER
B2EAHNLFEN5%E10% - YR E
EREBIEANARATEFREMHAE
HERLEEMERAOMEEREN—
o WHREREA KBRS B & R R
BHEBANEENGERENAEERE
& RESEEREEFPULKREERE
BITERGHBATHEE MEMTFRE
HBE BRRBEEUELRANEE -

RERESHERRGEHFEAOME - 18
FEBTKEL - HRIEE EHER LR
AMELTEPEMME (BIREEEBER
B RAKEEERGHEENATFHAR
R2R) REFPEBRRERRK  BRRE
BeBEFTHIBEE(BEHRBERE] -5
Hi  AHERZEEMEMAGHOME
AEERTRRERREERAEFHARE
VAR R I o

BURRES ZREBRREZSHNT

2024 2023

—E-NEF —ZE=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHET

At the beginning of the reporting period R G H 2,863 2,072
Provision of impairment loss BB EEE 2,352 791
At the end of the reporting period R E AR 5,215 2,863

The Group recognises impairment allowance on retention receivables
based on the accounting policies set out in note 2(h)(ii). Further details
of the Group's credit policy and credit risk arising from contract assets
are set out in note 35(a).
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19.

20.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES, DEPOSITS
AND PREPAYMENTS (continued)

Notes: (Continued)
(b)  Retention receivables (Continued)

The retention receivables as of the end of the reporting period are to
be settled, based on the terms and conditions in relation to the release

19.

GERBHRRME (F)

EZREMEBRRIE BT
& §E 'f—.l- FA IE (&)
Wit (&)

(b) EURREE(E)

BERSHRNBURESRIREEPR
B R A IR R I At R BB TR

of the retention monies by customers and taking into account the AREITEE - B2 mT -
status of rectification works, as follows:

2024 2023
—EB-MOF —E=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
On demand or within one year BERHF—FR 19,510 5,425
After one year —F 1% 78,604 95,982
98,114 101,407

(c)  Other receivables and deposits

Further details on the Group’s credit policy and credit risk arising from
other receivables and deposits are set out in note 35(a).

CASH AND BANK BALANCES

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rate based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short-term time deposits are made for periods
depending on the immediate cash requirements of the Group,
and earn interest at the respective short-term time deposit rates.

As at 31 March 2024, the Group had time deposits of
HK$106,329,000 (2023: HK$53,606,000) placed with banks
with original maturity of one to three months (2023: one to
three months) and earn interest income at interest rates ranged
from 3.72% t0 5.10% (2023: 2.90% to 4.45%) per annum.

No fixed term deposit was placed in banks with maturity of
more than three months from the date of acquisition as at 31
March 2024 (2023: HK$10,125,000).

As at 31 March 2024, cash and bank balances of the Group
denominated in RMB amounted to HK$7,631,000 (2023:
HK$1,710,000). RMB is not freely convertible into other
currencies, however, under Mainland China’s Foreign Exchange
Control Regulations and Administration of Settlement, Sale
and Payment of Foreign Exchange Regulations, the Group is
permitted to exchange RMB for other currencies through banks
authorised to conduct foreign exchange business.

BEr#ERERLZ2A

20.

(0 HMEWKEAERERS

FBRASEZEEBRRARRE E A fE
WRIERRE 215 ERBRFBH N
35(a) °

RERBITHER

FRRIRITZE SRS BIRITERA =X
Ef%Zi?%ﬂ%U%EﬁHX%'J%0%5,37@%%%??
RZHR - DRFAEEZ NSRS

KiME - RECHMEHNES ﬂf%ﬁﬂyﬂ

B o

R-ZE-_ME=RA=+—8" Kilﬁé
$R1717H106,329,0008 L (= E =
4 : 53,606,000 L) Z E BT R
BEER A —Z=2=@A (:Z@:zi :
—Z=@A)  WENF3.72%=E5.10%
TE = :290%%4.45% ) B E F
K EREF BUA ©

RZZE_ME=A=+—8"
ﬁﬁﬁ&@i‘%lﬂﬂﬁiﬁ_ﬂ
EHER(ZE_=%F:
BIL) e

BEER
& A B H gy
#710,125,000

R_ZE-_WFEF=ZA=+—8"
MARBFEZRERRBRTER A
7,631,000/ L (ZZ==4 : 1,710,000
%m)AE%TTQmRﬁ&E@E
B AT - AR IR B At A SINDE B R R
B R 4EE - EERNESERT A%
BEFEBREEETIINEES ZRITH
ARBHIBAHEME o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mERBHERWE(F)

21. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

21. BB REMENRE

2024 2023

—E_NF —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

THET FAT

Trade payables (note (a)) B S EN R\ (M itE) 95,993 68,950
Retention payables (note (b)) ERRB 2 (M b)) 23,040 39,603
Accrued staff costs FEH B TRk AN 11,333 9,522
Other payables and accruals H b B RUE R ERTRIA 5,505 4,164
135,871 122,239

Notes:

(a) For trade payables, the credit period granted by suppliers and
contractors is normally 30 to 60 days.

The ageing analysis of trade payables, based on invoice date, as at the

o

(a) BESHEMNFREMS  HEPMREAESR
B2 EEBH—MBNF30E60R °

MNBEHR - BZRNFBRREZ AN

end of the reporting period is as follows: BRER DT -
2024 2023
—E-MF —E-=F
HK$’'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
0 — 30 days 0&E30H 60,206 43,131
31 - 60 days 31E60H 22,904 18,913
61 - 90 days 61290H 4,665 803
Over 90 days 90H M £ 8,218 6,103
95,993 68,950

(b) Based on the terms and conditions agreed in relation to the release
of retention monies to subcontractors and taking into account the
status of rectification work, the retention payables as at the end of the
reporting period are to be settled as follows:

(b) ERBLAD EEMERRE S 5T WK R
R AT R ER TRAMKR - NEHR

FRBNENRBENOT

2024 2023

—EMEF —T=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FERT FET

On demand or within one year BERF—FR 23,040 35,568
After one year —F1& - 4,035
23,040 39,603

98 KPa-BM Holdings Limited |
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

22.LEASES

(@) The Group as lessee

The Group leases office premises, factories, warehouse,
quarters and motor vehicles for use in its operation. The
periodic rent is fixed over the lease term, and the leases are
negotiated for an initial period of two to ten years (2023:
two to ten years).

The movements of the right-of-use assets are disclosed

RERBEXRME (&)

22.HE
(a) ZEBEHBEBAA

AEEMERDENE -WME R
E-EERAERSERSE TH
MEEMEHNGREETE - M
MERERRNIRHE-—2+5 (=
T_=F:ZE2TH)

EREEE ZZSHWENRME14 -

in note 14. The movements of the lease liabilities are as THEaBEEEHET -
follows:
Properties Motor
leased for vehicles
own use (note) Total
Hitg A AE
HEWE (H$EE) ot
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&T FHB T FHExT
At 1 April 2022 R=T=Z=
MA—H 13,372 309 13,681
Additions NE 3,189 - 3,189
Finance costs (note 8) WIS AS (H28) 338 5 343
Lease payments HEMK (7,704) (300) (8,004)
Exchange adjustment PE 5 32 (310) = (310)

Balance at 31 March 2023 and RZ=-TE=-=%

1 April 2023 =A=+t—-HBER

—E-=

MA—RAzé&t 8,885 14 8,899
Additions NE 8,217 - 8,217
Finance costs (note 8) IR (B 3E8) 447 - 447
Lease payments HENRK (7,918) (14) (7,932)
Exchange adjustment PE W o2 (149) - (149)
Balance at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-_WE=H

=Et+t—Hz#&8 9,482 - 9,482
Note: /]/7&535 .

The Group’s obligations under the lease of the motor vehicles were RZZEZ=F=A=+—0 ' A&EERA

secured by the motor vehicles and subject to corporate guarantee
provided by the Company to the extent of HK$14,000 as at 31 March
2023.

BhERERL2T

BHREBETZAENABEAER  AXR
RARTFREHAAER  EREBEA
14,0007 T °
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22.LEASES (Continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
me R RME (R)

(@) The Group as lessee (Continued)

Future lease payments are due as follows:

22. 788 @)

(a) AEBEAEHEA @
ARMERZIHAMT

Present value

Minimum of minimum
lease lease
payments Interest payments
B®1& RIEHEE
HEMSK FE RRZBRE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FExT FET FET
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-NF
=A=+-—H
Not later than one year Tl —F 5,601 (295) 5,306
Later than one year but no later BB —F BT\
than two years N 3,590 (119) 3,471
Later than two years but no later @M FET BB
than five years hE 727 (22) 705
9,918 (436) 9,482
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FAT FHET FHET
As at 31 March 2023 R-ZEZ=
=A=+-—H
Not later than one year THEB—F 5,678 (189) 5,489
Later than one year but no later BB —F B TR
than two years 4 2,532 (65) 2,467
Later than two years but no later BB F18 i@
than five years HE 984 (41) 943
9,194 (295) 8,899
The present value of future lease payments are analysed as ARBENZIREBELSFTHOT -
follows:
2024 2023
—E-mE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTHET FHET
Current liabilities B R 5,306 5,489
Non-current liabilities EREBAE 4,176 3,410
9,482 8,899

For the year ended 31 March 2024, the total cash payment
for the Group’s lease arrangements (including repayment of
lease liabilities and short-term leases expenses) amounted
to HK$8,490,000 (2023: HK$8,811,000).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

22. LEASES (Continued)

(b) The Group as lessor

The Group leases its investment property (note 15) to third
party tenant. The lease run for an initial period of three
years from 2022 and end on 30 June 2024. As the end of
the reporting period, the Group had the following future
minimum lease payments receivables:

RERBEXRME (&)

22. 788 @)

(b) AEEEHEEA

AREBEREZFHAFPFHAEHEKRSE
Y3 (M aE15) - ¥ 25 HR A
B - _—FHRE_ZT_NFENA
=t+BHIE=F - RI|EH K - A&
EARRFEBERYZEBEMLT

2024 2023

—E_MEF —_E=-=
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FHET
Within one year —F R 45 186
After one year but within two years —FREMEA - 47
45 233

23. BANK BORROWINGS 23. RITE K

2024 2023
—E-ME —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET
Bank borrowings repayable within one year —4E A JEE EHIRITIE X 9,276 45,867

The bank borrowings, including trade financing, are interest
bearing at the bank’s prime rate or the bank’s prime rate
adjusted by certain basis points per annum. The interest rate
of the Group’s bank borrowings as at 31 March 2024 granted
under banking facilities ranged from 5.6% to 9.3% (2023:
2.2% to 8.9%) per annum. The bank borrowings are subject to
repayment on demand clause.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the banking facilities granted to
the Group were secured by the corporate guarantee provided by
the Company.

RITER(BREEIRE)RBITRE
BANERIRBITREZNESFRHES
THESAE N_T_WE=A=+—
B AEBREETHEER TR
EFFFREEN F56%E9.3% (=
T=F 1 22%E8.9%) c RITERT
IR IR BREERIER -

R_E-_NFER_TE-_=F=ZA=1+—
B By AEENEITRERARFIR
HERRIEREDER -

B hEKREIRAIF CTE-_NEERE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME(E)

24. DEFERRED TAX

Details of the deferred tax liabilities and assets recognised by the
Group and movements during the current year and prior year

are as follows:

24, R EF 1E

RAFER EFE  AEBCRERBELT
MEBERBEREENRES ZFHBNOT :

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Other
temporary
Accelerated  Allowance and
tax for Revaluation  deductible
depreciation  inventories  of property  differences Tax loss Total
HpERMR
MERBHE FERE NEEfR  ANHESR HEER @i
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000
TR THEL THEL THERL THTL TR
At 1 April 2022 R-B-_ERA-A 13 (142) 82 - (979) (1,026)
(Credited)/Charged to GtA)/ Mk
profit or loss (note 10) (Hi10) (48) 55 (34) = 979 952
Exchange adjustment XA = = (7) = = (7)
At 31 March 2023 and R-B-=%
1 April 2023 ZR=1t-HR
“E--¥NA-A (35) (87) 41 - - (81)
(Credited)/Charged to GtA)/ k%
profit or loss (note 70) (H10) (165) 8 (74) (75) - (306)
Exchange adjustment BER AR - = () = = ")
At 31 March 2024 R-Z-m%E
ZA=1+-H (200) (79 (35) (75) - (389)
Represented by: BT EERE
2024 2023
ZEZMF —E_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHERT FHET
Deferred tax assets RIEFEEE (405) (139)
Deferred tax liabilities RIEFHEAE 16 58
(389) (81)

The two-tiered profits tax rates regime have no material impact
on the deferred tax balances of the Group as at 31 March 2023
and 2024 as the qualifying entity nominated by the Group did
not have material temporary differences as at 31 March 2023
and 2024. Deferred tax assets and liabilities of other group
entities were continued to be measured using a flat tax rate of
16.5%.

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established
in the PRC. The requirement is effective from 1 January 2008
and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between the PRC and the jurisdiction of the foreign investors.

Annual Report 2024
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25.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

DEFERRED TAX (Continued)

For the Group, the applicable tax rate is 5%. The Group is
therefore liable for withholding taxes on dividend distributed by
the subsidiary in the PRC in respect of earnings generated from
1 January 2008.

At 31 March 2024, no deferred tax has been recognised for
withholding taxes that would be payable on the unremitted
earnings of the Company’s subsidiary established in the PRC
that are subject to withholding taxes, which amounted to
HK$10,470,000 (2023: HK$11,040,000). In the opinion of the
directors, it is not probable that the subsidiary will distribute
such earnings in the foreseeable future.

As at 31 March 2024 and 31 March 2023, the Group did not
have unused tax losses to offset against future profits.

GERBHRRME (F)

24, i FE B IE ()

AEBNBERKRE/5% At - N&
BEARRPBEKINHBARNRA —F
ZNF—HA— BRERIROZF DK
P BB TR -

NRZZE-_ME=A=+—H " WEHFH
AN B RA F B AR S HY B B A B B R B
Z R B110,470,0008 0 (ZE - =4
11,040,000 7T ) 78 #4419 /9 78 F0 74 i e
REERB - EERE ZSHEAR
R R RAKATEED IRBREEF -

R_E-_NFEF=A=+—BNK_Z_=
FZA=1+—8 AEEBRERFEAHN
T 78 B 18 1) £ oK 2R F AR K 8 o

SHARE CAPITAL 25. IR A&
Number of
Ordinary shares ZER Par value shares Amount
HE BB EE 4z
HK$ HK$'000
BT FERT
Authorised: EE
At 1 April 2022, 31 March 2023 RZZE-__FWA—H -
and 31 March 2024 —TE=F
=A=+—HEk
—ET-F
=A=+—H 0.01 2,000,000,000 20,000
Issued and fully paid: ERTRABE:
At 1 April 2022 RZE-_—_FMWA—H 0.01 600,000,000 6,000
Cancellation of shares repurchased FEEBERD
(note) (Ht:%) 0.01 (43,070,000) (431)
At 31 March 2023 and R-_TB-—=%F
31 March 2024 ZA=+—8k
—EF
=A=+—H 0.01 556,930,000 5,569

Note:

On 18 January 2023, the Company repurchased 43,070,000 ordinary shares
from a member of key management with consideration of approximately
HK$0.245 per share, totally approximately HK$10,544,000. All those ordinary
shares were immediately cancelled once repurchased by the Company. Upon
cancellation of the 43,070,000 repurchased shares, the number of shares
of the Company was reduced from 600,000,000 to 556,930,000. Of the
repurchase cost of HK$10,544,000, an amount of HK$431,000, representing
the par value of the cancelled shares was deducted from share capital
whereas the remaining amount of HK$10,113,000 was deducted from share
premium.

BEr#ERERLZ2A

RZFE-_=F—A+/\B ARAERES
RA0245B M —Z X EETEEXNEREMD
43,070,000/% E3@A% + & 5F4910,544,0008 T ©
FIT B 3% 55 3 AR PO AN A B B8 12 14 B R 4 5 84 o
7 &E $543,070,0004% 8 B AR 10 18 + AN A A1 &9 AR
% 2 B B600,000,0000% Al J& Z£556,930,000
B o 7A B @ B A510,544,00058 7T - B FE 5 A%
NEE©RE431,0008 T ERBRAP R - MR
THI10,113,0007% 7T B AR 17 % B 1Bk o
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME(E)

26. RESERVES

The Group

Details of the movements in the Group’s reserves for the years
ended 31 March 2024 and 2023 are set out in the consolidation
statement of changes in equity. The following describes the
nature and purpose of each reserve within owners’ equity:

Share premium

Share premium is the excess of the proceeds received over
the nominal value of the shares of the Company issued at a
premium, less expenses incurred in connection with the issue of
the shares.

Merger reserve

Merger reserve mainly arose from the transactions under the
reorganisation which took place during the year ended 31 March
2016 in connection to the listing of the Company’s shares on
the Stock Exchange.

Statutory reserve

Statutory reserve represents appropriation of profits of the
PRC subsidiaries to non distributable reserve fund account as
required by the relevant PRC statute.

Exchange reserve

Exchange reserve comprises foreign exchange differences arising
from the translation of the financial statements of foreign
operations in accordance with the accounting policies adopted
in note 2(n).

Retained profits

Retained profits is the cumulative net gains and losses
recognised in profit or loss.

KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024
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26.

27.

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

GERBHRRME (F)

RESERVES (Continued) 26. fi& 4 (@)
The Company VNN
The movements of the Company’s reserves during the current REER FFERABFEENEEBFR
year and prior year are as follows: mr
Share Retained
premium profits Total
B2 = E REBER st
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
FExT FHET FET
As 1 April 2022 R-ZE--FWMA—H 33,942 9,563 43,505
Profit for the year A = 16,184 16,184
Final dividend in respect of 2022 —Z = —FHKHK &
(note 12(b)) (BaE12(0)) - (9,000) (9,000)
Cancellation of shares FESHEB D AR D (A1 aE25)
repurchased (note 25) (10,113) - (10,113)
As at 31 March 2023 and R-ZBE-_=%=A=+—H
1 April 2023 —E-=FmWA—H 23,829 16,747 40,576
Profit for the year F A g A = 44,580 44,580
Final dividend in respect of 2023 —Z -~ =FHRHAR 2
(note 12(b)) (Ktat12(b)) - (16,708) (16,708)
As at 31 March 2024 R-ZE-WOE=HA=+—H 23,829 44,619 68,448
SHARE OPTION SCHEME 27. B R fESt &

Pursuant to resolutions passed by the shareholder of the
Company on 22 September 2015, the shareholder of the
Company approved the adoption of a share option scheme (the
“Share Option Scheme”). The Share Option Scheme enables
the Company to grant options to eligible persons as incentives
or rewards for their contributions to the Group.

The Share Option Scheme will be valid and effective for a period
of 10 years commencing from 8 October 2015, after which
period no further options may be granted but the provisions of
the Share Option Scheme shall remain in full force and effect
in all other respects and the options granted during the life of
the Share Option Scheme may continue to be exercisable in
accordance with their terms of issue.

The board of directors may, at its absolute discretion, invite any
eligible persons to take up options at a price determined by the
board of directors which shall not be lower than the highest of (i)
the closing price of the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s
daily quotations sheet on the date of grant of the options,
which must be a trading day; (ii) the average closing price of
the shares as stated in the Stock Exchange’s daily quotations
sheets for the five trading days immediately preceding the date
of grant of the options; and (iii) nominal value of a share. Upon
acceptance of the offer of an option, the grantee shall pay HK$1
to the Company by way of consideration for the grant.

No option has been granted under the Share Option Scheme
since its adoption.

BREARABRRR _-_Z—HEFNA
“HTZABBMNRER  ARABR
BoERS — B S ((BRER
8 - BEREFEEARA A RAER
AETEREBERE  ERERSHAKEMR
tER B BBk O

ERESAEE_Z-—RF T B/\HEF
10FHARAERMER - HERG ISR D
EERSMNBRUHE - e fE AR AT &I RO 1R X
EMBEMTEDE BRI RAER
i E B AR 51 81 B ) (0 3% LH 60 B8 AL A AT
BMEIRIBEBITIRRITRE -

EFesENBRAFEMNAEBRAL
REZSETNEBRABRERE  MmZ
BRAGERTIEENRSE - ()R
BRHBRERH (WARRZB) MR
e R RERMENRNDKTE ()R
ERRLBEREERNAERXS BB
AT A RERME AR FHRHE
R EE - REZABREZOR -
ERANARAARBDXMETERER
BETHMRE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME(E)

28. HOLDING COMPANY STATEMENT OF 28. =B N B MY B 7 AR R 3R

FINANCIAL POSITION

As at 31 March 2024

R-ZE_WNE=A=+—H

2024 2023
—E_NF —E=F
Notes HK$’000 HK$'000
=2 FET FET
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
Non-current assets kRBEE
Investments in subsidiaries RETB R RMNKRE 29 = =
Current assets REBEE
Other receivables, deposits and HMEWHIE  Ze Rk
prepayments SEENE O] 215 219
Amounts due from subsidiaries FE UM B A | ;A 76,810 48,804
Cash and bank balances B e MIRTTHE % 1,684 2,869
78,709 51,892
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals H < 3R E K FE AT FUA 882 157
Amount due to a subsidiary FERHHT B A a) 8 3,810 5,590
4,692 5,747
Net current assets/Net assets REEEFREH EEFE 74,017 46,145
CAPITAL AND RESERVES BEERR#E
Share capital % A 25 5,569 5,569
Reserves ] 26 68,448 40,576
Total equity FEREE 74,017 46,145
On behalf of the directors REE=S
Yip Pak Hung Wai Yat Kin
EE ERAR
Director Director
EZE EZE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
me Mm% R RHE(R)

29. INVESTMENTS IN SUBSIDIARIES 29. RMIB A RIMIIRE

Details of the Company’s subsidiaries as at 31 March 2024 are AANAMBAAR-_ZT-_WE=AH

as follows: =T—HA/FEHT
Place of incorporation  Place of Issued and paid up Effective interest held
Name of subsidiary and type of legal entity  operation capital by the Company Principal activities
Bl e
WELRER ktaaREs Keps ERTRARRE RAAMRERER  TEXE
Directly  Indirectly
HE i
Light Dimension Limited The BVI/Limited liability Hong Kong 16 shares of 100% - Investment holding
company US$1 each
RERR AT ERRAHE/AROA  BE 16 EREE 100% - REEK
1R TR
AcouSystem Limited Hong Kong/Limited HongKong 300 shares of - 100%  Trademark Holding
liability company HK$300
AcouSystem Limited &b/ BRAA & 30030077 - 100% HAHE
len)
BuildMax Limited Hong Kong/Limited Hong Kong 50,000 shares of = 100%  Supply and installation
liability company HK$50,000 of building material
products and trading
of building material
products
RHBRAT B/ ARLA & 50,000850,00077 - 100% RERZERMERR
ol BERMER
BuildMax Technology The PRC/Wholly The PRC RMB6,500,000 - 100%  Processing, fabrication,
(Shenzhen) Limited foreign-owned manufacturing and
enterprise trading of building
material products
RERE () RAR BB/ NEBELE hE ARH6,500,0007C - 100% T 42 5ER
BERMER
Hillford Trading Limited Hong Kong/Limited HongKong 10,000 shares of - 100%  Investment holding
liability company HK$10,000
EEEHERAT BE/BRAA &R 10,000%10,000% 7 - 100% REER
lie)
KPa Engineering Limited Hong Kong/Limited Hong Kong 15,000,000 shares of S 100%  Provision of structural
liability company HK$15,000,000 engineering works
EAIRARRA B/ ERLH &R 15,000,008 - 100% REGETRIERS
15,000,000/ 7T
len)
KPa Engineering (HK) Limited - Hong Kong/Limited Hong Kong 300 shares of = 100%  Provision of structural
liability company HK$300 engineering works
EAIR (F%) BRRA  &FE/ARAA i 30013007 AR 1 - 100% REGETIRIERS
EHEBERTES(RINER  The PRC/Wholly The PRC HK$1,000,000 - 100%  Provision of fabrication
A7 foreign-owned drawing
enterprise
ENEERHES hE/HEBELE Gl 1,000,000/t - 100% RHRFEE
(mﬁ‘\) ARAA
Sun Pool Engineering Limited  Hong Kong/Limited Hong Kong 150,000 shares of = 100%  Property investment and
liability company HK$150,000 investment holding
RAIRERAR BE/ARAA & 150,0008150,000% 70 - 100% FHERERREZR
ik
KPa Contracting Limited Hong Kong/Limited HongKong 300 shares of - 100%  Provision of structural
liability company HK$300 engineering works
RNREERAA] &b/ BRAA &R 300A%3008 LR 17 - 100% GRESBETIRTIERS
e None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities in issue at the end of e R iHﬂ?Ti *EHEWE AR A EME %

the reporting period. TEBEE

BEr#ERERLZ2A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME(E)

30. GUARANTEE

The Group provided guarantee in respect of the surety
bonds issued by the bank in favour of the customers of the
Group’s certain construction contracts as security for the
due performance and observance of the Group’s obligations
under the contracts entered into between the Group and its
customers. If the Group fails to provide satisfactory performance
to its customers to whom surety bonds have been given, such
customers may demand the bank to pay to them the sum or sum
stipulated in such demand. The Group has unconditionally and
irrevocably agreed to indemnify the bank as issuer of the bonds
for claims and losses they may incur in respect of the bonds.
Details of these guarantees at the end of the reporting period
are as follows:

30. R

AEBERRTUAAEEETRESNZ
EPRXm ANBEHONERKRKIEH-E
R ERARBEERFPIIVNAENIA
TARKEEETRESTHRBHEA -
i AR BRGE A S ERR KA TP
RHUESARMEBENRE  ZERPAEXK
RITAEAS B RAPREMFKE - N&E
B2 AR R T A B R B R ER 1T (16
REFBETA)REFAIEEENRE
NEBBEELREE RBEMROZEE
ReBWT

2024 2023
—B-EF —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FERT FET
Aggregate value of the surety bonds issued A EF A%z A% HAERER X
in favour of customers MEE 28,115 7,276

As assessed by the directors, these surety bonds are
assurance-type warranty and it is not probable that the bank
would claim the Group for losses in respect of the guarantee
contracts as it is unlikely that the Group is unable to fulfill the
performance requirements of the relevant contract. Accordingly,
no provision for the Group’s obligations under the guarantee
has been made.
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31.NOTE TO THE CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT

OF CASH FLOWS

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBHREME (&)

Reconciliation of liabilities arising from financing activities:

31.

o=

MEEHELZABHE:

EREBERME

Bank Lease
borrowings liabilities
RITHER HEAE
HK$'000 HK$'000
TERT FERT
(note 23) (note 22(a))
(Htit23) (Ht5t22(a))
As at 1 April 2023 R=-ZZBE-=%1HBF—H 2,539 13,681
Changes from cash flows Rene®
Proceeds from new bank borrowings MIRITIBE M PTIE E 116,135 =
Repayment of bank borrowings BRIBITER (72,807) -
Capital element of lease payments HENFHNEXRST D - (7,661)
Interest element of lease payments HENFHOF BT D - (343)
43,328 (8,004)
Exchange adjustment P 5 % - (310)
Other changes HimEs
Interest expenses MERX = 343
Increase in lease liabilities from RIS T E g ey
entering into new leases HEBE - 3,189
- 3,532
At 31 March 2023 and 1 April 2023 R-ZEB-=F=HA=+—HEK
—BE-=ZfWMA—H 45,867 8,899
Changes from cash flows ReEREH
Proceeds from new bank borrowings HIRITIB M PT1E E 84,297 -
Repayment of bank borrowings BERITER (120,888) -
Capital element of lease payments HENFHEXRST D - (7,485)
Interest element of lease payments HENFOF BT D - (447)
(36,591) (7,932)
Exchange adjustment HE H 38 B - (149)
Other changes HiEs
Interest expenses MERX = 447
Increase in lease liabilities from I FAE MmN
entering into new leases HEARE - 8,217
- 8,664
At 31 March 2024 R-B-NFE=A=1+—8H 9,276 9,482

BEr#ERERLZ2A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mERBHERWE(F)

32. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

.BBERS

Saved as disclosed elsewhere in these consolidated financial
statements, the Group has the following significant transactions

with its related parties.

Related party

R ER A M RREMED
CAREEEER T ANTEARS -

D P EE

(@) Name relationship Type of transaction Transaction amount
=r B B 5 B R X585 XBEHE
2024 2023
—ENFE —EB-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FTET FHET
Cozy Coffee Club Limited Director and key Management fee income 62 62
(note) management have
equity interest
EEMYEEER QA EERTIEZEREE EEBEBERA 62 62
(K1at) BEARANE RS

Note:  Mr. Yip is the director and shareholder of Cozy Coffee Club

Limited.

The above transaction was conducted in accordance with
the terms mutually agreed between the Group and the

related party.

Mat . EREBBEEWESHRDAN
BERER -

iz %E*ETF$%@§EEE§H§ paki=
B 1% MR FGETT ©

(b) The remuneration of directors and other members of key EENEMEEEEAENBE N
management were as follows: N

2024 2023

—E-F —E-=

HK$'000 HK$'000

FBT FET

Salaries, allowances and other benefits e ﬁE&E‘r&?Eﬂ 19,043 15,917

Contributions to defined contribution AERFRIRFEIH5
retirement plan 121 129
19,164 16,046

KPa-BM Holdings Limited
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

33. CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

The Group’s capital management objectives are to safeguard
the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns to shareholders and benefits for other
stakeholders, to maintain an optimal capital structure, to reduce
the cost of capital and to support the Group's stability and
growth.

The Group monitors capital using gearing ratio, which is total
debt to equity. Total debt includes bank borrowings and lease
liabilities. Equity represents total equity of the Group.

The directors of the Company actively and regularly reviews and
manages the Group’s capital structure, taking into consideration
the future capital requirements of the Group, to ensure optimal
shareholders’ returns. The Group manages the capital structure
and makes adjustments to it in light of changes in economic
conditions and the risk characteristics of the underlying assets.
In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group
may adjust the amount of dividends paid to shareholders, return
capital to shareholders, issue new shares, raise new debt or sell
assets to reduce debt.

The gearing ratio at the end of the reporting period was as
follows:

GERBHRRME (F)

3. 54X EHE

AEEZERERBRDREAEED
HELERD  ARKRRER—DRRS
Hifrin B RN B REELE
B URLPESHRAARIFHAEEZ
BEMRIER -

AEEFEREARGLR (BIEFAR
EEam L R)EREN - BHEEER
RRTEAREERE #HEEAKH
ZHatE -

ARBEFHEERAEHERKRES R
RHBRT - TBEHRT REELAE
BEBEAER  NERESREBRRD
HoARBERBEERRNEEKIAME
EZRBEHEREAGEBYLELR
B RBBAHBEAGRE  ANKEA
BEESN TIRERECBREHE  MERR
BEED BITHERN  BBRFESL
EEERIE -

RBEMRZEARABLEENT

2024 2023

—EEF —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET TFHT

Lease liabilities HEAaE 9,482 8,899
Bank borrowings RITER 9,276 45,867
18,758 54,766

Total equity B 292,354 263,792
Gearing ratio BERBELEK 6.4% 20.8%

The Group targets to maintain a gearing ratio to be in line with
the expected changes in economic and financial conditions.
The Group’s overall strategy on capital management remains
unchanged throughout the year.

BEr#ERERLZ2A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

mERBHERWE(F)

34. SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES BY CATEGORY

The following table shows the carrying amounts of financial

assets and financial liabilities:

3. REREITNEREERS

MEEZHME
TRITEMAERS WA HNREE:

2024 2023
—E-mEg —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FTET FAT
Financial assets EMEE
Financial assets measured BEBHEE LT ENEHBEE
at amortised cost
— Trade receivables — B S RWRIE 134,947 95,509
— Other receivables and deposits —Hih W RERES 37,566 12,049
— Fixed term deposit —EHFEH - 10,125
— Cash and bank balances —R&e RIRITHER 170,231 114,818
342,744 232,501
Financial liabilities E@mas
Financial liabilities at amortised cost BEBERLGTENLHEE
- Trade and other payables —B 5 RHMERNFIE 135,871 122,239
- Bank borrowings —IRITER 9,276 45,867
145,147 168,106
Other financial instruments HttE@mT A
— Lease liabilities —HEasE 9,482 8,899
(a) Financial instruments not measured at fair (a) YR AFEFENERMT

value

Management assessed the fair values of current portion of
trade receivables, other receivables and deposits, fixed term
deposit, cash and bank balances, trade and other payables
and bank borrowing approximately their carrying value due

to their short-term nature.

(b) Financial instruments measured at fair value (b)

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, the Group did not have
any financial instruments measured at fair value and
accordingly, no analysis on fair value hierarchy is presented.

KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is exposed to a variety of financial risks which
comprise credit risk, market risk (mainly interest rate risk and
foreign currency risk) and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk
management focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets
and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s
financial performance. Risk management is carried out by the
key management under the policies approved by the board of
directors. The Group does not have written risk management
policies. However, the directors of the Company meet regularly
to identify and evaluate risks and to formulate strategies to
manage financial risks.

Generally, the Group employs a conservative strategy regarding
its financial risk management. As the directors consider that the
Group’s exposure to financial risk is kept at a minimum level,
the Group has not used any derivatives or other instruments for
hedging purposes. The most significant risks to which the Group
is exposed to are described below:

(a) Credit risk

Credit risk refers to the risk that the counterparty to a
financial instrument would fail to discharge its obligations
under the terms of the financial instrument and cause a
financial loss to the Group.

The Group’s credit risk is primarily attributable to its trade
and other receivables, contract assets and bank balances.
Management has a credit policy in place and the exposures
to credit risk are monitored on an ongoing basis.

In respect of trade and other receivables and contract
assets, it is the Group's policy to deal only with
creditworthy counterparties. In order to minimise credit
risk, management has formulated a credit policy and
delegated a team responsible for determination of credit
limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. Normally, the Group does not obtain collateral from
the counterparties.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly
by the individual characteristics of each debtor. As at 31
March 2024, the Group has certain concentration of credit
risk as 33% and 81% (2023: 46% and 85%) of the Group's
trade receivables were due from the Group’s largest trade
debtors and the five largest trade debtors respectively.

In respect of bank balances, the credit risk is limited
because all deposits are placed with reputable banks and
financial institutions.

BEr#ERERLZ2A

GERBHRRME (F)

35. K E BB

AEEAZZRUBRER BFEEER
B mEEAR (XERFEER NN
R RRgERER ANEBENER
EERHFHEARANSRTIS I
SREEREHAEEMBERRMBENX
MEBEETHNTZE RREEHTIZERE
ABRBEFTSHAENERRET - XK
B EEEEREEBRR - AN AR
A E EF 8 DA R R ATl LR DA B
il 7 RS LA B IR B A B

—RME NEBREREEREIER
M—ERTERE -ARESEREAEE
FTm 8 M8 B R 4 B R R EAKTE - K
NEBWEFRIATET AR EMT
E{ES ARG AEBEH N HEKE
frEgaian T

(a) FERERR

EERRBRESZRT AN H I RE
BTEREMIAKRRKETHNE
T BERAKRERIMHEERENE
AEBZEERREIERBEES
R E A EUWGRIA - BB E N MR
TREK - BEEERAFERE I
ERBEEEERR -

SE SR EAMEYHIAL R A KE
EFTEME  AREOBRRESR
EERINRZTETRS - BE
EERBRERE BEEEEHE
—EEERREZEEBAEERE
EEHEE EFEMEREMERE
B ARER BEBR #E 18 WBL BRE 5K o
?E  AKEYEQ RS TREHE
i o

AEEMEENEERREES
BEEEANERSEBAMEE - K
—E-_WME=A=+—0  x&£H
FELETEERBREFTIBER - JiH
RAEBRE 5 EWKIARNZ3I% KL
81% (ZZE =% : 46% 85% )
DRIREEAEENZEREZEBHA
FEKEBA -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME(E)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Impairment under ECLs model/

The Group recognises loss allowance for ECLs on debt
instruments carried at amortised cost. The Group applies
simplified approach to measure ECLs on trade receivables,
retention receivables and contract assets; and general
approach to measure ECLs on other receivables and
deposits and bank balances. Under the simplified approach,
the Group measures the loss allowance at an amount
equal to lifetime ECLs. Under the general approach, the
Group applies the “3-stage” impairment model for ECLs
measurement based on change in credit risk since initial
recognition as follows:

— Stage 1: If the credit risk of the financial instrument
has not increased significantly since initial
recognition, the financial instrument is
included in Stage 1.

— Stage 2: If the credit risk of the financial instrument
has increased significantly since its initial
recognition but is not deemed to be
credit-impaired, the financial instrument is
included in Stage 2.

— Stage 3: If the financial instrument is credit-impaired,
the financial instrument is included in Stage 3.

The ECLs for financial instruments in Stage 1 are measured
at an amount equivalent to 12-month ECLs whereas the
ECLs for financial instruments in Stage 2 or Stage 3 are
measured at an amount equivalent to lifetime ECLs.

When determining whether the risk of default has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group considers
reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and
available without undue cost or effort. This includes both
quantitative and qualitative information and analysis, based
on the Group’s historical experience and informed credit
risk assessment and including forward-looking information.
In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition:

e actual or expected significant adverse changes in
business, financial or economic conditions that are
expected to cause a significant change in the debtors’
ability to meet their debt obligations;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

Impairment under ECLs model (Continued)

e actual or expected significant changes in the operating
results of the debtors;

e significant changes in the expected performance and
behaviour of the debtors, including changes in the
payment status of debtors; and

e actual or expected significant adverse change in the
regulatory, economic, or technological environment in
which the debtors operate that results in a significant
change in the debtors’ ability to meet their debt
obligations.

The Group presumes that the credit risk on a financial asset
has increased significantly if it is more than 30 days past
due.

The Group assesses whether a financial asset is
credit-impaired. A financial asset is considered as
credit-impaired when one or more events that have a
detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of
the financial asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired include observable data about the
following events:

(i) significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

(ii) a breach of contract, such as a default or delinquency
in interest or principal payments;

(iii) granting a concession to the debtors that the lender
would not otherwise consider for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the debtor’s financial
difficulty;

(iv) it is becoming probable that the debtor will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(v) significant changes in the technological, market,
economic or legal environment that have an adverse
effect on the debtor.

The Group measures loss allowances for trade receivables,
retention receivables and contract assets using HKFRS 9
simplified approach and has calculated ECLs based on
lifetime ECLs under individual and collective assessment.
The Group has established a provision matrix that is
based on the Group’s historical credit loss experience
and time value of money where appropriate, adjusted
for forward-looking factors specific to the customers and
the economic environment. To measure the ECLs, trade
receivables, retention receivables and contract assets have
been grouped based on shared credit risk characteristics
and the days past due.

BEr#ERERLZ2A
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
me R RME (R)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment under ECLs model (Continued)

The following table provides information about the Group's
exposure to credit risk and ECLs for trade receivables,
retention receivables and contract assets at the end of the
reporting period:

35.

B i E b BB ()

(a) GERE @
A EEEER T E

(&)
TRENNEHEARBER RS HRA
m 8 EEE RN E SRR - &
WREBEMENEBEENAYEES
BOER

Gross Net
R-FE-WF Expected carrying Loss carrying
As at 31 March 2024 =HA=+—H loss rate amount allowance amount
FEHIEE R HARHEE EERE REFEE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$’000
FET FET FERT
Trade receivable B 5 EWRE
Collective assessment: SR -
Current B ER 1.3% 111,732 1,454 110,278
Within 1 = 6 months —Z=MEA 1.0% 3,636 37 3,599
Within 7 = 12 months +tE=+=@R 8.2% 7,576 624 6,952
122,944 2,115 120,829
Individual assessed for I E &R A R E B
specific debtors EXE 22,438 8,320 14,118
145,382 10,435 134,947
Retention receivables EWRE &
Collective assessment: SR -
Current BN &R 1.6% 76,285 1,183 75,102
Individual assessed for BT EBEARESR
specific debtors BRE] 27,044 4,032 23,012
103,329 5,215 98,114
Contract assets EREE
Collective assessment: SEEATA ¢
Current B EA 2.0% 39,054 771 38,283
Individual assessed for B EESARER
specific debtors S A 7,967 852 7,115
47,021 1,623 45,398
KPa-BM Holdings Limited | Annual Report 2024



35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a) Credit risk (continued)

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

Impairment under ECLs model (Continued)

RERBEXRME (&)

5. i AMERE @®m

(a) EER M @)

RRIEEERE T H9 5 E

(&)

Gross Net
R-ZE =% Expected carrying Loss carrying
As at 31 March 2023 =A=+—H loss rate amount  allowance amount
TEHABE X BER B &5 18 B BREFE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FHET THT
Trade receivable B 5 EWRE
Collective assessment: SR -
Current B ER 1.2% 54,682 644 54,038
Within 1 — 6 months —ZEXEAR 1.4% 27,964 395 27,569
Within 7 = 12 months +t=+=-@A 1.2% 3,139 38 3,101
Over 12 months BiBEt+—@A 4.3% 11,290 489 10,801
97,075 1,566 95,509
Individual assessed for BEEEAREDR]
specific debtors EXE 75 75 -
97,150 1,641 95,509
Retention receivables EWRE S
Collective assessment: SR -
Current Bl ER 2.7% 104,270 2,863 101,407
Contract assets EREE
Collective assessment: ERETE
Current B & 2.2% 115,922 2,519 113,403

Note:  Re-presentation of the above ageing table as at 31 March
2023 is to conform to the basis of presentation in the current

year.

BhERERL2T
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME(E)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(a)

(b)

KPa-BM Holdings Limited |

Credit risk (Continued)

Impairment under ECLs model (Continued)

ECLs rates are based on the past credit loss experience of
the customers or with reference to the industry data. These
rates are adjusted to reflect differences between economic
conditions during the period over which the historic data
has been collected, current conditions and the Group's
view of economic conditions over the expected lives of the
receivables. Time value of money is considered in arriving at
the amount of ECLs, adjusted for forward-looking factors
specific to the customers and economic environment.

As at 31 March 2024 and 2023, there were certain trade
receivables overdue more than 90 days. The Group assessed
the corresponding customers’ past due record, trading
history and credit rating (if any) to conclude that those
trade receivables overdue more than 90 days were not
default or credit impaired.

The Group makes periodic collective assessments as
well as individual assessment on the recoverability of
other receivables and deposits. The credit risk of the
Group’s other receivables and deposits at the end of the
reporting period has not increased significantly since initial
recognition. The Group has assessed that the amount of
ECLs was insignificant and accordingly, no loss allowance
was recognised.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rate. The Group’s interest rate
risk mainly arises from bank deposits, lease liabilities and
bank borrowings. Financial instruments arranged at variable
rates and fixed rates expose the Group to cash flow interest
rate risk and fair value interest rate risk respectively.

All of the Group’s lease liabilities bore interest at fixed
rates. Details of lease liabilities are disclosed in notes 22(a).

The Group’s bank borrowings as at 31 March 2024 bore
interest at floating rate (note 23) and thus the Group is
exposed to cash flow interest rate risk.

The Group’'s cash flow interest rate risk is mainly
concentrated on the fluctuation of interest rates on bank
balances and HIBOR arising from the Group’s Hong Kong
dollar denominated borrowings.

Annual Report 2024
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(b) Interest rate risk (Continued)

(c)

The Group’s bank balances also expose it to cash flow
interest rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rate on bank balances. The directors of the
Company consider the Group’s exposure to interest rate
risk in respect of bank balances is not significant due to low
level of deposit interest rate.

The Group currently does not have an interest rate hedging
policy. However, the management closely monitors interest
rate exposure and will consider hedging significant interest
rate exposure should the need arise.

Sensitivity analysis

The following sensitivity analysis demonstrates the Group’s
exposure to a reasonable possible change in interest
rates on its floating rate bank borrowings with all other
variables held constant at the end of the reporting period (in
practice, the results may differ from the sensitivity analysis
below and the difference could be material):

GERBHRRME (F)

35. i & & b B B (m)
(b) == k(&)

AREB 2 RITHEBMARITHERZ
BOmBsiEregme EHERS
MEMNEER ARBEERAS
BHRERAERKEE  AEEEH
RITBHRZMNERARALFEK -

7N 5% B3R B O 4 R R BN EUR - A
- EREETERNERR R
BEHRER  BEZREIPEARN X
Rk o

B E D W

T 5 SRS 5 17 BB R A P L
BEFTEMERT  AEEMT
B % 48 1718 30 5 90 45 HD SR AL A
EARA BB HE Y NAR (B
B bR AR TBE AN
SATAFTHA - L AT R E AR
%) :

(Decrease)/Increase in
profit for the year and
retained profits

FRBANRREER
R 4) /18 hn
2024 2023
—E-NE —E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FAET
Changes in interest rate Fl =& 5
+1% +1% (19) (30)
-1% -1% 19 30
Foreign currency risk (c) Fh = b

Foreign currency risk refers to the risk that the fair value
or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

The Group is exposed to currency risk primarily through
sales and purchases that are denominated in a currency
other than the functional currency of the operations to
which they relate. The currencies giving rise to foreign
currency risk are primarily US$, Euro (“EUR") and RMB.
Sales are mainly denominated in HK$ while some of the
purchases are denominated in US$, EUR and RMB. The
management monitors foreign currency exposure of the
Group and will consider undertaking foreign exchange
hedging activities to reduce the impact of foreign exchange
rate movements on the Group's operating result.

BEr#ERERLZ2A

SMEE R R IE 2 B T AR A FESAR
KRR EREXZEHMKBHE

a0 o
ZON

AEEEHNERER  EEIRA
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
REMBERME(E)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The following table disclosed the carrying amounts of
the foreign currency denominated monetary assets and
liabilities in net position at the end of the reporting period.
As HK$ is pegged to US$ and thus subject to minimal
currency risk, the relevant monetary assets and liabilities
are excluded from the following table.

35. B & & b B B (m)
(c) IhE R Bz (@)

TREBERAFENNESHED
8 B BRI 5 Rk 2 BR A -
WO T E T 8 B B R R
MEREE HHESEERAR
FEER TR :

2024 2023
—EC-NE —E =4
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET FHET

Net monetary liabilities E¥aEFsE
RMB AR (539) (237)
EUR A TT (576) (513)
The following table illustrates the approximate change TRATRAEBREREERKEIR

in the Group’s profit for the year and retained profits in
response to reasonably possible changes in the foreign
exchange rates to which the Group has significant exposure
at the end of the reporting periods.

H e BB K L B RO SMNE T R By 5 32 /]
AE 2 B 1M B4 F M ) S AR B s A A

Decrease in
profit for the year and
retained profits

FRBEMNRREBENRD

2024 2023

—E-E —T=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FHET FET

RMB appreciated by 3% AREHE3% (13) (6)
EUR appreciated by 3% BT A 1E3% (14) (12)

The changes in exchange rates do not affect the Group’s
other component of equity. The same percentage
depreciation in the foreign currencies against the functional
currency of the respective group entities would have the
same magnitude on profit and retained profits but of
opposite effect.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(c)

(d)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis has been determined assuming
that the change in foreign exchange rates had occurred
at the end of the reporting periods and had been applied
to each of the group entities, which had exposure to
currency risk for financial instruments in existence at that
date, and that all other variables, in particular interest
rates, remain constant. The stated changes represented the
management’s assessment of reasonably possible changes
in foreign exchange rates over the period until the next
annual reporting date.

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk
because exposure at the end of the reporting period does
not reflect the exposure during the respective year.

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be
able to meet its obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another
financial asset. The Group is exposed to liquidity risk in
respect of settlement of trade and other payables, bank
borrowings, lease liabilities and its financing obligations,
and also in respect of its cash flow management.
The Group’s policy is to regularly monitor its liquidity
requirements to ensure that it maintains sufficient reserves
of cash and adequate committed lines of funding from
major financial institutions to meet its liquidity requirements
in the short and longer term. The liquidity policy has been
followed by the Group since prior years and is considered
to have been effective in managing liquidity risks.

The following tables summarise the remaining contractual
maturities of the Group’s financial liabilities including
bank loans with repayment on demand clause, based on
undiscounted cash flows (including interest payments
computed using contractual rates or if floating, based on
rates ruling at the end of the reporting period) and the
earliest date the Group can be required to pay.

GERBHRRME (F)

5. i AMERE @®m

(c)

(d)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (CONTINUED)
me R RME (R)

35. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT (continued)

(d) Liquidity risk (Continued)

Specifically, for bank loans which contain repayment on
demand clause which can be exercised at bank’s sole
discretion, the analysis shows the cash outflow based on
the earliest period in which the Group can be required to
pay, that is if the lenders were to invoke their unconditional
rights to call the loans with immediate effect.

35. WK Ak EE @)
d) "B EE b (&

BEmME  MBROTAZEBBITE
E’J?ﬁz%i%‘ﬁﬂ%?ﬂﬁ’]fﬁﬁ%mﬁﬁ
DB TRAE B REAERN
Eﬁiﬁﬁﬁaﬁmfﬁﬁmﬂj gﬁﬁugaﬂ

TEEERGENZRAKEEER

A °

0ol Z

5&

Total More than More than
contractual Within one 1year 2 years but
Carrying undiscounted year or on but less less than
amount cash flow demand  than 2 years 5 years
#BIREH

REB —FR BE-F BAME
REE ReRE FRER ELRWE  ELREE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TET TR TET TR

As at 31 March 2024 R-E-ME=R=+-H
Trade and other payables 2 5l £ b e 508 135,871 135,871 135,871 = -
Bank borrowings BRITER 9,276 9,276 9,276 - -
Lease liabilities HEAR 9,482 9,918 5,601 3,590 727
154,629 155,065 150,748 3,590 727

As at 31 March 2023 R-ZE-=%=F=1-H
Trade and other payables &5 & H ft fE N 5B 122,239 122,239 118,204 998 3,037
Bank borrowing BITER 45,867 45,928 45,928 = =
Lease liabilities HEAR 8,899 9,194 5,678 2,532 984
177,005 177,361 169,810 3,530 4,021
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the
Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the audited
financial statements in this annual report and prior year financial
statements, is as follows:

FINANCIAL SUMMARY
BB

AEBEROAEAMBFENRENEENA
EMERNA NFERAEEZY B RE LB
EFEMBHRSE  HHMT -

RESULTS E
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-NE —E-=F —T-CF —E-—F —E-EF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER FiEL FHT TET TET
Revenue & 666,037 568,490 494,170 458,493 733,345
Cost of revenue W g P A (550,806) (467,723) (433,457) (357,840) (623,640)
Gross profit EF 115,231 100,767 60,713 100,653 109,705
Other income Hi A 7,187 3,701 1,277 6,805 1,731
Fair value (loss)/gain on investment & & ¥ % 7 A E
properties (B18)/ Wz (294) (138) (246) 260 (778)
Loss on disposal of investment  HEREEEE
properties - - (388) - -
(Provision)/reversal of loss BHREWHIE BEREE
allowance on (5112) /#E
trade receivables (8,794) (577) (539) 224 -
(Provision)/reversal of loss B REE 2 EREEE
allowance on (3H1R)/#®|
retention receivables (2,352) (791) (493) 6 -
Reversal/(provision) of loss BREEZERRER
allowance on contract assets  #¢[8 /(3H42) 896 (920) (169) (867) -
Gain on disposal of property, HEWE  HE kR
plant and equipment Z Wz - - - - 4,287
Marketing and distribution mEEERD HAX
eXpenses (2,515) (1,996) (2,435) (3,537) (3,311)
Administrative and other THBREMEEHRY
operating expenses (50,132) (52,626) (41,936) (43,415) (46,638)
Finance costs RBEA (3.477) (2,119) (1,164) (934) (1,833)
Profit before income tax BRATEHANER 55,750 45,301 14,620 59,195 63,163
Income tax expense GRS (9,372) (8,154) (3,115) (9,024) (9,410)
Profit for the year FRER 46,378 37,147 11,505 50,171 53,753
Other comprehensive ERHMb2EKE
income for the year
Exchange differences arising B EBINERELH
from translation EXZER
of foreign operations (1,108) (1,176) 635 1,180 (808)
Other comprehensive FErHEM2EKER
income for the year (1,108) (1,176) 635 1,180 (808)
Total comprehensive FR2HREARE
income for the year 45,270 35,971 12,140 51,351 52,945

BEr#ERERLZ2A
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY (CONTINUED)
HHRE ()

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES BEERBE
2024 2023 2022 2021 2020
—E-NE —E-=F -2 —E- - ZECEF
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER FTEL FTAEL THET FTEL
Total assets BEE 526,633 497,976 402,126 431,393 433,938
Total liabilities BaE (234,279) (234,184) (154,761) (163,168) (202,064)
Net assets BEEE 292,354 263,792 247,365 268,225 231,874
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